### ISSN 2187-9737 CODEN: JIZUA2 70 (1) 2-96 (2024)

## 雑 順 事 天

## February 2024

## Reviews

51th Health Topics for Tokyoites	
"To survive the 100-year life -What we can do now for	r healthy longevity-" [1]
Home Based Exercise Rehabilitation Programs to Prev	ent Physical Frailty and
Hospitalization-Associated Disability	Tetsuya Takahashi, et al.
Nutrition, Exercise, and Cognitive Rehabilitation for De	mentia Prevention Tomokazu Takakura
Perspectives	
Endothelial Glycocalyx Protection in Sepsis	Jerrold H. Levy, Toshiaki Iba
Organ Dysfunction in Sepsis-associated Intravascular C	Coagulation Marcel Levi, Toshiaki Iba
Original Articles	
Effectiveness of Nutritional Guidance Focusing on Leuc	ine Intake
During Cardiac Rehabilitation Maintenance	Saki Kawakubo, <i>et al.</i>
The Impact of Exercise and Health Management on W	orkplace Creativity
	Yasuyuki Hochi, Motoki Mizuno
Health and Productivity Management in Hospital Orga	nizations and
Work Engagement of Nurses	Yumi Arai, <i>et al</i> .

### **Publication List**

Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2021 [5/6]

### Instructions to Authors



## 順天堂醫事雑誌

### The History of Juntendo Medical Journal

This Juntendo Medical Journal has been published under the Japanese name Juntendo Igaku (順天堂医学) from 1964 to 2012. However, the origin of Juntendo Medical Journal dates back to the oldest medical journal in Japan, Juntendo Iji Zasshi (順天堂醫事雑誌), which had been published between 1875 and 1877 (total of 8 issues). Between 1885 and 1886, Juntendo issued a limited release of a research journal titled Houkoku [Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai] (報告) for a total of 39 issues.

In 1887, Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Houkoku (順天堂醫事研究會報告) was published with the government's approval and we used to regard this as the first issue of Juntendo Medical Journal. Since then, Juntendo Medical Journal has undergone a series of name changes: Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Zasshi (順天堂醫事研究会雑誌), Juntendo Igaku Zasshi (順天堂医学雑誌), and Juntendo Igaku (順天堂医学).

Now in commemoration of the 175<sup>th</sup> anniversary of Juntendo University, starting with the first volume issued in 2013 (Volume 59 Number 1), we return to *Juntendo Medical Journal*'s original Japanese title in 1875-*Juntendo Iji Zasshi* (順天堂醫事雑誌). We also reconsidered the numbering of the journal and set the first issue in 1875 as the initial publication of *Juntendo Medical Journal*. The Volume-Number counting system and the English name *Juntendo Medical Journal* started in 1955 from the January 10 issue. Although this is not our intension, we will retain the Volume-Number counting system to avoid confusion. However, Volume 59 Number 1 will be the 882<sup>nd</sup> issue, reflecting the sum of all issues to date: 8 issues of *Juntendo Iji Zasshi* (順天堂醫事雑誌), 39 issues of *Houkoku [Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai*](報告) (47 issues combined), and 834 issues from *Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Houkoku* (順天堂 醫事研究會報告) in 1887 to the present.

出典:小川秀興(OGAWA Hideoki, M.D., Ph.D.):順天堂醫事雑誌(Juntendo Medical Journal) 2013;59:6-10.

本誌は昭和39年(1964年)から平成24年(2012年)末まで『順天堂医学』として刊行されてきた.しかし,その 起源は明治8年(1875年)から10年(1877年)にかけて発刊された日本最古の医学誌『順天堂醫事雑誌』(計8巻)に ある.さらに明治18年(1885年)から19年(1886年)まで,会員限定配本として順天堂醫事研究會の雑誌『報告』 (計39集)が発行されている.

その後『順天堂醫事研究會報告』が明治20年(1887年)に官許を受けて公刊されたので,順天堂ではこれを通刊 1号としてきた.以来,『順天堂醫事研究会雑誌』,『順天堂医学雑誌』,『順天堂医学』と名称を変更して刊行されてきた.

今般,順天堂が創立175周年を迎える平成25年(2013年)の59巻1号を期して、本来の名称である『順天堂醫事雑誌』と復刻し、その起源である明治8年(1875年)第1巻をもって創刊号(通刊第1号)とすることとした。従来の巻号と欧文誌名は、昭和30年(1955年)1月10日発行のものを1巻1号としており、欧文誌名もこれより付け始めたもので不本意であるが、混乱を避けるためにこれらを継承する。ただし、通刊数は明治8年(1875年)から19年(1886年)にかけて刊行された『順天堂醫事雑誌』8巻分と順天堂醫事研究會の雑誌『報告』39集、計47巻分を通巻834号に加え、59巻1号を通刊882号とした。

出典:小川鼎三, 酒井シヅ:順天堂医学 1980;26:414-418. 小川秀興:順天堂醫事雑誌 2013;59:6-10.

### JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL

Vol. 70 No. 1 (948th issue) Published on February 29, 2024 First published in 1875

Published by The Juntendo Medical Society

2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan TEL: 03-5802-1586 E-mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp

Printed by Koryosha Co. Ltd. 4F, 2-31-25 Yushima, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0034, Japan TEL: 03-3868-3352 E-mail: jmj@koryo-co.com Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office

(International Medical Information Center) TEL: 03-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

© The Juntendo Medical Society 2024 Tokyo, Japan

### Call for feature article proposals

To introduce the latest medical findings, Juntendo Medical Journal features a specific focus area for each issue. We would like to request all our readers to address any suggestions or proposals for suitable focus areas to our editorial office.

# JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL

Vol. 70 No. 1 (948th issue) February 2024



## Contents

Reviews
51th Health Topics for Tokyoites
"To survive the 100-year life -What we can do now for healthy longevity-" [1]
Home Based Exercise Rehabilitation Programs to Prevent Physical Frailty and Hospitalization-Associated Disability······ 2
Nutrition, Exercise, and Cognitive Rehabilitation for Dementia Prevention Tomokazu Takakura
Perspectives
Endothelial Glycocalyx Protection in Sepsis ······23
Organ Dysfunction in Sepsis-associated Intravascular Coagulation Marcel Levi, Toshiaki Iba26
Original Articles
Effectiveness of Nutritional Guidance Focusing on Leucine Intake
During Cardiac Rehabilitation Maintenance·····29
The Impact of Exercise and Health Management on Workplace Creativity
·········· Yasuyuki Hochi, Motoki Mizuno ·······44
Health and Productivity Management in Hospital Organizations and
Work Engagement of Nurses
Publication List
Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2021 [5/6]65
Instructions to Authors

### The Juntendo Medical Society

*From the illustrator*: One student in my art class brought me two corns as the motif for paintings. The corns were very distinctive in shape and color. So, I thought it would be interesting to draw them separately with Indian ink and colored pencil. I decided to try drawing them, and the painting turned out to be unexpectedly unique.

Reviews

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70 (1), 2–8



## Home Based Exercise Rehabilitation Programs to Prevent Physical Frailty and Hospitalization-Associated Disability

TETSUYA TAKAHASHI<sup>1, 2)</sup>, Tomoyuki MORISAWA<sup>1, 2)</sup>, Masakazu SAITOH<sup>1, 2)</sup>, Kotaro IWATSU<sup>1)</sup>, Toshiyuki FUJIWARA<sup>1-3)</sup>, Hiroyuki DAIDA<sup>4)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Health Science. Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan
 <sup>2)</sup>Department of Physical Therapy, Juntendo University Graduate School of Health Science, Tokyo, Japan
 <sup>3)</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
 <sup>4)</sup>Juntendo University Graduate School of Health Science, Tokyo, Japan

Daily health management and exercise are important for staying healthy and avoiding the need for long-term care. However, it is not easy to maintain regular exercise. Therefore, exercise needs to be done efficiently. In recent years, due to the aging population and increasing severity of illness, older patients often experience a significant decline in physical function, even with minimal rest, which often interferes with their daily life after discharge from the hospital. Frailty not only affects ADLs, but also strongly influences prognosis, including the development of atherosclerotic disease and rehospitalization. This perspective is a summary of the 51st Metropolitan Public Lecture held on June 17, 2023, and discusses exercise-based rehabilitation programs that can be delivered at home to prevent physical frailty and avoid hospitalization-related disability.

Key words: home exercise, prevention, physical frailty, hospitalization-associated disability

#### Introduction

Without going back to Marcus Tullius Cicero's (BC106~BC43) "Essay on Old Age", it is obvious that moderate exercise is essential for the prevention of age-related muscle wasting and weakness. In 1990, when the author had just become a physical therapist, the New England Journal of Medicine published a paper entitled "Exercise training and nutritional supplementation for physical frailty in very elderly people<sup>1)</sup>", which was deeply etched in my inexperienced mind. The content of the study was that resistance training (80% of maximum repetitions per session) targeting muscles important for activities of daily living (ADL) was performed

three times a week for 10 weeks on older residents of a nursing home with an average age of 87.1 years, resulting in an increase in muscle strength of  $113 \pm 8\%$  and an increase in walking speed of  $11.8 \pm 3.8\%$ . I remember being surprised to learn that muscle mass could be increased by resistance training even in the older population. In addition, it has been reported that resistance training causes a shift from type IIb fibers to type IIa fibers in the older population, along with an increase in muscle strength and muscle mass<sup>2)</sup>, and the fact that the muscle adaptation of the older populations by resistance training is similar to that of younger people has even become a cornerstone of the author's thinking when conducting physical therapy.

Corresponding author: Tetsuya Takahashi

Department of Physical Therapy, Juntendo University Graduate School of Health Science

3-2-12 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan

TEL: +81-3-5802-0425 E-mail: te-takahashi@juntendo.ac.jp

Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Health Science. Juntendo University

<sup>51</sup>th Health Topics for Tokyoites "To survive the 100-year life -What we can do now for healthy longevity-" [Held on Jun. 17, 2023]

<sup>[</sup>Received Oct. 2, 2023] [Accepted Oct. 24, 2023]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Dec. 22, 2023

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0034-P

Since Rosenberg<sup>3)</sup> defined sarcopenia in 1989, frailty and sarcopenia associated with loss (wasting) and reduction of skeletal muscle have been of great interest in rehabilitation medicine, coupled with an aging patient population. In addition to sarcopenia, "dynapenia", derived from the Greek words dyna (strength) and penia (decrease), has recently gained attention<sup>4)</sup>. Sarcopenia is diagnosed by age-related muscle loss, muscle weakness, and decreased walking speed, but muscle strength is not originally a function dependent solely on muscle mass (muscle wasting). In addition to muscle cross-sectional area (muscle mass), muscle strength is affected by an increase in the type and total number of motor units mobilized (recruitment), an increase in the frequency of alpha motor nerve firing (rate coding), and the involvement of the nervous system in the regulation of motor unit activity phases (synchronization). Dynapenia is described as "the age-related loss of muscle strength and power", but since muscle strength and muscle power (strength x speed) are different to begin with, further research is expected in the future.

Originally, in the field of rehabilitation medicine, in addition to comprehensive assessment of physical function, it is necessary to explore possible life-related problems through comprehensive geriatric assessment by a multidisciplinary team for life functions and activities, and develop a personalized rehabilitation program that integrates the environment.

### Preventing frailty at home

Frailty is a comprehensive health concept that includes not only the decline in physical and mental function associated with aging, but also cognitive decline, depression, loneliness, and poor nutrition. Among them, physical frailty is the most common and has a significant impact on healthy life expectancy<sup>5)</sup>.

To understand "physical frailty", Fried's diagram of the frailty cycle is very helpful<sup>5)</sup>. First, "loss of independence" means "need for long-term care". To avoid the state of needing long-term care, we must prevent the upstream disability. Disability is related to abilities such as "walking speed (ability to walk fast)", "muscle strength and power", and "VO2max (endurance)". To maintain this "ability to walk fast," "muscle strength," and "endurance," training that focuses on ankle and hip flexibility (stretching), especially leg strength (muscle training), and endurance (aerobic exercise) is necessary.

In addition, changes in physical condition due to aging, various diseases, and loss of appetite can cause loss of muscle mass, or "weight loss". One of the causes of this loss of muscle mass is "decreased physical activity". Furthermore, "decreased physical activity" is affected by "decreased walking speed" and as mentioned above, "decreased walking speed" is affected by muscle strength and endurance. So these are interrelated in a cycle, and the vicious cycle needs to be broken somewhere. To achieve this, 1) muscle training and 2) aerobic exercise are necessary.

### Muscle training to increase muscle strength

Muscle strength is essential for human daily physical activities. By increasing muscle strength, people can perform a single movement with less effort. So-called "muscle training" is important for increasing muscle strength. Professionally, it is sometimes referred to as "resistance training"<sup>6</sup>.

Resistance training uses resistance and load on the muscles through the use of weight machines, rubber tubing, or own body weight to increase muscle size, activate nerves that facilitate muscle strength, and improve overall muscle function.

To perform muscle training safely and effectively, it is important to follow the rules<sup>6)</sup>.

### 1) Muscle training precautions

The following precautions should also be taken<sup>6)</sup>.

- Perform preparatory exercises and avoid overexertion from the start.
- Exercise large muscles first.
- Do not fully extend elbows and knees.
- Exercise with proper form and be aware of the muscles.
- Hold the grip lightly as it may cause an excessive increase in blood pressure.
- Do not hold breath.
- Exhale when lifting the weight and inhale lowering the weight.
- Lift and lower the weight slowly for about 4 seconds.
- Rest between exercises.
- Stop exercising immediately if experience dizzi-

ness, irregular pulse, unusual shortness of breath, or angina-like discomfort.

### 2) Intensity and amount of muscle training

(Number of repetitions x sets x frequency)<sup>6)</sup>

To strengthen muscles, it is necessary to place a load on the muscles that is greater than the muscle strength used in everyday life. To set the specific load, find the weight that can be lifted only once (called 1 repetition maximum: 1RM) and calculate and set the load to 30–40% for the upper body and 50–60% for the lower body.

In practice, however, it is often difficult to measure the exact 1RM, so a method is used in which an approximate load is determined and the load is gradually increased while checking to see if 10 repetitions can be performed. This is called the titration method.

It is best to use a load that feels "a little hard" after 10 repetitions. On the other hand, if it doesn't feel "a little hard," it won't be very effective.

Repeat the same type of exercise for two or three sets. If you start to feel lighter, you can gradually increase the weight. It is said that 2–3 days a week is quite effective.

### 3) Specific methods

This section describes the most important lower body exercise (squatting) that can be done at home. Do it without jumping and without stopping to breathe. As lowering the hips, it is best to consciously exhale (Figure 1).

### Aerobic exercise to improve endurance<sup>7)</sup>

Endurance is "the ability to move the body for an extended period of time. An energy source is needed to move muscles. Oxygen and nutrients are needed to produce this energy in the body. The more oxygen the body can take in, the more energy it can sustainably produce for muscle contraction. In other words, it is important for the body to be able to take in a lot of oxygen in order to move for a long period of time. Therefore, to use a more technical term, "endurance" can be defined as "the ability of the body to take in oxygen through exercise".

Aerobic exercise is exercise that can be performed continuously for long periods of time, such as walking or cycling. Because individual has a different level



Figure 1 How to perform appropriate squatting exercise

of fitness, it is important to determine the frequency, intensity, duration, and type of exercise according to the individual's fitness level. People with a pre-existing heart condition or those who have been hospitalized for a medical condition should consult their physician before exercising.

When walking as an aerobic exercise to improve endurance, take a slightly larger stride and walk to maintain an effective walking posture and walking speed (Figure 2).

Frequency (F), intensity (I), duration (T) and type of exercise (T) are referred to by the acronym "FITT".

### Four key points of aerobic exercise<sup>7)</sup>

- Frequency: 3 to 5 times a week. If possible, do it every day.
- Intensity: The intensity should be easy to moderately strenuous, and should be able to exercise while talking.
- Time: 20 to 30 minutes. If it is difficult to exercise continuously, it is said that the effect is the same if the exercise is divided into several sessions so that the amount of exercise per day is 20 to 30 minutes.
- Type: Walking, cycling, aerobic exercise, etc. are suitable.

### Muscle training for older patients with frailty

In Japan, there has been a trend toward shortening the length of stay in acute care hospitals. In recent years, due to the aging of the target patient population and the increasing severity of illness, frail and older patients often experience a marked decline in physical function even with short time bed rest, which often interferes with their daily lives after discharge from the hospital. Frailty and physical functional decline not only affects ADLs, but also strongly influences prognosis, including the development of atherosclerotic disease and rehospitalization.

More recently, due to the aging of patients, there is a significant number of patients whose exercise function cannot be fully restored within a short hospital stay and who are unable to return to their pre-hospital exercise function<sup>8</sup>. These patients have become known as "Hospitalization–Associated Disability" or "Hospitalization–Acquired Disability" (HAD)<sup>9</sup>. To ensure a more efficient recovery with a shorter hospital stay, optimal exercise programs need to be further investigated.

The usual rehabilitation program is a step-bystep program that gradually increases gravity loads and movement, such as lifting, sitting, standing, and walking, after absolute rest is lifted, but in older patients with frailty, in addition to increasing walking distance, a rehabilitation program to improve ADL functions, such as the ability to stand up safely and stand stably with good balance. Knee extension exercises are often performed with the patient in a bed-sitting position to strengthen lower extremity muscles. However, it is easier to achieve the specificity of the desired training effect by repeating ADL activities such as standing and sitting than by simply repeating knee extension.

The Japanese Geriatrics Society defined frailty in



### How to keep walking speed

Figure 2 How to keep walking speed

SPPB	BASE	Balance (10-s balance tests)	Ambulation (a timed 4-m walk)	Sit-ups (a timed 5 times-repeated chair sit-to-stand test)	Endurance (maximum walking distance)	
4	5	One leg 10s	Less than 4s	< 9.2 s	340 m (6 min)	
	4	Full-tandem 10s	Less than 4.82s	< 11.19 s	180 m	
3	3	Full-tandem 3 ~ 9.99s	$4.82 \le 6.20 \mathrm{s}$	$11.2 \le 13.69 \text{ s}$	80-179 m	
2	2	Semi-tandem 10s	$6.21 \le 8.70$ s	$13.7 \le 16.69 \text{ s}$	40 m	
1	1	Side-by-side, 10s	More than 8.70s	> 16.70 s	15 m	
0	0.8	Side-by-side, 3 ~ 9.99s	4m with light assistance	> 60 s or stand up 2-5 times	4 m	
	0.6	Broad base 10s (without support)	4m with moderate assistance	Stand up once without support	Wheelchair 30 min	
	0.4	Able to stand with support	4m with heavy assistance	Stand up with arm support	Wheelchair 10 min	
	0.2	Able to stand with assistance	2.3 steps with heavy assistance	Stand up with assistance	Able to sit on the edge of bed	
	0	Unable to stand	Unable to walk	Unable to stand up	Bed rest	

Table 1 Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) and Juntendo original scale

SPPB 0-6: low function, 7-9: moderate function, 10-12: high function.

2014 as follows<sup>10</sup>: Frailty is a state of increased vulnerability to stress due to a decline in physiological reserve capacity in old age, which may lead to lifestyle dysfunction, need for care, and death. The concept includes not only physical problems such as loss of mobility due to muscle weakness and increased susceptibility to falls, but also mental and psychological problems such as cognitive dysfunction and depression, and social problems such as living alone and economic deprivation.

Focusing on physical frailty, the following three points are important for an exercise program for older patients with frailty.

- Overcoming muscle weakness
- Preventing loss of mobility
- · Preventing falls

Currently, the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB)<sup>11)</sup> is widely used worldwide in the assessment of physical frailty, and each domain of the SPPB has three components: standing balance, walking speed, and leg strength (power). These three components of the SPPB are precisely what characterize the assessment of physical frailty. Therefore, at Juntendo University Hospital, these three SPPB components plus the walking distance (endurance) component are evaluated regularly on a daily basis to standardize the training menu (Table 1)<sup>12</sup>. For example, if the patient can perform

semi-tandem standing for 10 seconds in the balance test, but tandem standing is difficult, the 4-meter walking time is slow at 9.2 seconds, and the patient cannot stand without upper limb support (can stand using a handrail) in the standing test. The patient can walk 30 meters down a corridor in the ward. In such a case, the performance level of muscle strength, balance, movement and endurance is as shown in Table 1, and it will be easy to see where the patient's physical function is most impaired.

By visually presenting the results of such an assessment, patients themselves can easily understand the decline in their abilities, leading to adherence to exercise therapy. With the current trend to reduce the length of stay in acute care hospitals, this system will be used as a standard HAD prevention training program to be implemented immediately after hospitalization with a view to discharge. Then, at the time of discharge, physical therapists provide discharge guidance with awareness of these four components to prevent progression of frailty (Figure 3).

The five-chair rise test is important for overcoming the dynapenia described at the beginning of this article and is one of the exercises that should be consciously performed in addition to regular muscle training, especially in patients with frailty.



Figure 3 Home exercise program for frailty prevention

### Tele-cardiac rehabilitation

Currently, access to medical facilities for the older people is a problem due to geographical and time constraints, economic issues, lack of caregivers and carers, and uneven distribution of medical resources. In addition, many people are reluctant to go out due to recent new coronavirus infections, and the problem of difficulties in visiting hospitals is a major issue for all generations<sup>13)</sup>. These difficulties are not limited to general outpatient visits, but also extend to rehabilitation for the recovery of functional disabilities caused by various diseases, traumas, and pathological conditions<sup>14)</sup>.

In Japan, "tele-cardiac rehabilitation" conjures up images of so-called "real-time online exercise" using the Internet, but in reality, "tele-cardiac rehabilitation" devices and systems are used in a variety of ways, and there is no clear definition. In general, "telemedicine" is based on an infrastructure using computer and communication technology, but by distinguishing between "asynchronous (store-andforward, asynchronous)" and "synchronous (realtime, synchronous)" telerehabilitation<sup>15)</sup>.

In Japan, the synchronous model is interpreted as a model that provides comprehensive exercise program, patient education, and psychological support similar to those provided in outpatient program, while monitoring real-time biometric data such as electrocardiogram and blood pressure, in addition to video communication over the Internet<sup>16,17)</sup>. Tele-cardiac rehabilitation does not require an exercise bike for exercise. Many older patients require more basic exercise than cycling on an exercise bike. Especially in the immediate post-discharge period after cardiac surgery, patients are often forced to rest longer than necessary or leave the hospital without a better understanding of their disease or current condition during their short hospital stay. For such patients, we use home-hospital videoconferencing to monitor their physical condition, subjective symptoms, daily blood pressure, steps, weight change, facial expression, lower extremity edema, and median incision site while monitoring their ECG, blood pressure, and oxygen saturation in real time. In addition to thorough pre-orientation, limiting the tablet's functions, minimizing the use of apps, and keeping the procedure simple, even elderly patients are able to complete the procedure without major operational problems.

### Conclusion

This perspective paper has described the importance of preventing physical frailty and specific approaches, particularly exercise-based rehabilitation programs, that can be implemented to minimize hospitalization-related disability in frail older patients, as well as the current state of telerehabilitation.

### Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

### Funding

This work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number JP20H04055.

### Author contributions

TT gave a lecture at the 51st Metropolitan Public Lecture, which was summarized in the manuscript. MT, SM, and IK collected relevant information and provided relevant content advice on the manuscript; FT and DH provided clinical and research advice on the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no competing interests related to this manuscript.

### References

- Fiatarone MA, O'Neill EF, Ryan ND, *et al*: Exercise training and nutritional supplementation for physical frailty in very elderly people. N Engl J Med, 1994; 330: 1769–1775.
- 2) Hikida RS, Staron RS, Hagerman FC, et al: Effects of

high-intensity resistance training on untrained older men. II. Muscle fiber characteristics and nucleo-cytoplasmic relationships. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2000; 55: B347-354.

- Rosenberg IH: Summary comments. Am J Clin Nutr, 1989; 50: 1231-1233.
- Clark BC, Manini TM: Sarcopenia ≠ dynapenia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2008; 63: 829–834.
- 5) Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, *et al*: Cardiovascular Health Study Collaborative Research Group. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2001; 56: M146–156.
- 6) Williams MA, Haskell WL, Ades PA, *et al*: Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation, 2007; 116: 572–584.
- Fletcher GF, Ades PA, Kligfield P, *et al*: Exercise standards for testing and training: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation, 2013; 128: 873–934.
- 8) Morisawa T, Saitoh M, Otsuka S, *et al*: Perioperative changes in physical performance affect short-term outcome in elderly cardiac surgery patients. Geriatr Gerontol Int, 2021; 21: 676–682.
- Covinsky KE, Pierluissi E, Johnston CB: Hospitalization-associated disability: "She was probably able to ambulate, but I'm not sure". JAMA, 2011; 306: 1782– 1793.
- Arai H: Implication of frailty in elderly care. Nihon Rounen Igakkai Zasshi, 2014; 51: 497–501. (in Japanese)
- 11) Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, *et al*: A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol, 1994; 49: M85–94.
- 12) Takahashi T, Morisawa T, Saitoh M, *et al*: Forefront of Cardiac Rehabilitation in Japan. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2021; 67: 10–16.
- 13) Scherrenberg M, Wilhelm M, Hansen D, *et al*: The future is now: a call for action for cardiac telerehabilitation in the COVID-19 pandemic from the secondary prevention and rehabilitation section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol, 2021; 28: 524-540.
- 14) Kamiya K, Yamamoto T, Tsuchihashi-Makaya M, et al: Nationwide Survey of Multidisciplinary Care and Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients With Heart Failure in Japan – An Analysis of the AMED-CHF Study. Circ J, 2019; 83: 1546–1552.
- 15) Golbus JR, Lopez-Jimenez F, Barac A, et al: Digital Technologies in Cardiac Rehabilitation: A Science Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 2023; 148: 95-107.
- 16) Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Fujiwara K, et al: Safety and Feasibility of Tele-Cardiac Rehabilitation Using Remote Biological Signal Monitoring System: A Pilot Study. Cardiol Res, 2023; 14: 261-267.
- 17) Saitoh M, Takahashi T, Morisawa T, *et al*: Remote Cardiac Rehabilitation in Older Cardiac Disease: A Randomized Case Series Feasibility Study. Cardiol Res, 2022; 13: 57–64.

Reviews

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70(1), 9–22



### Nutrition, Exercise, and Cognitive Rehabilitation for Dementia Prevention

TOMOKAZU TAKAKURA<sup>1, 2)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan <sup>2)</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Juntendo Tokyo Koto Geriatric Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan

Dementia is one of the most significant global challenges in medical and social care in the 21st century. It affects not only the patients themselves, but also their families, caregivers, and society in general, causing physical, psychological, and socioeconomic effects. As of 2020, there are approximately 6 million people in Japan aged 65 or older with dementia, and this number is expected to increase to around 7 million by 2025, meaning that one out of every five elderly people will have dementia. To prevent the onset and progression of dementia, it is crucial to have a proper understanding of its risks and adopt a healthy lifestyle. Leading an active life from an early stage can also aid in delaying or preventing the onset of dementia. Livingston has identified 12 risks that can lead to dementia, including physical inactivity, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, air pollution, head injury, social isolation, poor educational history, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, depression, and hearing loss. Modifying one's lifestyle and leading an active life can be crucial in reducing these risks. The Mediterranean diet is gaining attention as a good practice for dementia prevention due to its diversity, richness in omega-3 fatty acids and vitamins. Exercise has been shown to prevent dementia on biological, behavioral, and socio-psychological levels. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation is a non-invasive brain stimulation method that can alter brain plasticity and is being studied for clinical applications as a non-drug therapy for preventing dementia progression.

Key words: dementia, nutrition, physical exercise, cognitive rehabilitation, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation

#### Introduction

A super-aging society is one in which the elderly population aged 65 and over accounts for 21% or more of the total population. In Japan, due to the rapid aging of the population, the country has already entered a super-aging society in 2007. According to recent data from the Statistics Bureau of the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications, Japan's elderly population aged 65 and over is projected to reach 36.27 million by October 2022. This translates to 29.1% of the total population, representing a 0.3 percentage point increase from the previous year's figure of 28.8%. These figures mark the highest ever recorded for this demographic group. Furthermore, according to the same report, as of October 2022, there will be 19.37 million people aged 75 or older in the late stages of life, accounting for 15.5% of the total population. In comparison with other countries, Japan (29.1%) has the highest percentage of elderly in the total population, followed by Italy (24.1%), Finland (23.3%) Puerto Rico (22.9%), and Portugal (22.9%)<sup>1)</sup>. By 2025, the number of the elderly aged 75 and over is expected to reach 21.8 million, and the number of the elderly aged 65–74 is expected to reach 14.97 million, totaling about 37 million people aged 65 and over. On the other hand, Japan's total

2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Tomokazu Takakura (ORCID: 0000-0002-0886-4087)

Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 FAX: +81-3-5684-1861 E-mail: t-takakura@juntendo.ac.jp

<sup>51</sup>th Health Topics for Tokyoites "To survive the 100-year life -What we can do now for healthy longevity-" [Held on Jun. 17, 2023]

<sup>[</sup>Received Oct. 4, 2023] [Accepted Dec. 25, 2023]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Feb. 16, 2024

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0032-R

population peaked in 2008 and has been declining since then. Therefore, as a result of the relative increase in the elderly and relative decrease in the number of young people due to demographic changes, about one in three of the nation's population will be 65 years of age or older, and about one in five will be 75 years of age or older. The baby boomer generation born between 1947 and 1949 will enter late-elderly status in 2025, marking a significant milestone<sup>2)</sup>. This will have a major impact on society as a whole in terms of social security, medical care, long-term care, and pensions to support the growing number of late-elderly citizens, and it has been likened to the "2025 problem," and the problem is expected to become even more apparent. To maintain the social security system in the future, it is becoming increasingly important to extend the healthy life expectancy of every citizen.

Dementia is generally defined as a decline in cognitive function beyond what is normally expected with aging. Cognitive decline and psychiatric symptoms of dementia are commonly divided into higher brain dysfunctions such as memory impairment, aphasia, and apraxia, which are considered core symptoms, and behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) such as delirium, hallucinations, and decreased vitality. Dementia is one of the greatest global challenges in health and social care in the 21st century<sup>3)</sup>. It is estimated that there are currently more than 55 million patients worldwide, with an additional 10 million new cases each year<sup>4)</sup>. According to the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare's survey on long-term care insurance certification in Japan, dementia is the leading factor in the need for long-term care<sup>5)</sup>. Dementia has physical, psychological, and socioeconomic effects not only on the patients themselves, but also on their families, caregivers, and society. Taking active steps towards dementia prevention is crucial to maintain not only the health of the patient but also of their family and social circle. This approach can also help in reducing the demand for medical care in society as a whole. As of 2020, there will be approximately 6 million people in Japan aged 65 or older with dementia, and this number is expected to increase to approximately 7 million by 2025, meaning that one out of every five elderly people will have dementia<sup>6)</sup>. With such a rapidly aging population, there is no doubt that the prevention of the onset and progression of dementia is one of the most important and urgent issues in Japan. On a global scale, efforts to understand and prevent dementia are gradually being made, and the number of dementia patients is decreasing in developed countries. To prevent the onset and progression of dementia, it is crucial to have a proper understanding of its risks and adopt a healthy lifestyle. Leading an active life from an early stage can also aid in delaying or preventing the onset of dementia. This article outlines the risks of developing dementia and the non-pharmacologic therapies, such as diet, nutrition, exercise, and cognitive rehabilitation, that are necessary to prevent dementia.

### Causal diseases of dementia

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common causative disease of dementia in Japan at 67.4%, followed by cerebrovascular dementia (CVD) at 18.9%, dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) at 4.6%, mixed dementia at 4.2%, and frontotemporal dementia (FTLD) at 1.1%<sup>7.8</sup>. These dementias are fatal diseases and have a prognosis of 10 years or less, depending on the age of onset<sup>9, 10</sup>.

On the other hand, there is a type of dementia that can be treated, which is referred to as "treatable dementia"11). Treatable dementia can occur at a young age and often has a more acute course than AD and other degenerative diseases. It is important to note that there are several types of dementia that can be treated effectively. These include endocrine disorders such as hypothyroidism, essential vitamin deficiencies such as vitamin B1, vitamin B12, and folate deficiencies, neurosyphilis, fungal infections, central nervous system infections such as encephalitis and meningitis, chronic subdural hematoma, normal pressure hydrocephalus, and nonconvulsive status epilepticus. These treatable dementias can occur even in patients already diagnosed with AD, CVD, DLB, etc. However, if these diagnoses have already been made, any exacerbation of symptoms tends to be dismissed as a symptom progression of this disease, and then cognitive declines to be overlooked without an opportunity to be re-examined.

Physicians and healthcare professionals who treat patients with dementia must always take into account the impact of multiple factors. Rather than attributing fluctuations in mental symptoms to a single disease, they should approach diagnosis and treatment flexibly. This should be done considering both progressive dementia and treatable dementia, and adapting to changes in the patient's condition. Furthermore, the human "mind" and "body" are closely linked, and cognitive functions, mental states, and physical functions interact with each other. In particular, as represented by the term "brain-gut correlation", gastrointestinal tract functions, autonomic nervous system functions, and brain functions interact with each other. Therefore, it must be recognized that in patients with dementia, cognitive and mental status fluctuate due to various physical complications such as infections, pain from intra-abdominal organ diseases, falls, and fractures, and that dementia can easily become severe. It is important to avoid polypharmacy and cognitive decline when treating individual diseases. When different specialists focus on treating specific organs, they may overlook the effects of drug administration, resulting in a vicious cycle of treating physical diseases and cognitive decline. Many patients who develop dementia are elderly and are prone to unanticipated side effects from drugs. As dementia is a progressive systemic disease that starts with cognitive decline, it is important to conduct a thorough assessment of the entire body, including cognitive function, internal organs, and the musculoskeletal system, and to administer the minimal drug therapy required. Therefore, it is important to select treatment and care options from a bird'seye viewpoint based on a thorough understanding of the characteristics and limitations of both pharmacological and non-pharmacological therapies.

## Global trends in the increase and decrease of dementia patients

The world population is getting older, which is resulting in a rise in the number of people diagnosed with dementia. As per the estimates of 2019, the number of dementia patients is around 57.4 million<sup>12)</sup>. It is expected to increase to 152.8 million, almost triple the current number, by 2050<sup>4)</sup>. The number of dementia patients is expected to increase in line with population growth, particularly in sub-Saharan Eastern Africa, North Africa, and the Middle East. In East Asia, on the other hand, the aging of the population is expected to be a major factor in the increase in the number of dementia patients<sup>12)</sup>. However, it has been reported that in high-income countries in the United States and Europe, the prevalence of dementia has been declining in recent years<sup>13-15)</sup>, the incidence of dementia has also been reported to be declining in recent years<sup>16-18)</sup>. In a study conducted by Langa et al. from the University of Michigan, USA, the prevalence of dementia was compared between the years 2000 and 2012 in the US. The study revealed that there was a significant decrease in the prevalence of dementia during this period, and that this reduction was partly attributed to an increase in the number of years of education<sup>14)</sup>.

However, the number of dementia patients in Japan has been increasing in recent years, and the situation differs from that in other developed countries<sup>19)</sup>. The increase in the number of elderly people in Japan has outpaced that of other developed countries<sup>20)</sup> then the aging of the population in Japan is much higher than in other Western countries. From the well-known Hisayama Town study, a cohort study of lifestyle-related diseases, the prevalence of dementia patients is on the rise<sup>21)</sup>, and reports show that cerebrovascular dementia is decreasing, while tauopathies like AD and SD-NFT are increasing with society's aging<sup>22,23)</sup>.

### Current status of pharmacotherapy for dementia diseases

AD is the most common form of dementia, but as of August 2023, no drug can cure AD. In Japan, four drugs have been approved for the treatment of dementia: three cholinesterase inhibitors (ChEIs) and one NMDA receptor antagonist, but these are all symptomatic therapies<sup>24)</sup>. The choline hypothesis has been proposed to explain cognitive dysfunction in AD, which is thought to be caused by a decline in the function of the acetylcholine (ACh) system in the central nervous system<sup>25-27)</sup>. Three drugs currently approved for the treatment of AD, donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine, are cholinesterase inhibitors (ChEI) that were developed to inhibit the degradation of ACh<sup>28)</sup>. In AD, the NMDA receptor (N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor: NMDAR), one of the glutamate receptors, is activated excessively, which causes neurotoxicity and cognitive dysfunction<sup>29)</sup>. Memantine was developed for the treatment of AD based on the hypothesis of glutamate-induced neurotoxicity and is thought to antagonize NMDAR, inhibit excessive glutamate stimulation, improve synaptic transmission, and inhibit neuronal cell loss<sup>30)</sup>. ChEI affects both peripheral and central cholinesterase, causing side effects such as gastrointestinal and cardiovascular symptoms, frequent urination, muscle spasms, nightmares, and insomnia due to excess Ach<sup>24)</sup>. It is important to note that while ChEI may improve motivation and activity, it also increases irritability and can be challenging to differentiate from delirium. It is important to note that while ChEI may improve motivation and activity, it also increases irritability and can be challenging to differentiate from delirium. Memantine also causes side effects such as somnolence, dizziness, confusion, headache, constipation, and incontinence.

A survey conducted between 2015 and 2016 in Japan found that almost half of those prescribed antidementia drugs were 85 years or older. This is surprising because 17% of the elderly aged 85 years or older were prescribed some of these anti-dementia drugs<sup>31)</sup>. The target population for these anti-dementia drugs in the clinical trial phase was 85 years of age or younger, and the current situation in prescribing is becoming divergent from the subjects targeted in the clinical trials. The prescribing of anti-dementia drugs to super-aged patients must be approached with greater caution due to insufficient efficacy and safety, and potential adverse events. These drugs are only intended to alleviate the psychiatric symptoms of dementia, not to treat the disease itself. Because the effects of these dementia medications are difficult to understand and side effects are difficult to detect, behavioral and psychological changes due to side effects can easily be misinterpreted as worsening BPSD symptoms or dementia symptoms. In France, as of August 2018, the four dementia drugs mentioned above have been excluded from insurance coverage due to their potentially serious side effects, while their effects on patients' behavioral disturbances, quality of life, and mortality have not been established. The government is shifting its policy to focus on long-term care and comprehensive community care rather than these drugs whose usefulness is not yet certain.

Disease-modifying drugs have long been under development as therapeutics for the fundamental treatment of dementia, but many of them have failed in the clinical trial stage.

The U.S. FDA approved the use of lecanemab in July 2023. Lecanemab is an antibody drug that is based on the amyloid hypothesis. It is designed to remove amyloid- $\beta$  accumulation in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Lecanemab is the first drug that is expected to modify the disease course of Alzheimer's disease. It is expected that lecanemab will be approved in Japan shortly. However, before administration of lecanemab, a positron emission tomography (PET) scan or spinal fluid analysis must be performed to confirm the presence of amyloid- $\beta^{32}$ . This creates a hurdle for patients to choose whether they can afford an expensive PET scan or an invasive CSF test before they start receiving lecanemab. In addition, cerebral edema and microhemorrhages, known as amyloid-related imaging abnormalities (ARIA)<sup>33, 34)</sup>, have been reported as serious side effects of this drug. Regular MRI scans are required to monitor these side effects<sup>32)</sup>. In addition, testing for APOE4 gene carriage is necessary for some APOE4 gene carriers who are at an increased risk of developing ARIA<sup>33)</sup>. Individuals who are prescribed anticoagulants for the prevention of cardiac disease or stroke are at a greater risk of experiencing cerebral hemorrhage<sup>32)</sup>. The administration of lecanemab concurrently with anticoagulants may intensify the likelihood of adverse effects, posing a challenge when considering this medication for patients who have a history of stroke or ischemic heart disease. The price of lecanemab in the U.S. is set at \$26,500 per year<sup>35)</sup>, making it currently a very expensive treatment. Although the improvement of dementia symptoms by this treatment is expected to have an economic benefit by reducing the burden of caregiving and financial burden on those around the patient, there are concerns about the increased burden on medical resources, such as twice-monthly intravenous infusions and periodic MRI scans. It remains uncertain whether the benefits of diseasemodifying drugs outweigh the risks of side effects and the expenses associated with medical resources. Additionally, it may take some time before these drugs become readily accessible and commonly used as a treatment option worldwide. Although there are high expectations for the emergence of disease-modifying drugs, their indication is currently limited to MCI or mild AD, and they are expected

to be effective as secondary or tertiary prevention after such a diagnosis has been made. In the current situation where we have to deal with the increasing number of dementia patients on a global scale, efforts for primary and secondary prevention, particularly through non-pharmacologic interventions like lifestyle modifications, are critical.

### Stages of progression from normal to dementia

The process of progression from normal to dementia is classified into four stages. The first stage is called subjective cognitive decline (SCD)<sup>36, 37</sup>, in which the patient has only subjective symptoms of forgetfulness, followed by mild cognitive impairment (MCI)<sup>38, 39</sup>, in which the patient has objectively mild cognitive impairment but is still independent in daily living, and finally dementia when the symptoms progress further and daily living becomes difficult to be independent. It is estimated that 5–20% of MCI patients will develop dementia in a year<sup>39</sup>. MCI has also been reported to revert to normal cognitive function<sup>40, 41</sup>, early diagnosis and prevention of dementia in the MCI stage is extremely important.

### Dementia symptoms and stages of progression

Dementia is commonly associated with cognitive function and mental symptoms. However, it is a degenerative brain disease that progressively causes a variety of brain dysfunctions. It can lead to a decline in motor abilities such as walking, standing, and balance<sup>42, 43)</sup>. Additionally, it can also worsen swallowing and eating functions<sup>44-46)</sup>. Mental functions gradually deteriorate, leading to delirium and psychomotor agitation, eventual loss of facial expressions, communication difficulty, inaction, selfenclosure, immobility, and muteness. As the disease progresses, patients may experience complications such as malnutrition, aspiration pneumonia, pyelonephritis, sepsis, injuries from falls, and ultimately death.

In the case of AD, the main initial symptom is memory impairment, such as the inability to remember the names of people one knows well. After experiencing memory impairment, individuals may develop symptoms such as executive dysfunction, disorientation, apraxia, and unconsciousness which can hinder their ability to perform instrumental activities of daily living. In the middle and later stages, basic ADLs are impaired and the patient requires nursing care. During the course of the disease, individuals may develop symptoms such as anxiety, depression, insomnia, agitation, irritability, paranoia, wandering, hallucinations, and delusions that may require pharmacotherapy. The progression of AD is assessed by the Functional Assessment Staging of Alzheimer's Disease (FAST) developed by Reisberg in 1984 and is used worldwide to assess the progression of AD<sup>47,48)</sup>. FAST is composed of 7 stages, 5 sub-stages for Stage 6 and 6 stages for Stage 7, and a total of 16 stages. Reisberg emphasizes the need to watch for the worsening of disease due to treatable factors, including electrolyte abnormalities and stroke complications, when symptoms progress more rapidly than the typical course shown in FAST. (Table 1)

### Three phases in dementia prevention

There are three phases in dementia prevention<sup>49)</sup>. Primary prevention is to prevent the onset of dementia from a healthy and asymptomatic state. Secondary prevention is to delay the onset of dementia through early detection and treatment. Tertiary prevention is to delay the progression of symptoms after the onset of dementia. In the primary and secondary prevention stages, non-drug therapy and lifestyle modification are most important. In the tertiary prevention stage, pharmacotherapy may be necessary for BPSD symptoms such as hypoactivity, apathy, and psychomotor agitation; however, it should only be used as part of an overall treatment plan that also includes non-pharmacological interventions.

Even if a patient has already been diagnosed with a dementia disease such as AD or DLB, complications of "treatable dementia" such as hydrocephalus, chronic subdural hematoma, endocrine abnormalities, and essential vitamin deficiencies may exacerbate dementia symptoms. In addition, as patients age, they are more likely to suffer head trauma from easy falls due to the progression of frailty, and polypharmacy due to the increased use of medications to treat increased medical complications also contributes to the progression of frailty. For these various reasons, the overlap of various diseases and conditions can lead to further cognitive decline. Older people suffering from dementia are at increased risk of malnutrition due to various

Stage	Clinical diagnosis	Characteristics			
1	Normal adult	No difficulty either subjectively or objectively			
2	Normal aged adult	Complains of forgetting the location of objects—subjective word-finding difficulties			
3	Compatible with incipient AD	Decreased job functioning evident to co-workers. Difficulty in traveling to new locations. Decreased organizational capacity			
4	Mild AD Decreased ability to perform complex tasks (e.g., planning dinner for guests, handling. per finances, difficulty marketing, etc.)				
5	Moderate AD Requires assistance in choosing proper clothing to wear for the day, season, or occasion (e.g., a patient may wear the same clothing repeatedly unless supervised)				
6a	6a 6b Moderately severe AD 6c 6d 6e	Improperly putting on clothes without assistance or prompting (e.g., may put street clothes on overnight clothes, put shoes on wrong feet, or have difficulty buttoning clothing) occasionally or more frequently over the past weeks			
6b		Unable to bathe properly (e.g., difficulty adjusting bathwater temp.) occasionally or more frequently over the past weeks			
6c		Inability to handle mechanics of toileting (e.g., forgets to flush the toilet, does not wipe properly or properly dispose of toilet tissue) occasionally or more frequently over the past weeks			
6d		Urinary incontinence occasionally or more frequently over the past weeks			
6e		Fecal incontinence occasionally or more frequently over the past weeks			
7a	a b c Severe AD d e f	Ability to speak limited to approximately a half-dozen different intelligible words or fewer in an average day or the course of an intensive interview			
7b		Speech ability is limited to using a single intelligible word on an average day or in an intensive interview (the person may repeat the word over and over)			
7c		Ambulatory ability is lost (cannot walk without personal assistance)			
7d		Cannot sit up without assistance			
7e		Loss of ability to smile			
7f		Loss of ability to hold head up independently			

 Table 1
 The Functional Assessment Staging of Alzheimer's Disease (FAST)

Adapted from Reisberg B (1986) Geriatrics, 41: 30-46.

nutritional problems<sup>50)</sup>. In particular, after the onset of dementia, it is not uncommon for nutritional disorders to develop as a result of decreased food intake due to decreased food recognition and interest, impaired chewing and eating function, and other complications such as vitamin B1 deficiency (Wernicke-Korsakoff encephalopathy), vitamin B12 deficiency, folate deficiency, and hypoglycemic encephalopathy associated with decreased food intake. Complications associated with low dietary intake can worsen symptoms of dementia. Poor nutritional status increased BPSD, especially verbal aggressiveness/emotional disinhibition, in those with MCI and early-stage AD. Patients with MCI and early-stage AD need to be assessed for nutritional status from early on, at the onset of mild cognitive decline, and require intervention to prevent worsening of BPSD<sup>51)</sup>.

Therefore, even after the diagnosis of dementia is confirmed, it is important to continue periodic imaging with head CT, MRI, and periodic blood sampling for evaluation of thyroid hormone abnormalities and vitamin deficiency as tertiary prevention after the onset of dementia.

## Risk factors related to the development of dementia

Sixty percent of the risks for dementia are difficult to modify, while 40% are considered modifiable. The "12 modifiable risks" proposed by Livingston, University of London, include physical inactivity, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, air pollution, head trauma, social isolation, poor educational history, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, depression, and hearing loss (Figure 1). Maintaining an active and social lifestyle is crucial in preventing dementia. It is recommended to focus on dementia prevention from an early age, but it's never too late to take steps to prevent it. As the saying goes, "It is never too early or too late to be greedy in preventing



Figure 1 Twelve potentially modifiable risk factors presented as infographic by Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI), based on Livingston's report: Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission

https://www.alzint.org/about/risk-factors-risk-reduction/

dementia." The report highlights the importance of engaging in activities that prevent dementia, regardless of age<sup>52)</sup>.

### Diabetes increases risk of dementia

Several epidemiologic studies have shown that type 2 diabetes decreases cognitive function and increases the incidence of dementia; the Rotterdam Study reported that type 2 diabetes increases the risk of developing dementia and AD, especially during insulin therapy<sup>53)</sup>. The Hisayama study also reported that type 2 diabetes significantly increased both AD and VaD<sup>54)</sup>. The pathogenesis of cognitive dysfunction due to type 2 diabetes includes tau phosphorylation due to increased insulin resistance, neuronal and synaptic damage via amyloid- $\beta$  accumulation, and vascular damage. Other postulated mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction due to type 2 diabetes include neuropathy and vascular damage mediated by increased amyloid- $\beta$  accumulation, advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) accumulation due to hyperglycemia, inflammation, and increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production<sup>55)</sup>.

Postprandial hyperglycemia and diurnal fluctuations in blood glucose are risks for developing dementia. In diabetes mellitus, the hazard ratio for developing dementia was 1.40 times higher for postprandial blood glucose levels of 190 mg/dL compared to  $160 \text{ mg/dL}^{56}$ . Therefore, it is important to limit carbohydrate intake, consume foods with a low glycemic index (GI) (brown rice and other unrefined grains rather than white rice), increase the number of chews and eat as slowly as possible, and consume vegetables before carbohydrates to reduce the rise in blood glucose levels (meal order). It is important to maintain a diet that does not cause hyperinsulinemia. Hypoglycemia tends to cause irreversible changes in the brain, and it has been reported that the hazard ratio for developing dementia increases from 1.26 for a single hypoglycemic attack to 1.80 for two attacks and 1.94 for three or more attacks<sup>57)</sup>. The frequency of hypoglycemic attacks is also high in patients after the onset of dementia and is related to the fact that hypoglycemic attack symptoms are not easily recognized,

meals are more likely to be irregular, and patients are more likely to be undernourished. Especially in elderly patients with frailty, hypoglycemia can easily lead to falls and fractures, creating a vicious cycle.

## Diet and nutritional management for dementia prevention

In recent years, the Mediterranean diet has been attracting attention as a good dietary practice for dementia prevention<sup>52, 58-62)</sup>. The Mediterranean diet is a dietary habit of Mediterranean countries such as Italy, Spain, and Greece, characterized by abundant use of fresh fruits and vegetables, more fish than dairy products and meat, olive oil, nuts, legumes, and often unrefined grains such as whole grains. It is also characterized by the use of whole grains and other unrefined cereals. They also drink moderate amounts of red wine with their meals and can be characterized as having a very diverse eating style. (Figure 2) Adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with a 20% lower risk of dementia overall in a Mediterranean study involving over 16,000 middle-aged and elderly participants followed up for over 20 years. Associations were stronger for non-AD dementia in women and for AD in men, and among participants with lower education<sup>63)</sup>. There are significant geographical and historical differences between Japan and the Mediterranean countries in Europe, which result in unique food cultures. As a result, it may be challenging to replicate the Mediterranean diet entirely. However, there are still some valuable points that we can learn from it. Compared to the Mediterranean diet, the traditional Japanese diet has a higher carbohydrate intake due to the consumption of rice. Therefore, to build a highly diversified diet based on the Japanese diet, it is recommended that a balanced diet be maintained by actively consuming fish, shellfish, vegetables, fruits, nuts, and legumes, and by moderating the intake of white rice as a carbohydrate and including millet and unrefined grains with low GI values.

Consuming fish is a great way to get protein and omega-3 fatty acids, which are crucial for preventing



Figure 2 Mediterranean diet pyramid

Retrieved from FUNDACIÓN DIETA MEDITERRÁNEA website: https://dietamediterranea.com/nutricion-saludable-ejercicio-fisico/#piramide

dementia. Shellfish is a great source of essential minerals such as calcium, iron, zinc, magnesium, and potassium, as well as vitamin B12. Vegetables and fruits are packed with vitamins C, carotene, vitamin E, and folic acid. Nuts are also an excellent source of calcium, magnesium, and dietary fiber. Beans provide protein and vitamin B1, while unrefined grains offer carbohydrates, vitamin B1, minerals, and dietary fiber. Additionally, olive oil is rich in oleic acid, and red wine contains polyphenols. Consuming a diverse range of nutrient-rich foods is essential in preventing dementia. Nutritional management is important for preventing dementia progression, even after onset.

Patients with dementia often experience various eating behavior abnormalities<sup>64)</sup>, such as undernutrition due to anorexia, and overnutrition due to overeating. Furthermore, dementia patients have a reduced sense of taste and tend to prefer sweet and strong-tasting foods<sup>65)</sup>, leading to a diet that is high in carbohydrates and deficient in essential vitamins, minerals, and proteins. This can further exacerbate the disease condition and its symptoms.

## Adequate fatty acid intake for dementia prevention

Fatty acids are divided into four general categories: saturated, monounsaturated, polyunsaturated, and trans fatty acids<sup>66)</sup>. Saturated and trans fatty acids increase the risk of coronary heart disease. Monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids decrease the risk of coronary heart disease<sup>66)</sup>. The brain is a lipid-rich organ, then the intake of good fats is crucial for the brain. Omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids have been linked to healthy aging throughout life<sup>67)</sup>. The omega-3 fatty acids from fish, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) are associated with fetal development, improved cardiovascular function, and Alzheimer's disease prevention. EPA reduces neutral fat, preventing arteriosclerosis and heart disease<sup>68, 69)</sup>. DHA is a component of nerve cell membranes in the brain<sup>70)</sup> and is believed to dilate blood vessels<sup>71)</sup>, improve immunity and suppress inflammation<sup>72)</sup>, and aid insulin function73). DHA and EPA are derived mainly from bluefish. Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), which is also a representative of  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids, is contained in plant-derived oils such as linseed oil, perilla oil, perilla sesame oil, and walnut oil<sup>74)</sup>. People who are not fond of fish should actively try to consume such plant-derived  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids. Since trans fatty acids are contained in foods containing margarine and shortening (cakes, French fries, potato chips, doughnuts, etc.), one should be careful not to eat too much fast food and sweets.

### Vitamin intake and dementia prevention

Insufficient intake of vitamin B1, B12, and folic acid may lead to dementia<sup>75)</sup>. In particular, vitamin B1 deficiency, known as beriberi, has long been a feared national disease, particularly among the Japanese whose staple food is white rice. Even today, vitamin B1 deficiency is potentially quite common, especially among the elderly, and unfortunately, it is still a condition that has a high risk of going undiagnosed and leading to death76). As vitamin B1 deficiency is a potential risk, it is imperative to conduct serum vitamin B1 measurements and administer vitamin B1 supplementation in infusions for patients with impaired consciousness or nutritional disorders. One of the "treatable dementias" caused by vitamin B1 deficiency is Wernicke's encephalopathy, an acute hemorrhagic upper gray matter inflammation described by Carl Wernicke in 1881, classically known as a triad of impaired consciousness, eye movement disorder, and ataxia. However, the triad is rather infrequent, with only about 16% of patients presenting with all three signs<sup>76)</sup>. The sad reality is that during their initial medical examination, more than 80% of patients remain undiagnosed. It's important to note that despite the prevalence of rich diets, vitamin B1 deficiency remains a common issue that can arise due to various factors. These factors include prolonged periods of unbalanced carbohydrateheavy diets, excessive alcohol consumption, reduced food intake due to loss of appetite, and strenuous exercise. In addition, long-term diuretic therapy for heart failure and leg edema can cause vitamin B1 deficiency<sup>77)</sup> due to the water-soluble nature of the vitamin B1; however, vitamin B1 measurements are rarely taken during heart failure treatment. Therefore, it is important to educate clinicians involved in emergency room care and heart failure treatment to prevent treatable dementia. To prevent vitamin B1 deficiency, it is advisable to include familiar foods rich in vitamin B1, such as rice bran, pork fillet, seaweed, eel, soybeans, sesame seeds,

peanuts, brown rice, and rye bread in the daily diet.

Vitamin B12 deficiency and folate deficiency are known causes of megaloblastic anemia78,79) and subacute association spinal cord degeneration<sup>80)</sup>, but even without these conditions, they are known to cause cognitive decline<sup>81)</sup>. Folic acid deficiency and associated elevated homocysteine levels are also thought to cause dementia and affective disorders such as depression<sup>82)</sup>. A study on the association between hyperhomocysteinemia and Alzheimer's disease was conducted to investigate the correlation between blood homocysteine levels and Alzheimer's disease over 8 years in 1,092 dementiafree men and women in the United States with an average age of 76 years. 5 µmol per liter of homocysteine in the blood per liter increased the risk of Alzheimer's disease by 40%. The risk of developing dementia or Alzheimer's disease is doubled in the group with the highest blood homocysteine levels compared to the group with the lowest levels, and subjects with persistently elevated blood homocysteine levels are reported to be at the highest risk of dementia<sup>83)</sup>. It has been suggested that folic acid and vitamin B12 supplementation may help prevent mood disorders, Alzheimer's disease, and vascular dementia<sup>84)</sup>. In postgastrectomy/gastrectomy patients, vitamin B12 deficiency occurs due to insufficient secretion of internal factors secreted by the stomach, which is necessary for vitamin B12 absorption. In addition, long-term administration of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) is known to impair vitamin B12 absorption and cause dementia<sup>85)</sup>. A study examining long-term PPI administration and the development of dementia reported that longterm users who had used PPIs for a cumulative total of more than 4.4 years had a significantly increased risk of developing dementia by 33% compared to those who had never used PPIs. In contrast, the researchers found no significant increased risk among short- to medium-term users of 4.4 years or less<sup>86)</sup>. From the perspective of dementia prevention, it is advisable to include foods containing vitamin B12 and folic acid in the menu daily. Foods rich in vitamin B12 include shellfish such as clams, and laver, anchovies, sweetfish, pork liver, and chicken liver. However, the liver is high in purines, so care should be taken not to consume too much if you have hyperuricemia or gout. Foods rich in folic acid include seaweed, wakame seaweed, chicken liver, pork liver, green tea, soybeans, parsley, kale, and broccoli.

### Exercise to prevent dementia

It has been calculated that about 3% of all dementia cases could be prevented by increasing levels of physical activity<sup>3)</sup>. Both aerobic exercise and resistance training are important for dementia prevention<sup>87,88)</sup>. The effects of exercise on dementia prevention are estimated to be at the biological level: increased cerebral blood flow due to exercise, increased BDNF and IFG-1, increased brain capacity such as the hippocampus due to improved insulin resistance, behavioral level: improved sleep, decreased fatigue, improved physical activity and physical function, and social psychological level: improved depression, increased self-efficacy, more friends, improved social networks<sup>89)</sup>. A study examining the correlation between physical activity measured with a physical activity meter and brain volume by MRI imaging reported a correlation between prolonged light-intensity physical activity and increased brain volume<sup>90)</sup>.

For aerobic exercise, daily walking is as important as a low-intensity exercise load. It is recommended to use a pedometer, smartphone, or smartwatch to record the number of steps taken and the amount of activity, as this will help maintain motivation. The recommended aerobic exercise for psychiatric symptoms such as cognitive dysfunction and depression is 5,000 steps or more than 3 METs of moderate-intensity activity for at least 7.5 minutes per day<sup>91)</sup>.

In addition to squats, calf raises, and other bodyweight training, dumbbell exercises with dumbbells are recommended for resistance training. Among various types of physical activities including calisthenics, walking, strength exercise, dancing, yoga, aqua exercise, ball games, bicycling, hiking, tai chi, golf, quoits, Japanese croquet, ten-pin bowling, jogging, martial arts, participation in calisthenics significantly reduced the risk of cognitive decline in community-dwelling older Japanese women, indicating that calisthenics may be a useful type of exercise for promoting dementia prevention<sup>92)</sup>.

### Good sleep for dementia prevention

Good sleep, in addition to diet and exercise, has

been highlighted as a modifiable factor in dementia prevention<sup>59,62)</sup>. Accumulating evidence indicates that sleep disturbances contribute to cognitive decline and increase the risk of Alzheimer's dementia by increasing the beta-amyloid burden. Although sleep disturbances are easily thought of as a consequence of Alzheimer's disease, sleep disturbances are a candidate risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. There is a bidirectional relationship between sleep and Alzheimer's disease, and the systemic hyperinflammation induced by sleep disturbances is thought to increase the beta-amyloid burden and promote the etiology of Alzheimer's disease<sup>93)</sup>.

To achieve good sleep, studies have been reported using a variety of sleep interventions for patients with MCI and Alzheimer's disease. Psychotherapeutic approaches such as cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), melatonin, suvorexant, and continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) for obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) have shown promise. Acoustic and transcranial stimulation are also assumed to have significant effects on non-REM sleep, but their long-term cognitive and diseasemodifying effects are not yet known<sup>94)</sup>.

## NIBS and cognitive rehabilitation for dementia prevention

We believe that cognitive training is also necessary to treat memory impairment (forgetfulness), which is called the core symptom of dementia. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), a non-invasive brain stimulation (NIBS), is expected to be a non-drug therapy for the prevention of dementia progression. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS), a non-pharmacological therapy for the prevention of dementia progression, is being studied for clinical application in Japan and abroad. Although there is no unified consensus on the stimulation site and method, there are many reports using high-frequency stimulation (HF-rTMS) of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (Lt. DLPFC) as in the treatment of depression, and more recently, intermittent theta burst stimulation (iTBS) has been used in some studies. Lazzaro et al. conducted a systematic review of RCTs conducted up to 2020 in AD, MCI, MCI due to Parkinson's disease (PD-MCI), and others<sup>95)</sup>. According to this report, the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) was the most frequently stimulated area, followed by bilateral DLPFC, right DLPFC, right DLPFC, low-frequency stimulation of right DLPFC, bilateral DLPFC, and multiple areas such as Broca's area, Wernicke's area, bilateral inferior parietal lobes, and precuneus (Figure 3). This review also concluded that rTMS-Cog therapy with high-frequency stimulation of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) alone and with high-frequency stimulation of multiple regions may improve cognitive function, apathy, memory, and language function in patients with mild (early) AD (Level of Evidence C and B, respectively).

Combined cognitive training (rTMS-Cog therapy)



### HF-rTMS of the left DLPFC

iTBS to left DLPFC (approx. 3 min) induces plastic changes within the stimulus site/memory-related network.





## Computer assisted cognitive rehabilitation (CACR)

Computer-based cognitive rehabilitation training (40 min) (working memory, attention, word memory, image memory, and mental rotation tasks are performed)

Figure 3 Expectations for rTMS-Cog therapy

We are currently implementing a 2-week intensive short-term cognitive rehabilitation treatment program with iTBS to the left DLPFC and CACR for patients with MCI.

may also be useful to improve cognitive and memory functions in daily life. Computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation (CACR) is a fun, gamelike, repetitive task. Currently, our department is working on cognitive rehabilitation using a combination of rTMS and CACR to improve cognitive and memory functions.

### Summary

In this paper, the key strategies for preventing dementia, which include proper nutrition, exercise, and cognitive rehabilitation were discussed. Dementia prevention is increasingly important as Japan is expected to have around 7 million elderly people with dementia by 2025, which is approximately 1 in 5 elderly people. There are 12 risks identified by Livingston, which include physical inactivity, smoking, excessive alcohol consumption, air pollution, head injury, social isolation, poor educational history, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, depression, and hearing loss. Lifestyle modifications and an active lifestyle are important to reduce these risks. The Mediterranean diet, with its diverse range of foods, has gained attention as a dietary practice for preventing dementia. Exercise has been shown to prevent dementia on biological, behavioral, and socio-psychological levels. rTMS, a noninvasive brain stimulation method, can alter brain plasticity and is being studied for clinical application as a nondrug therapy for preventing dementia progression.

This paper is based on a lecture given at the 51st Juntendo University Open Lecture on June 17, 2023, with some additional information.

### Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

### Funding

The author received no financial support for writing this article.

### Author contributions

TT wrote the manuscript. TT read and approved the final manuscript.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The author declares that there are no conflicts of interest.

### References

- 1) Statics Bereau of Japan. https://www.stat.go.jp/data/ topics/topi1321.html (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- 2) Iwagami M, Tamiya N: The Long-Term Care Insurance System in Japan: Past, Present, and Future. JMA J, 2019; 2: 67–69.
- 3) Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, *et al*: Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. Lancet, 2017; 390: 2673–2734.
- 4) World Health Organization: Dementia. https://www. who.int/health-topics/dementia#tab=tab\_2 (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- 5) Cabinet Office Japan: Annual Report on the Aging Society: 2019. https://www8.cao.go.jp/kourei/whitepaper/w-2019/html/zenbun/index.html (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- 6) Cabinet Office Japan: Annual Report on the Aging Society: 2017 (Summary). https://www8.cao.go.jp/ kourei/whitepaper/w-2017/html/gaiyou/s1\_2\_3.html (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- 7) Public Relations Office Government of Japan. https:// www.gov-online.go.jp/useful/article/201308/1.html#firsrSection (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- Ikejima C, Hisanaga A, Meguro K, *et al*: Multicentre population-based dementia prevalence survey in Japan: a preliminary report. Psychogeriatrics, 2012; 12: 120–123.
- 9) Xie J, Brayne C, Matthews FE: Survival times in people with dementia: analysis from population based cohort study with 14 year follow-up. BMJ, 2008; 336: 258–262.
- 10) Vossius C, Bergh S, Selbæk G, *et al*: Mortality in nursing home residents stratified according to subtype of dementia: a longitudinal study over three years. BMC Geriatr, 2022; 22: 282.
- 11) Mahler ME, Cummings JL, Benson DF: Treatable dementias. West J Med, 1987; 146: 705-712.
- 12) GBD 2019 Dementia Forecasting Collaborators: Estimation of the global prevalence of dementia in 2019 and forecasted prevalence in 2050: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Public Health, 2022; 7: e105-e125.
- 13) Matthews FE, Arthur A, Barnes LE, *et al*: A two-decade comparison of prevalence of dementia in individuals aged 65 years and older from three geographical areas of England: results of the Cognitive Function and Ageing Study I and II. Lancet, 2013; 382: 1405–1412.
- 14) Langa KM, Larson EB, Crimmins EM, *et al*: A Comparison of the Prevalence of Dementia in the United States in 2000 and 2012. JAMA Intern Med, 2017; 177: 51–58.
- 15) Doblhammer G, Fink A, Fritze T: Short-term trends in dementia prevalence in Germany between the years 2007 and 2009. Alzheimers Dement, 2015; 11: 291-299.
- 16) Satizabal CL, Beiser AS, Chouraki V, Chêne G, Dufouil C, Seshadri S: Incidence of Dementia over Three Decades in the Framingham Heart Study. N Engl J Med, 2016; 374: 523–532.
- 17) Schrijvers EM, Verhaaren BF, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Ikram MA, Breteler MM: Is dementia incidence declining?: Trends in dementia incidence since 1990 in the Rotterdam Study. Neurology, 2012; 78: 1456–1463.
- 18) Roehr S, Pabst A, Luck T, Riedel-Heller SG: Is dementia incidence declining in high-income countries? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Epidemiol, 2018; 10:

1233-1247.

- 19) Wu YT, Beiser AS, Breteler MMB, *et al*: The changing prevalence and incidence of dementia over time – current evidence. Nat Rev Neurol, 2017; 13: 327–339.
- 20) Cabinet Office Japan: Annual Report on the Aging Society: 2018. https://www8.cao.go.jp/kourei/whitepaper/w-2019/zenbun/01pdf\_index.html (Last accessed Aug 1, 2023)
- 21) Ohara T, Hata J, Yoshida D, *et al*: Trends in dementia prevalence, incidence, and survival rate in a Japanese community. Neurology, 2017; 88: 1925–1932.
- 22) Honda H, Sasaki K, Hamasaki H, *et al*: Trends in autopsy-verified dementia prevalence over 29 years of the Hisayama study. Neuropathology, 2016; 36: 383-387.
- 23) Hamasaki H, Honda H, Okamoto T, *et al*: Recent Increases in Hippocampal Tau Pathology in the Aging Japanese Population: The Hisayama Study. J Alzheimers Dis, 2017; 55: 613–624.
- 24) Yamada M: Anti-Dementia Drugs (Anti-Alzheimer's Disease Drugs). Brain Nerve, 2023; 75: 464-469. (in Japanese)
- 25) Cummings JL, Back C: The cholinergic hypothesis of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry, 1998; 6: S64-78.
- 26) Davies P, Maloney AJ: Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet, 1976; 2: 1403.
- 27) Terry AV Jr, Buccafusco JJ: The cholinergic hypothesis of age and Alzheimer's disease-related cognitive deficits: recent challenges and their implications for novel drug development. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2003; 306: 821-827.
- 28) Marucci G, Buccioni M, Ben DD, Lambertucci C, Volpini R, Amenta F: Efficacy of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease. Neuropharmacology, 2021; 190: 108352.
- 29) Wang R, Reddy PH: Role of Glutamate and NMDA Receptors in Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis, 2017; 57: 1041–1048.
- 30) Johnson JW, Kotermanski SE: Mechanism of action of memantine. Curr Opin Pharmacol, 2006; 6: 61–67.
- 31) Okumura Y, Sakata N: Antidementia drug use in Japan: Bridging the research-to-practice gap. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2018; 33: 1286–1287.
- 32) Cummings J, Apostolova L, Rabinovici GD, et al: Lecanemab: Appropriate Use Recommendations. J Prev Alzheimers Dis, 2023; 10: 362–377.
- 33) Withington CG, Turner RS: Amyloid-Related Imaging Abnormalities With Anti-amyloid Antibodies for the Treatment of Dementia Due to Alzheimer's Disease. Front Neurol, 2022; 13: 862369.
- 34) Yadollahikhales G, Rojas JC: Anti-Amyloid Immunotherapies for Alzheimer's Disease: A 2023 Clinical Update. Neurotherapeutics, 2023; 20: 914-931.
- 35) Burke JF, Kerber KA, Langa KM, Albin RL, Kotagal V: Lecanemab: Looking Before We Leap. Neurology, 2023; 101: 661–665.
- 36) Rabin LA, Smart CM, Amariglio RE: Subjective Cognitive Decline in Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. Annu Rev Clin Psychol, 2017; 13: 369–396.
- 37) van Harten AC, Mielke MM, Swenson-Dravis DM, et al: Subjective cognitive decline and risk of MCI: The Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. Neurology, 2018; 91: e300– e312.
- 38) Sanford AM: Mild Cognitive Impairment. Clin Geriatr

Med, 2017; 33: 325-337.

- 39) Langa KM, Levine DA: The diagnosis and management of mild cognitive impairment: a clinical review. JAMA, 2014; 312: 2551–2561.
- 40) Brodaty H, Heffernan M, Kochan NA, *et al*: Mild cognitive impairment in a community sample: the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study. Alzheimers Dement, 2013; 9: 310–317.e311.
- 41) Shimada H, Makizako H, Doi T, Lee S, Lee S: Conversion and Reversion Rates in Japanese Older People With Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2017; 18: 808.e801-808.e806.
- 42) O'Keeffe ST, Kazeem H, Philpott RM, Playfer JR, Gosney M, Lye M: Gait disturbance in Alzheimer's disease: a clinical study. Age Ageing, 1996; 25: 313–316.
- 43) Ozkan T, Ataoglu NEE, Soke F, Karakoc S, Bora HAT: Investigation of the relationship between trunk control and balance, gait, functional mobility, and fear of falling in people with Alzheimer's disease. Ir J Med Sci, 2023; 192: 2401–2408.
- 44) Mira A, Gonçalves R, Rodrigues IT: Dysphagia in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. Dement Neuropsychol, 2022; 16: 261–269.
- 45) Seçil Y, Arıcı Ş, İncesu TK, Gürgör N, Beckmann Y, Ertekin C: Dysphagia in Alzheimer's disease. Neurophysiol Clin, 2016; 46: 171–178.
- 46) Boccardi V, Ruggiero C, Patriti A, Marano L: Diagnostic Assessment and Management of Dysphagia in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis, 2016; 50: 947–955.
- 47) Reisberg B: Dementia: a systematic approach to identifying reversible causes. Geriatrics, 1986; 41: 30-46.
- 48) Sclan SG, Reisberg B: Functional Assessment Staging (FAST) in Alzheimer's Disease: Reliability, Validity, and Ordinality. International Psychogeriatrics, 1992; 4: 55–69.
- 49) Urakami K: Prevention of dementia. Nihon Rinsho, 2016; 74: 395–398. (in Japanese)
- 50) Volkert D, Chourdakis M, Faxen-Irving G, *et al*: ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in dementia. Clin Nutr, 2015; 34: 1052–1073.
- 51) Kishino Y, Sugimoto T, Kimura A, *et al*: Longitudinal association between nutritional status and behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia in older women with mild cognitive impairment and early-stage Alzheimer's disease. Clin Nutr, 2022; 41: 1906–1912.
- 52) Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, *et al*: Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. Lancet, 2020; 396: 413-446.
- 53) Ott A, Stolk RP, van Harskamp F, Pols HA, Hofman A, Breteler MM: Diabetes mellitus and the risk of dementia: The Rotterdam Study. Neurology, 1999; 53: 1937–1942.
- 54) Ohara T, Doi Y, Ninomiya T, *et al*: Glucose tolerance status and risk of dementia in the community: the Hisayama study. Neurology, 2011; 77: 1126–1134.
- 55) Umegaki H, Hayashi T, Nomura H, *et al*: Cognitive dysfunction: an emerging concept of a new diabetic complication in the elderly. Geriatr Gerontol Int, 2013; 13: 28-34.
- 56) Crane PK, Walker R, Larson EB: Glucose levels and risk of dementia. N Engl J Med, 2013; 369: 1863–1864.
- 57) Whitmer RA, Karter AJ, Yaffe K, Quesenberry CP, Jr., Selby JV: Hypoglycemic episodes and risk of dementia in older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA, 2009; 301: 1565–1572.

- 58) Wu L, Sun D: Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of developing cognitive disorders: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Sci Rep, 2017; 7: 41317.
- 59) Dominguez LJ, Veronese N, Vernuccio L, *et al*: Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Other Lifestyle Factors in the Prevention of Cognitive Decline and Dementia. Nutrients, 2021; 13.
- 60) Arora S, Santiago JA, Bernstein M, Potashkin JA: Diet and lifestyle impact the development and progression of Alzheimer's dementia. Front Nutr, 2023; 10: 1213223.
- 61) Otsuka M: Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease and Nutrients. Brain Nerve, 2016; 68: 809-817. (in Japanese)
- 62) Zhao C, Noble JM, Marder K, Hartman JS, Gu Y, Scarmeas N: Dietary Patterns, Physical Activity, Sleep, and Risk for Dementia and Cognitive Decline. Curr Nutr Rep, 2018; 7: 335–345.
- 63) Andreu-Reinón ME, Chirlaque MD, Gavrila D, et al: Mediterranean Diet and Risk of Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease in the EPIC-Spain Dementia Cohort Study. Nutrients, 2021; 13.
- 64) Fostinelli S, De Amicis R, Leone A, *et al*: Eating Behavior in Aging and Dementia: The Need for a Comprehensive Assessment. Front Nutr, 2020; 7: 604488.
- 65) Sakai M, Kazui H, Shigenobu K, Komori K, Ikeda M, Nishikawa T: Gustatory Dysfunction as an Early Symptom of Semantic Dementia. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra, 2017; 7: 395-405.
- 66) White B: Dietary fatty acids. Am Fam Physician, 2009; 80: 345–350.
- 67) Swanson D, Block R, Mousa SA: Omega-3 Fatty Acids EPA and DHA: Health Benefits Throughout Life. Adv Nutr, 2012; 3: 1-7.
- 68) Watanabe Y, Tatsuno I: Prevention of Cardiovascular Events with Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and the Mechanism Involved. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2020; 27: 183-198.
- 69) Mason RP, Libby P, Bhatt DL: Emerging Mechanisms of Cardiovascular Protection for the Omega-3 Fatty Acid Eicosapentaenoic Acid. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2020; 40: 1135–1147.
- 70) Lauritzen L, Brambilla P, Mazzocchi A, Harsløf LB, Ciappolino V, Agostoni C: DHA Effects in Brain Development and Function. Nutrients, 2016; 8: 6.
- 71) Lovegrove JA, Griffin BA: The acute and long-term effects of dietary fatty acids on vascular function in health and disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care, 2013; 16: 162-167.
- 72) Mayer K, Seeger W: Fish oil in critical illness. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care, 2008; 11: 121–127.
- 73) Bhaswant M, Poudyal H, Brown L: Mechanisms of enhanced insulin secretion and sensitivity with n-3 unsaturated fatty acids. J Nutr Biochem, 2015; 26: 571-584.
- 74) Rajaram S: Health benefits of plant-derived a-linolenic acid. Am J Clin Nutr, 2014; 100 Suppl 1: 443s-448s.
- 75) Morris MC, Schneider JA, Tangney CC: Thoughts on B-vitamins and dementia. J Alzheimers Dis, 2006; 9: 429-433.
- 76) Sechi G, Serra A: Wernicke's encephalopathy: new clinical settings and recent advances in diagnosis and management. Lancet Neurol, 2007; 6: 442-455.
- 77) Katta N, Balla S, Alpert MA: Does Long-Term Furosemide Therapy Cause Thiamine Deficiency in Patients

with Heart Failure? A Focused Review. Am J Med, 2016; 129: 753.e757-753.e711.

- 78) Iqbal SP, Kakepoto GN, Iqbal SP: Vitamin B12 deficiency--a major cause of megaloblastic anaemia in patients attending a tertiary care hospital. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad, 2009; 21: 92–94.
- 79) Socha DS, DeSouza SI, Flagg A, Sekeres M, Rogers HJ: Severe megaloblastic anemia: Vitamin deficiency and other causes. Cleve Clin J Med, 2020; 87: 153–164.
- 80) Sun W, Li G, Lai Z, et al: Subacute Combined Degeneration of the Spinal Cord and Hydrocephalus Associated with Vitamin B12 Deficiency. World Neurosurg, 2019; 128: 277–283.
- 81) Langan RC, Goodbred AJ: Vitamin B12 Deficiency: Recognition and Management. Am Fam Physician, 2017; 96: 384–389.
- 82) Reynolds EH: The neurology of folic acid deficiency. Handb Clin Neurol, 2014; 120: 927–943.
- 83) Seshadri S, Beiser A, Selhub J, *et al*: Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for dementia and Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med, 2002; 346: 476–483.
- 84) Reynolds E: Vitamin B12, folic acid, and the nervous system. Lancet Neurol, 2006; 5: 949–960.
- 85) Wolters M, Ströhle A, Hahn A: Cobalamin: a critical vitamin in the elderly. Prev Med, 2004; 39: 1256–1266.
- 86) Carin N, Elizabeth B, Pamela L, *et al*: Cumulative Use of Proton Pump Inhibitors and Risk of Dementia: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Neurology, 2023; 101: e1771–e1778.
- 87) Alty J, Farrow M, Lawler K: Exercise and dementia prevention. Pract Neurol, 2020; 20: 234–240.
- 88) De la Rosa A, Olaso-Gonzalez G, Arc-Chagnaud C, et al: Physical exercise in the prevention and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. J Sport Health Sci, 2020; 9: 394-404.
- 89) Shimada H, Makizako H, Doi T: Exercise and Physical Activity for Dementia Prevention. Brain Nerve, 2016; 68: 799–808. (in Japanese)
- 90) Spartano NL, Davis-Plourde KL, Himali JJ, *et al*: Association of Accelerometer–Measured Light–Intensity Physical Activity With Brain Volume: The Framingham Heart Study. JAMA Netw Open, 2019; 2: e192745.
- 91) Aoyagi Y, Shephard RJ: Sex differences in relationships between habitual physical activity and health in the elderly: practical implications for epidemiologists based on pedometer/accelerometer data from the Nakanojo Study. Arch Gerontol Geriatr, 2013; 56: 327-338.
- 92) Osuka Y, Kojima N, Sasai H, *et al*: Exercise Types and the Risk of Developing Cognitive Decline in Older Women: A Prospective Study. J Alzheimers Dis, 2020; 77: 1733–1742.
- 93) Irwin MR, Vitiello MV: Implications of sleep disturbance and inflammation for Alzheimer's disease dementia. Lancet Neurol, 2019; 18: 296–306.
- 94) Blackman J, Swirski M, Clynes J, Harding S, Leng Y, Coulthard E: Pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions to enhance sleep in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. J Sleep Res, 2021; 30: e13229.
- 95) Di Lazzaro V, Bella R, Benussi A, *et al*: Diagnostic contribution and therapeutic perspectives of transcranial magnetic stimulation in dementia. Clin Neurophysiol, 2021; 132: 2568–2607.

Perspectives

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70 (1), 23–25



### Endothelial Glycocalyx Protection in Sepsis

JERROLD H. LEVY<sup>1)</sup>, TOSHIAKI IBA<sup>2)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Department of Anesthesiology, Critical Care, and Surgery, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, USA <sup>2)</sup>Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

The glycocalyx serves as the covering layer of the luminal surface of vascular endothelial cells, comprising proteoglycans, glycosaminoglycans, and adherent plasma proteins. This intricate structure is crucial in promoting antithrombogenicity, controlling vascular permeability, regulating vascular tone, and managing leukocyte/platelet adhesion. However, during sepsis, the glycocalyx undergoes significant degradation through inflammatory mechanisms; this process can be further facilitated by treatment for sepsis and septic shock. Therefore, it is crucial to exercise careful management to avoid damage to the glycocalyx during sepsis treatment.

Key words: glycocalyx, endothelial cell, sepsis, shock, anticoagulation, syndecan

The vascular endothelial surface is covered by a gel-like layer, namely glycocalyx. The glycocalyx is composed of membrane-binding proteoglycans (syndecan and glypican), glycosaminoglycan sidechains (heparan sulfate and chondroitin sulfate) conjugated with the core protein of the proteoglycans, and high-molecular-weight polysaccharide hyaluronan that interacts to transmembrane receptor CD44. The hydrophilic polysaccharides bind functional proteins such as albumin and antithrombin<sup>1)</sup> (Figure 1). The vascular glycocalyx exhibits important roles that include attenuating flow resistance, controlling vascular tone, maintaining antithrombogenicity, and regulating vascular permeability. However, since the glycocalyx is highly fragile and easily damaged via upregulated inflammatory reactions, increased shedders such as metalloproteinases, heparanase, and hyaluronidase are needed. Intravascular inflammation is closely associated with glycocalyx degradation, leading to vascular permeability, edema formation, thrombotic shift, and neutrophil and platelet adhesion<sup>1)</sup>. Consequently, the circulating glycocalyx components, such as syndecan and hyaluronic acid, are degraded and serve as biomarkers of endothelial damage<sup>2)</sup>. The derangement of glycocalyx is tightly connected with the presence of organ dysfunction and high mortality in sepsis<sup>3)</sup>. Therefore, protection and maintenance of glycocalyx are critical in sepsis management. The following part introduces the potential pragmatic approach for glycocalyx protection.

Hypervolemia is thought to be associated with increased glycocalyx degradation. Previous studies suggested that hypervolemia induces atrial natriuretic peptide release, leading to glycocalyx degradation<sup>4)</sup>. A randomized controlled trial (RCT) examined the efficacy of restricted resuscitation fluid protocol, which could successfully reduce resuscitation fluid volumes in adult patients with septic shock<sup>5)</sup>. In this study, the standard care group received fluid boluses as long as circulation continued to show improvement, whereas the fluid restriction

2-1-1 Hongo Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Toshiaki Iba (ORCID: 0000-0002-0255-4088)

Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 (X: 3813) E-mail: toshiiba@juntendo.ac.jp

<sup>[</sup>Received Dec. 14, 2023] [Accepted Dec. 22, 2023]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Feb. 10, 2024

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0041-P



Figure 1 The structure of the endothelial glycocalyx The major components of the glycocalyx are transmembrane glycoprotein i.e., syndecans, membrane-attached glypicans, and hydrophilic polysaccharides, including heparan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate, and hyaluronan. Physiological plasma proteins, including albumin and antithrombin, are maintained in this structure.

group received fluid boluses only when severe hypoperfusion appeared. However, the following larger RCT examining restricted intravenous fluid failed to show a better outcome<sup>6</sup>. Thus, the effect of restricted fluid therapy is still unclear, but we think avoiding volume overload by regularly reassessing the patient's response to fluid resuscitation is necessary.

Excess catecholamine use is toxic to the glycocalyx. The glycocalyx shedding is known to be markedly increased in Takotsubo disease, where the surge of catecholamine occurs<sup>7)</sup>. In cases of septic shock, when adequate fluid resuscitation fails to restore perfusion, the dose of vasopressors (norepinephrine) will be increased, and that can damage the vascular integrity. Therefore, Surviving Sepsis Campaign Guidelines 2021 state, "For adults with septic shock on norepinephrine with inadequate mean arterial pressure levels, we suggest adding vasopressin instead of escalating the dose of norepinephrine<sup>8)</sup>." The effect of the restriction of catecholamine should be examined in the future study.

Hyperglycemia is also known to be related to glycocalyx injury. Nieuwdorp et al. reported that hyperglycemia increased plasma hyaluronan levels, endothelial dysfunction, and activation in coagulation<sup>9)</sup>. The mechanism can be explained by the increased reactive oxygen species and receptor activation for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE), but we demonstrated that neutrophil activation and neutrophil extracellular trap formation are also involved in the mechanisms of glycocalyx injury<sup>10)</sup>. Since hypoglycemia is harmful to septic patients, glycemic control by intensive insulin therapy is not the current trend in sepsis management<sup>8)</sup>. However, the toxic effect of hyperglycemia on the glycocalyx should be kept in mind.

Colloid therapy using fresh frozen plasma (FFP) and albumin has been proposed to protect glycocalyx. FFP contains physiological oxidase, protease, and matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors that help maintain the glycocalyx. Furthermore, FFP can suppress the fluid volume for resuscitation compared to crystalloids<sup>11</sup>. Meanwhile, albumin is expected to protect glycocalyx via carrying erythrocyte-derived sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) to the endothelium, where it can mediate glycocalyx recovery by suppressing metalloproteinase activity<sup>12</sup>. However, the result of the clinical trial was disappointing. A phase 2, multicenter randomized trial was conducted among the patients who underwent abdominal surgery. Dexamethasone and 20% albumin (100 mL) were followed by 200 mL of 20% albumin with subsequent 1000 mL of crystalloid administered to the study group, while crystalloid fluid was only given to the control group. The damage of the glycocalyx was compared by the levels of circulating syndecan-1, and the levels did not differ between the groups<sup>13)</sup>. However, the effects of colloid therapy should be reexamined in larger trials.

One of the pivotal functions of the glycocalyx is antithrombotic. Heparan sulfate is an essential glycosaminoglycan side-chain of the glycocalyx and is a cofactor of physiological anticoagulant antithrombin. Since antithrombin activity significantly decreases in sepsis, antithrombin supplementation is a rational approach for the management of sepsis-induced coagulopathy. It is of interest that antithrombin not only balances the hypercoagulation but can stabilize the glycocalyx by binding to the heparan sulfate<sup>14)</sup>.

Given the critical role the glycocalyx plays in maintaining vascular integrity, it is imperative to protect this component during sepsis management.

### Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

### Funding

No funding was received.

### Author contributions

JHL and TI wrote and reviewed the manuscript. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have not conflict of interest.

### References

- 1) Iba T, Levy JH: Derangement of the endothelial glycocalyx in sepsis. J Thromb Haemost, 2019; 17: 283-294.
- 2) Iba T, Levy JH, Thachil J, Susen S, Levi M, Scarlatescu E: Communication from the Scientific Standardization

Committees of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis on vascular endothelium-related biomarkers in disseminated intravascular coagulation. J Thromb Haemost, 2023; 21: 691–699.

- 3) Uchimido R, Schmidt EP, Shapiro NI: The glycocalyx: a novel diagnostic and therapeutic target in sepsis. Crit Care, 2019; 23: 16.
- 4) Bruegger D, Schwartz L, Chappell D, *et al*: Release of atrial natriuretic peptide precedes shedding of the endothelial glycocalyx equally in patients undergoing on- and off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery. Basic Res Cardiol, 2011; 106: 1111-1121.
- 5) Hjortrup PB, Haase N, Bundgaard H, *et al*: Restricting volumes of resuscitation fluid in adults with septic shock after initial management: the CLASSIC randomised, parallel-group, multicentre feasibility trial. Intensive Care Med, 2016; 42: 1695–1705.
- Meyhoff TS, Hjortrup PB, Wetterslev J, *et al*: Restriction of Intravenous Fluid in ICU Patients with Septic Shock. N Engl J Med, 2022; 386: 2459–2470.
- 7) Nguyen TH, Liu S, Ong GJ, Stafford I, Frenneaux MP, Horowitz JD: Glycocalyx shedding is markedly increased during the acute phase of Takotsubo cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol, 2017; 243: 296–299.
- 8) Evans L, Rhodes A, Alhazzani W, *et al*: Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock 2021. Intensive Care Med, 2021; 47: 1181–1247.
- 9) Nieuwdorp M, van Haeften TW, Gouverneur MC, et al: Loss of endothelial glycocalyx during acute hyperglycemia coincides with endothelial dysfunction and coagulation activation in vivo. Diabetes, 2006; 55: 480-486.
- 10) Hirota T, Levy JH, Iba T: The influence of hyperglycemia on neutrophil extracellular trap formation and endothelial glycocalyx damage in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. Microcirculation, 2020; 27: e12617.
- 11) Nelson A, Statkevicius S, Schött U, Johansson PI, Bentzer P: Effects of fresh frozen plasma, Ringer's acetate and albumin on plasma volume and on circulating glycocalyx components following haemorrhagic shock in rats. Intensive Care Med Exp, 2016; 4: 6.
- 12) Adamson RH, Clark JF, Radeva M, Kheirolomoom A, Ferrara KW, Curry FE: Albumin modulates S1P delivery from red blood cells in perfused microvessels: mechanism of the protein effect. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2014; 306: H1011–H1017.
- 13) Yanase F, Tosif SH, Churilov L, et al: A Randomized, Multicenter, Open-Label, Blinded End Point, Phase 2, Feasibility, Efficacy, and Safety Trial of Preoperative Microvascular Protection in Patients Undergoing Major Abdominal Surgery. Anesth Analg, 2021; 133: 1036– 1047.
- 14) Iba T, Levy JH, Hirota T, *et al*: Protection of the endothelial glycocalyx by antithrombin in an endotoxininduced rat model of sepsis. Thromb Res, 2018; 171: 1–6.

Perspectives

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70(1), 26–28



### Organ Dysfunction in Sepsis-associated Intravascular Coagulation

MARCEL LEVI<sup>1, 2)</sup>, TOSHIAKI IBA<sup>3)</sup>

 Department of Vascular Medicine, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
 Department of Medicine, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and Cardio-Metabolic Programme-NIHR UCLH/UCL BRC London, London, UK
 Department of Emergency and Dicaster Medicine, Luntendo University Creduate School of Medicine, Takyo, Jap

<sup>3)</sup>Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

Sepsis is frequently associated with disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) and multiple organ damage. It is widely accepted that DIC is not merely a complication but also plays a role in the development of organ dysfunction. Thrombus formation in the microvasculature leads to impaired tissue perfusion and organ damage. Activated neutrophils interacting with platelets, endothelial injury, and an imbalance of coagulation and fibrinolysis are the essence of thromboinflammation induced in sepsis-associated DIC. The above mechanisms are typically seen in sepsis-associated acute kidney injury (AKI), and the development of AKI is known to be strongly associated with the severity of sepsis. It is important to recognize the pathway of this mechanism in the context of sepsis management.

Key words: sepsis, disseminated intravascular coagulation, acute kidney injury, thrombus, neutrophil

Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) is defined as "an acquired syndrome characterized by the intravascular activation of coagulation with loss of localization arising from different causes. It can originate from and cause damage to the microvasculature, which if sufficiently severe, can produce organ dysfunction" in 20011). As time has passed, we now understand that intravascular inflammation and subsequent immunothrombus formation, along with endothelial damage, are the principal mechanisms of organ dysfunction in sepsis-associated DIC, and this process is termed "thromboinflammation"2). Thromboinflammation is a fundamental host response to severe and/or systemic infection and is recognized not only in sepsis but also in various diseases such as trauma, heat stress, and virus infection, including coronavirus disease 2019. Although major players, coagulation/fibrinolytic systems, monocytes, neutrophils, platelets, and vascular endothelial cells, are the same, the detail of the mechanisms differs slightly between the underlying diseases, with immunothrombus-induced tissue malcirculation being the primary mechanism of organ dysfunction in sepsis<sup>3)</sup>.

Among various targets, the kidney is one of the most frequently affected organs in sepsis, but the incidence is significantly different between various reports. White et al.<sup>4)</sup> performed a retrospective cohort study in 12 intensive care units from 2015 to 2021 and reported that approximately 16% of septic patients met the acute kidney injury (AKI) criteria (13,451 out of 84,528), and about half of them were stage 1. Meanwhile, cases with stage 3 and required renal replacement therapy were only 21% and approximately 3% of total septic patients. However, it is also known that the incidence of severe AKI increases dramatically when DIC is present, and Helms et al.<sup>5)</sup> reported that 47.3% of patients with

2-1-1 Hongo Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Toshiaki Iba (ORCID: 0000-0002-0255-4088)

Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 (X: 3813) E-mail: toshiiba@juntendo.ac.jp

<sup>[</sup>Received Dec. 18, 2023] [Accepted Dec. 25, 2023]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Feb. 10, 2024

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0042-P



#### Figure 1 Pathologic findings of the kidney

Sepsis-associated disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) was induced by intravenous infusion of *E. coli*. Rats were sacrificed 2.5 hours after the infusion, and kidney specimens were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. In the normal kidney (left), red cells and the capillary lumen were observed. In contrast, in the kidney of a septic DIC rat, the glomerular capillary was occupied by leukocytes (arrows), and the capillary lumen was hardly visible (right). Mild renal tubular cell injury was observed in the septic DIC rat.

sepsis-associated DIC and shock required renal replacement therapy, compared to 21.3% of patients without DIC (P < 0.001). Furthermore, the complication of AKI considerably enhances the severity of sepsis. Seymour et al.<sup>6)</sup> analyzed data from over 60,000 septic patients by using machine learning techniques and subdivided them into four sepsis phenotypes. Among phenotypes, the *a* phenotype was the most frequent (33%), although less severe and requiring less vasopressor support. Patients in the  $\beta$  phenotype (27%) were older and had more chronic illnesses. Those in the  $\gamma$  phenotype (27%) exhibited more inflammation and pulmonary dysfunction. The  $\delta$  phenotype (13%) represented the most severe cases with a higher incidence of AKI development, hepatic dysfunction, and endothelial dysfunction, and a greater risk of death at 32% was reported. Of note, the coagulation markers were significantly greater in the  $\delta$  phenotype compared to the others. These findings suggest a tight connection between DIC and AKI, and their association with poorer outcomes in sepsis.

Regarding the etiology of sepsis-associated AKI, Peerapornratana et al.<sup>7)</sup> described three major factors: microvascular dysfunction, inflammation, and metabolic reprogramming. In addition to those mechanisms, we think the microclots formed by the neutrophils and platelets (immunothrombus) play a pivotal role. Microclot-mediated tissue malcirculation is a common scenario in other organ dysfunctions<sup>8)</sup>; however, the kidney can be more significantly affected due to its anatomical nature during DIC. The renal tubular cell is generally considered the primary target of injury in sepsis. It is known that tubular cell-specific biomarkers such as neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) and kidney injury molecule 1 (KIM-1) elevate as the increased damage to the kidney<sup>9)</sup>. However, Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) is recognized to be a standard scale for evaluating AKI in sepsis, and the urine output and serum creatinine level, which consists KDIGO scale, were primarily determined by the volume of glomerular filtration. In a rat model of sepsis-associated DIC, we observed that the glomerular capillaries are filled with adhered neutrophils, and the blood flow was significantly reduced (Figure 1). The unique structure of the renal circulation is characterized

by the presence of a glomerular capillary between the afferent and efferent arterioles, ultimately supplying the blood flow to the renal tubular system. When microthrombi are formed in the glomerular capillary, not only the glomerular filtration but the renal tubular system is also disturbed <sup>10, 11</sup>. AKI in sepsis encompasses two subtypes i.e., glomerular damage-predominant type and tubular cell damagepredominant type, and DIC is more likely to be associated with the former type. We assume dividing AKI into subtypes may help in planning therapeutic strategy.

In summary, AKI is a common complication in sepsis, and severe AKI frequently appears when the patients are complicated by DIC. Since severe AKI is tightly associated with high mortality, it is crucial to understand the pathomechanism. The development of AKI is owing to its unique vascular structure, and immunothrombus plays a major role in the pathogenesis.

### Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

#### Funding

No funding was received.

### Author contributions

ML and TI wrote and reviewed the manuscript. Both authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

### References

- Taylor FB Jr, Toh CH, Hoots WK, Wada H, Levi M: Towards definition, clinical and laboratory criteria, and a scoring system for disseminated intravascular coagulation. Thromb Haemost, 2001; 86: 1327–1330.
- Iba T, Helms J, Levi M, Levy JH: Thromboinflammation in acute injury: infections, heatstroke, and trauma. J Thromb Haemost, 2024; 22: 7–22.
- 3) Iba T, Helms J, Connors JM, Levy JH: The pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management of sepsis-associated disseminated intravascular coagulation. J Intensive Care, 2023; 11: 24.
- 4) White KC, Serpa-Neto A, Hurford R, *et al*: Sepsis-associated acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit: incidence, patient characteristics, timing, trajectory, treatment, and associated outcomes. A multicenter, observational study. Intensive Care Med, 2023; 49: 1079-1089.
- 5) Helms J, Merdji H, Loewert S, *et al*: Disseminated intravascular coagulation is strongly associated with severe acute kidney injury in patients with septic shock. Ann Intensive Care, 2023; 13: 119.
- Seymour CW, Kennedy JN, Wang S, *et al*: Derivation, Validation, and Potential Treatment Implications of Novel Clinical Phenotypes for Sepsis. JAMA, 2019; 321: 2003–2017.
- 7) Peerapornratana S, Manrique-Caballero CL, Gómez H, Kellum JA: Acute kidney injury from sepsis: current concepts, epidemiology, pathophysiology, prevention and treatment. Kidney Int, 2019; 96: 1083-1099.
- Iba T, Levi M, Levy JH: Intracellular communication and immunothrombosis in sepsis. J Thromb Haemost, 2022; 20: 2475-2484.
- 9) Stanski NL, Rodrigues CE, Strader M, Murray PT, Endre ZH, Bagshaw SM: Precision management of acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit: current state of the art. Intensive Care Med, 2023; 49: 1049-1061.
- 10) De Backer D, Donadello K, Taccone FS, Ospina-Tascon G, Salgado D, Vincent JL: Microcirculatory alterations: potential mechanisms and implications for therapy. Ann Intensive Care, 2011; 1: 27.
- Verma SK, Molitoris BA: Renal endothelial injury and microvascular dysfunction in acute kidney injury. Semin Nephrol, 2015; 35: 96–107.

**Original** Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70 (1), 29–43



## Effectiveness of Nutritional Guidance Focusing on Leucine Intake During Cardiac Rehabilitation Maintenance

SAKI KAWAKUBO<sup>1)</sup>, KOSUKE FUKAO<sup>1, 2)</sup>, YUKI SOMEYA<sup>1)</sup>, JUNYA NISHIMURA<sup>3)</sup>, MAYUMI DOI<sup>3)</sup>, YUSEI SATO<sup>3)</sup>, MIHO YOKOYAMA<sup>2, 3)</sup>, MINORU TABATA<sup>4)</sup>, TOHRU MINAMINO<sup>2)</sup>, HISASHI NAITO<sup>1)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Graduate School of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan

<sup>2)</sup>Department of Cardiovascular Biology and Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>3)</sup>Cardiovascular Rehabilitation and Fitness, Juntendo University Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>4)</sup>Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

*Objective*: Due to the lack of information on the effects of nutritional guidance focused on leucine intake in patients undergoing maintenance cardiac rehabilitation, this study investigated on plasma leucine concentrations, lean body mass, and muscle strength. *Methods*: Nutritional guidance, focused on leucine (intervention group) or general nutritional guidance (control group), was provided for six months to patients participating in cardiac rehabilitation. Body composition, grip strength, hematological test results, and diet of both groups were compared before and after the intervention.

**Results**: Seven patients in the intervention group ( $53.2 \pm 18.2$  years) and 7 patients in the control group ( $58.6 \pm 15.3$  years) were included. Dietary survey results showed that the six-month intervention significantly (p < 0.05) increased protein intake and estimated leucine intake only in the intervention group. There was no significant difference in the rate of change in plasma leucine concentration between the two groups. The rate of change in lean body mass was significantly higher in the intervention group (p = 0.035). The rate of change in plasma leucine concentration and that in lean body mass was positively correlated only in the intervention group (r = 0.777, p = 0.040), and the rate of change in plasma leucine concentration was also positively correlated with the rate of change in grip strength ( $\rho = 0.857$ , p = 0.014).

*Conclusions*: In the patients undergoing maintenance cardiac rehabilitation, increased plasma leucine concentration by nutritional guidance focused on leucine increased lean body mass without any increasing the training load.

Key words: leucine, amino acid, nutrition guidance, lean body mass, grip strength

#### Introduction

Patients with cardiac disease tend to have a low lean body mass and reduced muscle strength<sup>1)</sup>. Loss of lean body mass and muscle strength can reduce the quality of life of patients with heart disease<sup>2)</sup>, and can worsen heart failure<sup>3)</sup> and cardiac cachexia<sup>4)</sup> particularly in older patients. For this reason, it has recently been recommended that exercise therapy in cardiac rehabilitation includes not only aerobic exercise to increase exercise tolerance, but also strength training to maintain and increase lean body mass<sup>2)</sup>. Studies have reported that adding strength training to aerobic exercise in patients with cardiac disease improves muscle strength and cardiorespiratory fitness more than aerobic exercise alone<sup>5,6)</sup>.

However, for patients with heart disease, it's difficult to set an exercise load produced sufficient exercise effects. Therefore, blood pressure rises

1-1 Hiraka-gakuendai, Inzai-city, Chiba 270-1695, Japan

Corresponding author: Kosuke Fukao

Graduate School of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University

TEL: +81-476-98-1001 FAX: +81-476-98-1001 E-mail: fukao777@juntendo.ac.jp

<sup>[</sup>Received Feb. 21, 2023] [Accepted Oct. 16, 2023]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Dec. 22, 2023

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0008-OA

and falls at excessively increased the exercise load, acute coronary syndromes and fatal arrhythmias might be develop during exercise, even in patients with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction<sup>7</sup>.

On the other hands, it has been reported that nutritional intervention in addition to exercise increased lean body mass more than exercise alone<sup>8)</sup>. Therefore, it is considered that nutritional intervention combined with exercise is effective in increasing lean body mass.

Nutritional guidance is the conventional concept of limiting intake such as salt reduction and fat restriction has recently been replaced by the recommendation of nutritional guidance that adjusts the overall diet by adding appropriate nutrients<sup>9, 10</sup>. For example, nutritional guidance that promotes protein intake may be effective in preventing the loss of lean body mass<sup>11)</sup>. In particular, leucine, an amino acid found in proteins, is the only amino acids that stimulates muscle synthetic pathways<sup>12, 13)</sup>. Therefore, leucine intake is expected to enhance the effects of exercise therapy, especially in patients at risk for sarcopenia. In fact, a study of leucine supplements reported an increase in lean body mass in participants over 50 years of age when they were given leucine supplements in addition to resistance training<sup>14)</sup>. Moreover, older patients undergoing cardiac rehabilitation who consumed a leucine-containing beverage were founded to have increased grip strength, a measure of muscle strength<sup>15)</sup>.

However, no studies have been reported to date examining the effects of nutritional guidance aimed at increasing leucine intake in the daily diet in cardiac rehabilitation patients without relying on dietary supplements. In this study, patients with cardiac disease who participated in maintenance cardiac rehabilitation were provided nutritional guidance focusing on leucine intake over a sixmonth period, and the effects of this guidance on intake, plasma leucine concentration, lean body mass, and muscle strength.

### Materials and Methods

### Study design

This study was a parallel group comparison trial. Patients were stratified by sex, age, and ability to take pictures and operate machines for a long time and assigned to two groups: one receiving leucine– focused nutritional guidance (intervention group), and the other receiving general nutritional guidance that did not focus on leucine (control group). We also assessed the body composition, grip strength, blood test, and diet of all participants before and six months after the intervention.

### Subjects

Nineteen patients who participated in maintenance cardiac rehabilitation at Juntendo University Hospital between February 2021 and January 2022 were included in the study. The selection criteria were patients (1) at least 20 years old, (2) whose medical condition was stable, and (3) who could obtain permission from their primary physician. We excluded patients with (1) hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis, (2) decompensated liver dysfunction such as the liver cirrhosis, (3) dysphagia, (4) those taking amino acid supplements, and (5) those unable to regularly attend outpatient cardiac rehabilitation. This study was conducted in compliance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and with the approval of the Ethics Committee of the Juntendo University Hospital (20-078). Written informed consent was obtained from each participant before the study began. This study has been registered in the Japanese Clinical Trials Registry (UMIN000044069).

### Body composition

Height (cm), weight (kg), and lean body mass (kg) were measured using a height meter and bioelectrical impedance method body composition analyzer (780A, TANITA, Tokyo, Japan).

### Grip strength

Long-term decline in grip strength is associated with worse survival and QOL in patients with heart failure<sup>16)</sup>, and grip strength has also been reported to stratify cardiovascular mortality and cardiovascular disease risk in patients with heart disease<sup>17)</sup>. Furthermore, grip strength is said to reflect the muscle strength of the whole body<sup>7)</sup>, and is also used to diagnose frailty<sup>18)</sup>. Therefore, grip strength was measured using a grip dynamometer (T.K.K. 5001: Takei Scientific Instruments Co., Ltd., Kamo, Japan). Measurements were performed alternately twice on the left and right sides, and the maximum value of each side was evaluated using an average of these values.

### Dietary survey

Due to the proven validity of the three-day dietary survey<sup>19, 20)</sup>, nutrient intakes were assessed using pictures and food records over a three-day period, including holidays. In addition, based on previous study<sup>21)</sup>, participants took pictures of their meals together with a predetermined index (9.0 cm x 5.5 cm paper in this study), and noted the amount and type of drinks consumed excluding water. Moreover, participants were instructed by us not to change their diet from their routine diet for three days and the researchers also confirmed this by interviewing the subjects about their diet. Nutritional value calculation was performed by a registered dietitian other than the researchers using a nutritional value calculation software (Excel Addin Eiyo-plus, KENPAKUSHA Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). A nutritional value calculation software is in line with the Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan 2020 (Eighth Revised Edition)<sup>22)</sup> and Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan 2020 (Eighth Revised Edition)-Amino Acids<sup>23)</sup>.

### Hematological tests

Hematological tests were performed by fasting blood collection. Blood counts and general biochemical tests (hemoglobin (Hb), hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), uric acid (UA), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase  $(\gamma$ -GTP), total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), HDL cholesterol (HDL-C), LDL cholesterol (LDL-C), total protein (TP), albumin (Alb), serum iron, ferritin, C-reactive protein (CRP), cystatin C, estimated glomerular filtration rate (e-GFRcys), N-terminal fragment of human brain natriuretic peptide precursor (NT-pro BNP), and amino acid levels were evaluated. Thirty-nine amino acid results were obtained. Nine essential amino acids (leucine, isoleucine, valine, histidine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, and tryptophan) and eleven non-essential amino acids (serine, asparagine, aspartic acid, glutamine, glutamic acid, glycine, alanine, tyrosine, arginine, cysteine, and proline) were evaluated in the results. The values for branched-chain amino acids (BCAA: leucine, isoleucine, and valine) and essential amino acids (EAA) were also calculated.

Blood counts and general biochemical tests other than amino acid analysis were performed in an in-house clinical laboratory, and amino acid analysis was performed in a clinical laboratory (SRL, Inc., Tokyo, Japan) using liquid chromatographymass spectrometry.

### Nutritional guidance

The intervention group received nutritional guidance at least twice a month, using materials prepared by the researcher, a registered dietitian, with reference to the Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan 2020 (Eighth Revised Edition) - Amino Acids<sup>23)</sup>. In addition, the frequency of nutritional guidance was set in consideration previous study<sup>24)</sup> and insurance coverage of nutritional guidance in Japan. In the first nutritional guidance session, we explained the proper intake of EAA (especially leucine) and presented the recommended foods (meat, fish, eggs, soy, and dairy products)<sup>25)</sup> for the intake of EAA using materials, while instructing the participants to actively consume them. Specifically, we encouraged the consumption of meat with low fat content and fish with high leucine content per gram of protein, including salmon, mackerel, and tuna. In addition, soy and dairy product consumption was encouraged according to dietary balance and renal function. Before the intervention and six months after the intervention, a questionnaire was used to evaluate the frequency and quantity of meat, fish, eggs, soy, and dairy products consumed and to enable participants to reflect on their diet. During the intervention period, the participants were instructed to take pictures of their meals daily during the first three months and at least three days per week after three months, and to report their diet to the registered dietitian.

The control group received standard nutritional guidance based on the Guidelines for Rehabilitation in Cardiovascular Disease<sup>2, 26)</sup>.

### Cardiac rehabilitation

During the intervention period, both groups participated in weekly cardiac rehabilitation (an exercise program) at a specialized cardiac rehabilitation facility. Prior to implementing the exercise program, vital signs were checked, and the program was implemented only if the patient was deemed able to exercise. The exercise program consisted of a warm-up, including stretching, followed by 15 to 20 minutes of aerobic exercise (including various combinations of walking, bicycling, and jogging) and approximately 10 to 15 minutes of light isotonic exercise (including arm curls, shoulder presses and push-ups) and moderate rest, followed by stretching and exercises as a cool-down, for a total of 60 minutes. Aerobic exercise was performed at an intensity equivalent to the anaerobic threshold (AT) measured in the cardiopulmonary exercise stress test or subjective exercise intensity.

### Statistical analysis

After testing for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test, comparisons were made between groups using Fisher's exact test for sex, disease, and medication status before intervention, and using an unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for age, body composition, blood pressure, and left heart ejection fraction, and the participation rate of cardiac rehabilitation, depending on whether the date were normally distributed. The participation rate of cardiac rehabilitation was calculated as  $100 \times$  the number of sessions actually participated / the number of rehabilitation sessions held. Withingroup comparisons between pre-intervention and six months post-intervention were calculated using a paired t-test. In addition, comparisons of each group before and six months after the intervention were analyzed using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA to identify interactions with and without intervention (group) and before and after intervention (period). In addition, we calculated the percentage change from baseline (pre) in order to variation of change between individuals. The difference between the two groups in the percentage change  $(\Delta)$  was subjected to an unpaired t-test. Furthermore, the association between the rate of change in plasma leucine concentration, lean body mass, and grip strength was confirmed using Pearson's correlation coefficient or Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, depending on whether the data were normally distributed. Descriptive statistics are presented as mean ± standard deviation, and the significance level was set at p < 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 28 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).

### Results

A total of 14 patients in both groups (7 in the intervention group:  $53.2 \pm 18.2$  years, 7 in the control

group:  $58.6 \pm 15.3$  years) were included (Figure 1), excluding the patient who was hospitalized due to dehydration without exacerbating heart failure, 2 patients who participated significantly less in nutritional guidance and exercise therapy, and 2 patients who were unable to measure multiple items.

The characteristics of all the analyzed subjects are shown in Table 1. There were no significant differences in the physical characteristics between the two groups. There was also no significant difference in diseases subject to cardiac rehabilitation between the two groups, nor was there a significant difference in left ventricular ejection fraction, a measure of cardiac function. Regarding medication status, two patients in the intervention group were taking diuretics before the intervention, but one of them finished one month after the intervention, and the other reduced the dose immediately after the start of this study. There was no difference between the two groups in  $\beta$ -blocker use or other medications.

### Participation rate of cardiac rehabilitation

The average participation rate for cardiac rehabilitation was 83.9 % in the intervention group and 90.5 % in the control group, with no significant differences between the two groups.

### Nutrient intake

The weight-adjusted nutrient intakes before and six months after the intervention are shown in Table 2. Only in the intervention group, protein intake increased significantly from  $1.00 \pm 0.16$  g/kg to  $1.32 \pm 0.31$  g/kg after six months compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.003), and confirmed the interaction effect (p = 0.002). Estimated leucine intake also increased significantly from  $70.58 \pm 16.83$ mg/kg to  $94.85 \pm 26.78$  mg/kg after six months compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.004), indicated an interaction effect (p = 0.005). Regarding lipid content, only the intervention group showed a significant increase after six months compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.045), but there was no interaction between the two groups. In the control group, there were no changes in protein, estimated leucine intake, or lipid intake. Energy and carbohydrate content did not change significantly between the two groups. In terms of food intake, meat intake increased significantly in the intervention group



Figure 1 Flowchart of this study

after six months compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.033). The intakes of fish, eggs, soy, and dairy products did not change during the intervention period in either group, and no interaction effects were observed.

### Hematological tests

There were no significant differences in the plasma amino acid concentrations between the two

groups prior to the intervention. No significant differences were found between the two groups in other blood collection parameters before the intervention. Six months after the intervention, the plasma concentrations of amino acids (EAA, BCAA, and leucine) were not statistically different, and there was no interaction effect, although the values of EAA, BCAA, and leucine were higher in the intervention group (Supplement 1). The rate of

Table 1         Characteristics of the subject				
	Control group $(n=7)$	Intervention group (n=7)	Р	
Age: Years	$58.6 \pm 15.3$	$53.0 \pm 18.2$	0.559	
Height: cm	$165.7 \pm 7.4$	$162.3 \pm 6.4$	0.374	
Weight: kg	$74.2 \pm 14.0$	$66.9 \pm 13.1$	0.334	
BMI: kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$27.0 \pm 4.6$	$25.5 \pm 5.2$	0.576	
Systolic blood pressure: mmHg	$122.3 \pm 15.0$	$116.3 \pm 19.6$	0.532	
Diastolic pressure: mmHg	$78.7 \pm 20.3$	$76.6 \pm 10.3$	0.565	
left ventricular ejection fraction: %	$64.6 \pm 6.1$	$64.4 \pm 11.3$	0.388	
Disease				
Angina pectoris	2	2	1.000	
Myocardial infarction	1	2	1.000	
Chronic heart failure	1	1	1.000	
Auricular fibrillation	1	0	1.000	
Postoperative valvular heart disease	2	1	1.000	
Postoperative ascending aorta replacement	0	1	1.000	
Postoperative congenital heart disease	0	1	1.000	
Medication				
Antihypertensive drugs	7	6	1.000	
Diuretics	0	2	0.462	
Antithrombotic drugs	7	4	0.192	
Cardiotonic drugs	1	0	1.000	
Drugs for dyslipidemia	6	5	1.000	
Diabetes medications	2	0	0.462	
Hyperuricemia drugs	1	1	1.000	
Amino acid concentration in the plasma				
EAA: nmol / mL	$1070.3 \pm 127.6$	$1020.6 \pm 123.8$	0.474	
BCAA: nmol / mL	$494.4 \pm 70.2$	$462.3 \pm 80.7$	0.443	
Leucine: nmol/mL	$148.2 \pm 22.3$	$138.2 \pm 26.7$	0.464	

Mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or Number of cases (the number of people)

The p-value was calculated using Fisher's exact test for categorical variables for and t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables.

Diseases were included for all applicable diseases.

BMI; Body Mass Index, BCAA; Branched-chain amino acids, EAA; essential amino acids.

change in EAA, BCAA, and leucine levels  $(100 \times \text{results after 6 months/results before intervention-100})$  also increased in the intervention group, but no significant difference was observed (Figure 2). On the other hand, histidine showed only significant change among intervention duration (p = 0.002, Supplement 1). However, only in the intervention group, histidine concentration significantly increased from  $31.40 \pm 39.18 \text{ nmol/mL}$  to  $79.50 \pm 12.66 \text{ nmol/}$  mL after 6 months compared to before intervention (p = 0.008). There were no significant differences between the two groups before and after intervention.

34

tion for cystatin C and estimated glomerular filtration rate (e-GFRcys), human brain natriuretic peptide precursor N-terminal fragment (NT-pro BNP), and lifestyle-related parameters (HbA1c, UA, LDL-C, HDL-C, and TG) (Supplement 2).

### Body composition and grip strength

Body weight changed from  $73.3 \pm 7.3$  kg to  $72.9 \pm 7.0$  kg and grip strength changed from  $28.7 \pm 6.8$  kg to  $30.5 \pm 7.3$  kg in the intervention group, but there was no significant change in either group before and after the intervention. However, only in the
Table 2	Results of dietary survey	
		_

	Contro	l group (n=7)		Interven	tion group (n=	7)	Intervention	Carrier	Testamostice
	Before the intervention	After 6 months	<i>p</i> *	Before the intervention	After 6 months	<i>þ</i> *	Duration \$\psi ^#\$	b <sup>#</sup>	p <sup>#</sup>
Energy/ Weight (kcal/kg)	$25.12 \pm 4.96$	$25.17 \pm 4.05$	0.970	$23.72 \pm 4.47$	$26.10 \pm 5.39$	0.143	0.278	0.919	0.301
Carbohydrate content/ Weight (g/kg)	$2.97 \pm 0.77$	$2.98 \pm 0.53$	0.941	$3.14 \pm 0.95$	$3.14 \pm 0.81$	0.984	0.947	0.648	0.970
Fat content/Weight (g/kg)	$0.95 \pm 0.29$	$0.91 \pm 0.23$	0.667	$0.84 \pm 0.18$	$1.03 \pm 0.22$	0.045	0.229	0.982	0.083
Protein content/ Weight (g/kg)	$1.10 \pm 0.18$	$0.94 \pm 0.18$	0.097	$1.00 \pm 0.16$	$1.32 \pm 0.31$	0.003	0.186	0.169	0.002
Estimated leucine content/ Weight (mg/kg)	78.24 ± 21.89	$70.09 \pm 14.07$	0.251	$70.58 \pm 16.83$	94.85 ± 26.78	0.004	0.117	0.402	0.005
Protein mass by food grou	1p								
Seafood intake/ Weight (g/kg)	$1.20 \pm 0.45$	$1.08 \pm 0.62$	0.525	$0.80 \pm 0.48$	$1.20 \pm 0.10$	0.050	0.304	0.531	0.069
Meat intake/ Weight (g/kg)	$1.10 \pm 0.46$	$0.95 \pm 0.32$	0.633	$1.24 \pm 0.60$	$1.97 \pm 1.22$	0.033	0.201	0.102	0.063
Egg intake/Weight (g/kg)	$0.64 \pm 0.50$	$0.72 \pm 0.30$	0.627	$0.63 \pm 0.32$	$0.94 \pm 0.47$	0.071	0.105	0.591	0.316
Soy product intake/ Weight(g/kg)	$1.83 \pm 1.30$	$0.57 \pm 0.66$	0.117	$0.60 \pm 0.45$	$1.81 \pm 2.30$	0.718	0.964	0.994	0.032
Dairy product intake/ Weight(g/kg)	$1.70 \pm 1.62$	$1.69 \pm 0.73$	0.972	$1.80 \pm 1.05$	$2.34 \pm 1.90$	0.321	0.493	0.579	0.464

Mean ± standard deviation

\*The p-value for within-group comparison was calculated using a paired t-test.

#The p-value between groups was calculated using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA.

Interactions were assessed by the duration of intervention × groups.

intervention group, lean body mass increased significantly from  $47.3 \pm 8.5$  kg to  $48.0 \pm 8.6$  kg after six months compared to pre-intervention (p = 0.033) and confirmed an interaction effect (p = 0.033). In the control group, there were no changes in lean body mass (Supplement 3). In addition, the rate of change in lean body mass was significantly higher in the intervention group compared to the control group (p = 0.035, Figure 3).

## Plasma leucine concentration, lean body mass, and rate of change in grip strength

The rate of change in plasma leucine concentration and the that in lean body mass were positively correlated only in the intervention group (r = 0.777, p = 0.040, Figure 4). In the intervention group, the rate of change in plasma leucine concentration was also positively correlated with the rate of change in grip strength ( $\rho$  = 0.857, p = 0.014, Figure 4).

#### Discussion

This is the first study to show that nutritional guidance focused on leucine over a six-month period in patients undergoing maintenance cardiac rehabilitation may increase lean body mass. In addition, these results are also considered important in that they are the first research findings in nutritional guidance.

A previous study reported that skeletal muscle index and grip strength improved after eight weeks of intervention in a group of older poststroke patients who received a high leucine-containing amino acid supplement in addition to rehabilitation, compared to a group that received only rehabilitation<sup>27)</sup>. Furthermore, it has been reported that in older patients with sarcopenia, 13 weeks of supplementation with leucine, vitamin D, and other nutrients resulted in a significant increase in lean body mass compared with placebo intake<sup>28)</sup>. While



Figure 2 Rate of change in plasma concentrations of EAA, BCAA, leucine

The rate of change was calculated as  $100 \times$  results after six months/results before intervention-100.

BCAA; Branched-chain amino acids, EAA; essential amino acids.

The p-value was calculated using an unpaired t-test.

previous studies have suggested the potential for increased lean body mass and improved muscle strength with leucine supplementation, this study revealed that similar effects may occur with nutritional guidance focused on leucine when it comes to



Figure 3 Rate of change in lean body mass The rate of change was calculated as 100 × results after six months/results before intervention-100. The p-value was calculated using an unpaired t-test.

increasing lean body mass.

On the other hands, no significant changes in grip strength observed as a result of the intervention. However, grip strength increased by approximately 6.3% in the intervention group and 2.6% in the control group after the intervention compared to before the intervention, with the difference being greater in the intervention group. This study had a small number of subjects. Therefore, it is likely that grip strength in the intervention group increased numerically after the intervention compared to the control group, but no difference in the overall average value. Furthermore, it is possible that there were individual differences in results, as some subjects in the intervention group showed a significant improvement in grip strength results after the intervention, while others showed a slight decrease. This may also be relevant to the results of this study.

The results of this study showed that nutritional guidance focusing on leucine increased plasma leucine concentrations in 5 of the 7 patients. Among them, those with the largest increases not only increased lean body mass, but also improved grip strength (Figure 4, Supplement 4). Three patients were able to significantly increase plasma leucine concentrations: case A: Before the intervention, a 22-year-old male's diet consisted of bread and yogurt for breakfast, single dishes such as rice balls and sandwiches for lunch, and an assortment of staples, main dishes, and side dishes for dinner,



Figure 4 Plasma leucine concentration, lean body mass, and rate of change in grip strength The rate of change was calculated as 100 × results after six months/results before intervention-100. The p-value was calculated using the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient or Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. a: Five of 7 participants in the intervention group had elevated plasma leucine concentrations and increased lean body mass after the intervention. Conversely, one out of seven control patients had elevated plasma leucine concentrations and lean body mass after the intervention. In addition, only the intervention group showed a significant positive correlation between plasma leucine concentration and rate of change in lean body mass.

b: Four of 7 patients in the intervention group had elevated plasma leucine concentrations and increased grip strength after the intervention. Conversely, in the control group, two out of seven patients had increased plasma leucine levels and lean body after the intervention. In addition, there was a significant positive correlation between the plasma leucine concentration and the rate of change in grip strength only in the intervention group.

with lunch being particularly simple. After the intervention, he began to consume more meat and fish at lunch and added soy products to dinner in addition to increasing meat and fish intake. The person in the upper right corner of the intervention group in Figures 4a and 4b is case A. Case B: Before the intervention, a 38-year-old man often ate granola with milk for breakfast, products such as commercial curry and vegetable dishes such as salads for lunch, and staple foods, main dishes, and side dishes for dinner. After the intervention, he added chicken tender and yogurt to breakfast, began consuming meat and fish at lunch, and increased meat and fish intake at dinner. Case C: Before the intervention, a 66-year-old woman consumed a well-balanced diet of staple foods, main dishes, and side dishes at home, but the amount was small overall, and she ate whatever she liked when eating out. After the intervention, she was able to regulate the amount of food eaten at home and choose when eating out. Three patients had been particularly concerned about eating meat and fish before this study. It has also been reported that animal protein is an efficient source of leucine<sup>25)</sup>. In fact, two of three patients listed above increased their meat and fish intake after the intervention, while the other one did not increase after the intervention as fish intake was already secure to begin with, but meat intake did increase. Moreover, the increase in intake of protein-sourced foods in the three participants was greater than in the others, and their diets remained stable throughout the study period. Therefore, establishing a diet that increases intake of protein-sourced foods, especially animal protein, may contribute to increased lean body mass and improved grip strength.

However, despite these changes, increasing dietary leucine intake did not significantly increase plasma leucine concentrations in the intervention group. Plasma leucine concentrations have been reported to be maintained longer with higher leucine intake<sup>29)</sup>. On the other hands, relationships with lipids in the diet<sup>30)</sup>, relationships with dietary fiber<sup>31)</sup>, relationships with dietary forms<sup>32)</sup>, and relationships with lean body mass have also been reported<sup>32)</sup>. Therefore, it is expected that an increase in leucine intake would lead to an increase in plasma leucine concentrations, but there may be variability.

Furthermore, another reason why the plasma

leucine concentration did not rise much after the intervention may be that the plasma leucine concentration before the intervention was not low in the intervention group. Although few studies have examined blood amino acid concentrations in Japanese patients with heart disease, it has been reported that the mean blood leucine concentration was 119.6 nmol/L in older patients with heart disease (mean age:  $73.1 \pm 9.4$  years, mean BMI: 22.9  $\pm 3.2 \text{ kg/m2}$ )<sup>33)</sup> and 125.8  $\pm 22.7 \text{ nmol/L}$  in patients with heart failure with frailty (mean age:  $68 \pm 12$ years, mean BMI:  $22.4 \pm 4.7 \text{ kg/m}^{2}$  Ma patients without cardiac disease, blood leucine levels were reported to be 140.1 nmol/L in patients with hypertension and other diseases (mean age:  $69.1 \pm 9.4$ years, mean BMI:  $24.4 \pm 3.4 \text{ kg/m2}$ )<sup>33)</sup>, and in persons of similar age and body size as in this study (mean age:  $57.0 \pm 0.6$  years, mean BMI: 27.6 kg/m2) reported  $135.5 \pm 1.2 \text{ nmol/L}^{35)}$ . Although there are differences in blood leucine concentration to previous studies, the mean pre-intervention blood leucine concentration of the patients in this study (mean age  $53.0 \pm 18.2$  years, mean BMI:  $25.5 \pm 5.2$  kg/m2), was  $138.2 \pm 26.7$  nmol/L in the intervention group, suggesting that their blood leucine concentrations were not low. The participants in this study had a high BMI and a tendency to overeat before this study, which also likely ensured that they had some leucine intake on a daily basis. This may also have been influenced by the fact that the patients received nutritional guidance during their hospitalization (either during acute or convalescent cardiac rehabilitation) and were less likely to have extreme bias in their diets. Therefore, post-intervention increases in plasma leucine concentrations may have been limited. On the other hand, in these patients, plasma leucine concentrations not only did not increase but also did not decrease after the intervention. Nutritional guidance focusing on leucine intake may have improved the efficiency of leucine intake. Therefore, even if there was a tendency to overeat before the intervention, the efficient intake of leucine would not have led to a reduction, if not an increase, in plasma leucine concentrations after the intervention.

In addition, although no change was observed in plasma leucine concentration, plasma histidine concentrations increased over time in the intervention group. Participants in the intervention group were increased their intake of soy products, which are said to contain antioxidants<sup>36)</sup>, after the intervention compared to before the intervention. The previous studies have reported a negative correlation between the amount of oxygen peroxide, a type of oxidative stress, and blood concentrations of histidine, which is also thought to inhibit oxidation<sup>37)</sup>. Therefore, it is possible that the intake increasing soya products affected increasing plasma histidine concentrations.

This study has several limitations. First, owing to the small number of examinees, it is necessary to consider generalization. However, by providing careful nutritional guidance to the intervention group, we were able to reduce the number of dropouts during the six-month intervention trial. Second, the measurement conditions in this study were not unified. In the future, it will be necessary to standardize the amount of physical activity and meal intake time during rehabilitation at hospitals. Third, participants were provided nutritional guidance using pictures of meals three days, not a daily, a week. Moreover, nutritional guidance in this study was provided at least twice a month, not daily. Although these aspects are generally practiced within the Japanese insurance coverage which effectiveness is well known, in clinical setting, it would be usually discussed about whether the patient complies about meals on other days and whether more frequency of nutritional guidance is more effective. On the other hand, the fact that some patients could change their behavior with nutritional guidance only focusing on content of diet despite such restriction of Japanese insurance system is clinically very important in aspect of patient's behavioral change. Therefore, we would like to consider increasing the number of days for dietary surveys and frequency of nutrition guidance in the future. Finally, in this study, all participants were outpatients and some of them had normal fitness and muscle strength. Therefore, it may have been difficult to generate differences in strength result in leucine intake alone in all participants in this study. The effects of leucine supplementation on muscle strength have been reported, but much of the research has focused on people with low muscle strength<sup>27, 38)</sup>. In the future, approaches to leucine intake should be considered for patients with a maintained ejection fraction who have some fitness and muscle strength, while considering rehabilitation menus.

## Conclusions

In the patients undergoing maintenance cardiac rehabilitation, increased plasma leucine concentration by nutritional guidance focused on leucine increased lean body mass without any increasing the training load.

## Acknowledgments

We thank all subjects who participated in the study and the medical staff who supported them.

## Funding

This study was supported by the Joint Research Program (grant number 1412425), the Faculty of Health and Sports Science, and the Institute of Health and Sports Science & Medicine, Juntendo University.

## Author contribution

FK provided their knowledge of sports medicine and revising it critically for important intellectual content. YS provided knowledge of statistical analysis. JN, MD and YS provided cardiac rehabilitation and obtained data acquisition. MY, MT and TM provided knowledge of cardiology. HN provided revising it critically for important intellectual content. KS conceived the original research idea and drafted the manuscript, and provided nutrition guidance and data acquisition and statistical analysis. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

## References

- Pacifico J, Geerlings MAJ, Reijnierse EM, Phassouliotis C, Lim WK, Maier AB: Prevalence of sarcopenia as a comorbid disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Exp Gerontol, 2020; 131: 110801.
- 2) The Japanese Circulation Society, The Japanese Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation: Guidelines for Rehabilitation in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease (JCS 2012). https://www.jacr.jp/pdf/RH\_JCS2012\_nohara\_h\_2015.01.14.pdf (Accessed Dec. 15, 2022)
- 3) Fülster S, Tacke M, Sandek A, *et al*: Muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure: results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF). Eur Heart J, 2013; 34: 512–519.

- Suzuki T, Palus S, Springer J: Skeletal muscle wasting in chronic heart failure. ESC Heart Fail, 2018; 5: 1099– 1107.
- 5) Hollings M, Mavros Y, Freeston J, Singh MF: The effect of progressive resistance training on aerobic fitness and strength in adults with coronary heart disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Eur J Prev Cardiol, 2017; 24: 1242– 1259.
- Khadanga S, Savage PD, Ades PA: Resistance Training for Older Adults in Cardiac Rehabilitation. Clin Geriatr Med, 2019; 35: 459–468.
- 7) The Japanese Circulation Society, The Japanese Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation: JCS/JACR 2021 Guideline on Rehabilitation in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease (2021). https://www.jacr.jp/cms/wp-content/ uploads/2015/04/JCS2021\_Makita2.pdf (Accessed Jul. 5, 2023)
- 8) Baba M, Suzaki E, Taira K, Ito Y, Kachi H, Okada A: Effect of collagen peptides on skeletal muscle mass in the elderly: An interventional study examining oral nutrition support for patients in a recovery-phase rehabilitation ward. Nihon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi, 2020; 57: 291-299. (in Japanese)
- 9) Koponen S, Nykänen I, Savela RM, Välimäki T, Suominen AL, Schwab U: Individually tailored nutritional guidance improved dietary intake of older family caregivers: a randomized controlled trial. Eur J Nutr, 2022; 61: 3585–3596.
- 10) Jyväkorpi SK, Ramel A, Strandberg TE, *et al*: The sarcopenia and physical frailty in older people: multicomponent treatment strategies (SPRINTT) project: description and feasibility of a nutrition intervention in community-dwelling older Europeans. Eur Geriatr Med, 2021; 12: 303–312.
- 11) Deutz NEP, Bauer JM, Barazzoni R, *et al*: Protein intake and exercise for optimal muscle function with aging: recommendations from the ESPEN Expert Group. Clin Nutr, 2014; 33: 929–936.
- 12) Phillips SM: The impact of protein quality on the promotion of resistance exercise-induced changes in muscle mass. Nutr Metab (Lond), 2016; 13: 64.
- 13) Fujita S, Dreyer HC, Drummond MJ, *et al*: Nutrient signalling in the regulation of human muscle protein synthesis. J Physiol, 2007; 582: 813–823.
- 14) Oh GS, Lee JH, Byun K, Kim DI, Park KD: Effect of Intake of Leucine-Rich Protein Supplement in Parallel with Resistance Exercise on the Body Composition and Function of Healthy Adults. Nutrients, 2022; 14: 4501.
- 15) Hotta K, Taniguchi R, Nakayama H, Yamaguchi F, Sato Y: The Effects of an Oral Nutritional Supplement with Whey Peptides and Branched-Chain Amino Acids for Cardiac Rehabilitation of Patients with Chronic Heart Failure. Int Heart J, 2021; 62: 1342–1347.
- 16) Dai KZ, Laber EB, Chen H, Mentz RJ, Malhotra C: Hand Grip Strength Predicts Mortality and Quality of Life in Heart Failure: Insights From the Singapore Cohort of Patients With Advanced Heart Failure. J Card Fail, 2023; 29: 911–918.
- 17) Leong DP, Teo KK, Rangarajan S, *et al*: Prognostic value of grip strength: findings from the Prospective Urban Rural Epidemiology (PURE) study. Lancet, 2015; 386: 266–273.
- 18) Morley JE, Vellas B, Kan GAV, et al: Frailty consensus:

a call to action. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2013; 14: 392-397.

- 19) Tokudome Y, Imaeda N, Nagaya T, *et al*: Daily, weekly, seasonal, within- and between-individual variation in nutrient intake according to four season consecutive 7 day weighed diet records in Japanese female dietitians. J Epidemiol, 2002; 12: 85–92.
- 20) Murakami Y, Oshikata R, Miyamoto N, *et al*: Validity of 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4-day Dietary Records in Comparison with 7-day Weighed Dietary Records. Health evaluation and promotion, 2010; 37: 21-29. (in Japanese)
- 21) Suzuki A, Miyauchi A, Hattori I, *et al*: Inter-observer agreement and validity of photographic dietary assessment. Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi, 2002; 48: 749–758. (in Japanese)
- 22) Science and Technology Agency & the Government of Japan: Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan 2020 (Eighth Revised Edition). https://www.mext. go.jp/a\_menu/syokuhinseibun/mext\_01110.html (Accessed Apr. 23, 2023)
- 23) Science and Technology Agency & the Government of Japan: Standard Tables of Food Composition in Japan 2020 (Eighth Revised Edition) - Amino Acids. https:// www.mext.go.jp/a\_menu/syokuhinseibun/mext\_01110. html (Accessed Nov. 15, 2022)
- 24) Rondanelli M, Nichetti M, Peroni G, *et al*: Where to find leucine in food and how to feed elderly with sarcopenia in order to counteract loss of muscle mass: Practical Advice. Front Nutr, 2021; 7: 622391.
- 25) Morrison F, Shubina M, Turchin A: Encounter frequency and serum glucose level, blood pressure, and cholesterol level control in patients with diabetes mellitus. Arch Intern Med, 2011; 171: 1542–1550.
- 26) The Japanese Society of Hypertension: Guidelines for the management of hypertension 2019. https://www. jpnsh.jp/data/jsh2019/JSH2019\_noprint.pdf (Accessed Apr. 23, 2023)
- 27) Yoshimura Y, Bise T, Shimazu S, *et al*: Effects of a leucine-enriched amino acid supplement on muscle mass, muscle strength, and physical function in poststroke patients with sarcopenia: A randomized controlled trial. Nutrition, 2019; 58: 1–6.
- 28) Dillon EL, Sheffield-Moore M, Paddon-Jones D, et al: Amino acid supplementation increases lean body mass, basal muscle protein synthesis, and insulin-like growth factor-I expression in older women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2009; 94: 1630–1637.
- 29) Chanet A, Verlaan A, Salles J, et al: Supplementing Breakfast with a Vitamin D and Leucine-Enriched Whey Protein Medical Nutrition Drink Enhances Postprandial Muscle Protein Synthesis and Muscle Mass in Healthy Older Men. J Nutr, 2017; 147: 2262–2271.
- 30) Frost GS, Brynes AE, Dhillo WS, Bloom SR, McBurney MI: The effects of fiber enrichment of pasta and fat content on gastric emptying, GLP-1, glucose, and insulin responses to a meal. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2003; 57: 293-298.
- Burkitt DP, Walker AR, Painter NS: Dietary fiber and disease. JAMA, 1974; 229: 1068–1074.
- 32) Yoshii N, Sato K, Ogasawara R, Nishimura Y, Shinohara Y, Fujita S: Effect of Mixed Meal and Leucine Intake on Plasma Amino Acid Concentrations in Young Men: Nutrients, 2018; 10: 1543.
- 33) Tsuji S, Koyama S, Taniguchi R, Fujiwara T, Fujiwara H, Sato Y: Nutritional status of outpatients with chronic stable heart failure based on serum amino acid concen-

tration. J Cardiol, 2018; 72: 458-465.

- 34) Morotomi N, Saitoh M, Ishii N, *et al*: Relation between change in exercise capacity and change in blood amino acids in patients with chronic heart failure. J Phys Ther Sci, 2017; 29: 425-431.
- 35) Yamakado M, Tanaka T, Nagao N, *et al*: Plasma amino acid profile is associated with visceral fat accumulation in obese Japanese subjects. Clin Obes, 2012; 2: 29–40.
- 36) Kapiotis S, Hermann M, Held I, Seelos C, Ehringer H, Gmeiner BM: Genistein, the dietary-derived angiogenesis inhibitor, prevents LDL oxidation and protects endothelial cells from damage by atherogenic LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1997; 17: 2868-2874.
- 37) Inoue S, Nagao I, Ishihara K, Kasaoka S, Nakajima S, Iwai H: The Dynamic State of the Concentrations of Copper and Histidine, and the Complex Effects of Histidine and Copper on the Formation of Lipid Peroxidation in Sera of Undernourished Young Women. Nihon Eiseigaku Zasshi, 2004; 59: 395–402. (in Japanese)
- 38) Rondanelli M, Cereda E, Klersy C, *et al*: Improving rehabilitation in sarcopenia: a randomized-controlled trial utilizing a muscle-targeted food for special medical purposes. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle, 2020; 11: 1535–1547.

				*			
	Control gr	oup (n=7)	Intervention	group (n=7)	Intervention	Constant	Testamation
	Before the intervention	After 6 months	Before the intervention	After 6 months	Duration P	P P	P
EAA				·			
Leucine (nmol/mL)	$148.19 \pm 22.33$	$146.07 \pm 26.88$	$138.24 \pm 26.68$	$170.04 \pm 45.34$	0.147	0.623	0.102
Isoleucine (nmol/mL)	$82.34 \pm 17.36$	$75.59 \pm 16.76$	$76.04 \pm 17.71$	$94.17 \pm 28.11$	0.341	0.524	0.051
Valine (nmol/mL)	$263.86 \pm 39.60$	$254.50 \pm 47.50$	$249.03 \pm 38.21$	$303.54 \pm 71.00$	0.190	0.459	0.074
Histidine (nmol/mL)	$46.06 \pm 43.11$	$85.29 \pm 10.08$	$31.40 \pm 39.18$	$79.50 \pm 12.66$	0.002	0.395	0.701
Lysine (nmol/mL)	$194.16 \pm 22.43$	$193.50 \pm 39.40$	$201.63 \pm 43.80$	$229.26 \pm 50.50$	0.112	0.304	0.097
Methionine (nmol/mL)	$29.51 \pm 5.56$	$28.44 \pm 9.26$	$26.27 \pm 3.47$	$35.07 \pm 12.45$	0.153	0.657	0.075
Phenylalanine (nmol/mL)	$72.91 \pm 12.93$	$71.74 \pm 15.25$	$66.91 \pm 15.83$	$80.96 \pm 21.42$	0.099	0.847	0.056
Threonine (nmol/mL)	$137.51 \pm 35.70$	$134.34 \pm 27.96$	$128.70 \pm 18.77$	$145.43 \pm 23.73$	0.419	0.927	0.243
Tryptophan (nmol/mL)	$60.57 \pm 11.10$	$60.83 \pm 13.40$	$58.89 \pm 10.50$	$69.11 \pm 15.25$	0.064	0.609	0.076
NEAA							
Serine (nmol/mL)	$108.71 \pm 19.90$	$115.66 \pm 29.78$	$112.04 \pm 22.48$	$123.26 \pm 30.41$	0.075	0.684	0.654
Asparagine (nmol/mL)	$50.11 \pm 6.35$	$50.79 \pm 10.99$	$45.66 \pm 5.02$	$59.73 \pm 21.55$	0.117	0.625	0.154
Aspartic acid (nmol/mL)	$4.87 \pm 1.15$	$4.73 \pm 0.86$	$5.06 \pm 1.17$	$5.50 \pm 1.94$	0.662	0.465	0.399
Glutamine (nmol/mL)	$535.14 \pm 61.5$	$549.01 \pm 74.00$	$581.46 \pm 68.23$	$568.69 \pm 101.72$	0.956	0.431	0.193
Glutamate (nmol/mL)	$63.40 \pm 12.52$	$63.07 \pm 16.85$	$64.29 \pm 15.37$	$64.44 \pm 17.70$	0.973	0.891	0.922
Alanine (nmol/mL)	$431.76 \pm 93.52$	$426.67 \pm 105.28$	$423.90 \pm 106.67$	$447.56 \pm 88.61$	0.636	0.897	0.467
Tyrosine (nmol/mL)	$73.59 \pm 11.97$	$73.31 \pm 9.08$	$69.37 \pm 11.45$	$87.01 \pm 27.02$	0.104	0.596	0.174
Arginine (nmol/mL)	$83.49 \pm 18.38$	$75.93 \pm 23.89$	$88.76 \pm 14.08$	$98.96 \pm 21.46$	0.853	0.101	0.226
Cysteine (nmol/mL)	$31.87 \pm 4.52$	$31.36 \pm 6.99$	$24.66 \pm 6.54$	$24.43 \pm 9.27$	0.936	0.055	0.835
Glycine (nmol/mL)	$203.06 \pm 42.92$	$219.11 \pm 50.87$	$206.61 \pm 53.39$	$204.24 \pm 57.15$	0.35	0.839	0.215
Proline (nmol/mL)	$239.74 \pm 90.22$	$235.09 \pm 57.52$	$194.26 \pm 35.08$	$213.50 \pm 51.92$	0.614	0.285	0.413
Total BCAA (nmol/mL)	494.39 ± 70.21	476.16 ± 83.21	$462.31 \pm 80.67$	$567.76 \pm 143.72$	0.175	0.505	0.063
Total EAA (nmol/mL)	$1070.29 \pm 127.63$	$1050.30 \pm 152.01$	$1020.60 \pm 123.83$	$1207.09 \pm 246.86$	0.134	0.487	0.069

0 1 1	DI	•	• 1	C*1
Supplement I	Plasma	amino	acid	profile

Mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

The p-value was calculated using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA.

Interactions were assessed by the duration of intervention  $\times$  groups.

EAA; essential amino acids, NEAA; non-essential amino acids, BCAA; branched-chain amino acids.

	Supple	ment 2 Dioou t	est values other	than annio aciu	5		
	Control gr	oup (n=7)	Intervention	group (n=7)	Intervention	Crown	Internation
	Before the intervention	After 6 months	Before the intervention	After 6 months	Duration P	P	P
Hb (g/dL)	$14.56 \pm 1.83$	$14.69 \pm 1.28$	$14.70 \pm 1.34$	$14.29 \pm 1.07$	0.490	0.862	0.201
Cystatin C (mg/L)	$0.96 \pm 0.18$	$0.96 \pm 0.14$	$0.94 \pm 0.08$	$0.90 \pm 0.12$	0.293	0.550	0.214
e-GFRcys (ml/min)	$80.06 \pm 20.11$	$78.09 \pm 15.45$	$79.63 \pm 14.50$	$85.57 \pm 20.73$	0.131	0.737	0.760
HbA1c (%)	$6.01 \pm 0.67$	$6.01 \pm 0.53$	$5.61 \pm 0.29$	$5.69 \pm 0.34$	0.394	0.180	0.394
UA (mg/dL)	$5.54 \pm 1.07$	$5.04 \pm 0.60$	$5.10 \pm 1.38$	$4.84 \pm 1.15$	0.097	0.563	0.574
γ-GTP (U/L)	$35.29 \pm 23.31$	$35.57 \pm 18.35$	$76.29 \pm 90.42$	$67.14 \pm 69.71$	0.436	0.265	0.408
TC (mg/dL)	$176.71 \pm 37.36$	$175.29 \pm 41.77$	$174.57 \pm 47.95$	$163.00 \pm 33.81$	0.188	0.739	0.297
TG (mg/dL)	$132.86 \pm 74.93$	$159.29 \pm 74.47$	$134.29 \pm 38.11$	$141.29 \pm 60.75$	0.219	0.798	0.465
HDL-C (mg/dL)	$58.00 \pm 19.06$	$57.43 \pm 16.34$	$53.86 \pm 9.39$	$52.29 \pm 8.12$	0.584	0.533	0.797
LDL-C (mg/dL)	$89.57 \pm 41.47$	$87.86 \pm 38.55$	$94.43 \pm 46.52$	$84.71 \pm 37.83$	0.186	0.969	0.345
TP (g/dL)	$6.81 \pm 0.28$	$6.93 \pm 0.39$	$7.04 \pm 0.42$	$6.90 \pm 0.13$	0.878	0.515	0.182
Alb (g/dL)	$4.20 \pm 0.26$	$4.26 \pm 0.27$	$4.41 \pm 0.30$	$4.34 \pm 0.14$	0.885	0.249	0.208
NT-pro BNP (pg/mL)	$213.30 \pm 275.72$	$175.21 \pm 200.51$	$69.08 \pm 65.05$	$80.42 \pm 66.48$	0.463	0.260	0.188
Serum iron ( $\mu$ g/dL)	$97.86 \pm 43.20$	$114.43 \pm 64.54$	$82.86 \pm 18.09$	$93.57 \pm 30.65$	0.051	0.430	0.650
Ferritin (ng/mL)	$175.00 \pm 141.50$	$175.14 \pm 150.61$	$220.29 \pm 94.27$	$217.14 \pm 87.50$	0.900	0.508	0.891
CRP (mg/dL)	$0.10\pm0.09$	$0.15 \pm 0.21$	$0.40 \pm 0.71$	$0.10\pm0.13$	0.313	0.461	0.190

Supplement 2 Blood test values other than amino acids

Mean ± standard deviation

The p-value was calculated using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA.

Interactions were assessed by the duration of intervention  $\times$  groups.

Alb; albumin, CRP; C-reactive protein, e-GFRcys; Estimated glomerular filtration rate (cystatin C), Hb; hemoglobin, HbAlc; hemoglobin Alc, HDL-C; HDL cholesterol, LDL-C; LDL cholesterol, NT-pro BNP; Human cerebral natriuretic peptide precursor N-end fragment, TC; Total cholesterol, TG; triglycerides, TP; Total protein, UA; uric acid,  $\gamma$ -GTP;  $\gamma$  glutamyl transpeptidase.

				-		-			
	Contro	ol group (n=7)		Interven	tion group (n=	7)			
	Before the intervention	After 6 months	<i>p</i> *	Before the intervention	After 6 months	<i>p</i> *	Intervention Duration b <sup>#</sup>	Group p <sup>#</sup>	Interaction $p^{\#}$
	Mean $\pm$ SD	Mean $\pm$ SD		Mean $\pm$ SD	Mean $\pm$ SD		1		
Lean body mass (kg)	$53.5 \pm 6.9$	$53.3 \pm 7.2$	0.334	$47.3 \pm 8.5$	$48.0\pm8.6$	0.033	0.343	0.195	0.033
Grip strength (kg)	$34.4 \pm 7.7$	$35.3\pm6.4$	0.442	$28.7 \pm 6.8$	$30.5 \pm 7.3$	0.111	0.101	0.185	0.526

Supplement 3 Results of lean body mass and grip strength

Mean ± standard deviation

\*The p-value for within-group comparison was calculated using a paired t-test.

#The p-value between groups was calculated using a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA.

Interactions were assessed by the duration of intervention  $\times$  groups.

	D, C, Subjects	s with significa		plasifia leucific collecti	tration, and other subje	Cls (Cases D, E, F, U)
	Gender	Age	BMI	Rate of change in plasma leucine concentration (%)	Lean body mass (kg)	Grip strength (kg)
Case A	man	22	17.3	84.3	$41.5 \rightarrow 43.3$	24.5 → 32.8
Case B	man	38	29.2	40	$62.4 \rightarrow 63.9$	36.3 → 39.5
Case C	woman	66	31.2	27.3	42.0 →42.8	22.8 → 24.3
Case D	man	45	22.3	16.8	$47.9 \rightarrow 48.4$	$31.5 \rightarrow 30.5$
Case E	man	68	24.8	-1.5	$55.4 \rightarrow 55.0$	$39.0 \rightarrow 40.0$
Case F	woman	66	22.4	11.1	40.6 → 41.8	$24.3 \rightarrow 24.8$
Case G	woman	66	31.1	-8.3	$41.6 \rightarrow 41.4$	22.8 → 22.0

Supplement 4 Results of plasma leucine concentration, lean body mass, and grip strength in the intervention group (Cases A, B, C, subjects with significantly elevated plasma leucine concentration) and other subjects (Cases D, E, F, G)

The rate of change was calculated as  $100 \times$  results after six months/results before intervention-100.

BMI; Body Mass Index.

**Original Articles** 

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70(1), 44–53



## The Impact of Exercise and Health Management on Workplace Creativity

## YASUYUKI HOCHI<sup>1, 2)</sup>, MOTOKI MIZUNO<sup>3)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Faculty of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan
 <sup>2)</sup>Japan Women's College of Physical Education, Tokyo, Japan
 <sup>3)</sup>Graduate School of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan

*Objectives*: This study aimed to investigate Japan's service sector employees to determine whether employee creativity is associated with the provision of a fitness program (that encourages employees to perform physical exercise) or a health and productivity management (H&PM) program at the workplace.

Design: This was a cross-sectional study.

*Methods*: A nationwide online survey was conducted using stratified sampling. Data were obtained for respondents' demographic characteristics, subjective health, exercise frequency, and organizational wellness support. Workplace creativity, psychological safety, and leadership were evaluated using standardized scales. A binary logistic regression was performed to examine the relationship between organizational wellness support programs and workplace creativity.

**Results**: Respondents were 1,955 full-time employees in private-sector organizations (979 men and 976 women; mean age 40.30  $\pm$  10.85). Workplace creativity was significantly more likely respondents whose employers provided a fitness program (*adjusted* OR = 1.86, 95% CI = 1.39-2.48, p < .001) or an H&PM program (*adjusted* OR = 2.07, 95% CI = 1.53-2.80, p < .001). Furthermore, workplace creativity was significantly more likely in employees who perceived themselves as rather healthy or healthy. Employees who exercised frequently over the past year were more likely to display creativity than those never exercised.

*Conclusions*: Workplace creativity was associated with good subjective health, high exercise frequency, and organizational wellness support programs offered by employers. Human resource management for employees' fitness and health is crucial for cultivating the productivity and innovation necessary for business success.

Key words: employee health, workplace creativity, exercise, health and productivity management

#### Introduction

In Japan, the Third Sport Basic Plan was formulated on March 25, 2022. The new plan outlines the specific policies and targets to be advanced by the government and other organizations over the next five years (2022/4 to 2027/3)<sup>1)</sup>. The plan has been designed to ensure the legacy of the Tokyo 2020 Olympic and Paralympic Games and to facilitate the growth of the sports industry among others. However, for Japan to achieve economic growth, a major hurdle must be overcome: low productivity amid a lack of innovation<sup>2)</sup>. This is a particularly important issue in Japan's industry (the service sector)<sup>2)</sup>, which employs around 70% of the country's working population and encompasses the sports and health sectors<sup>3)</sup>. Moreover, as an impediment to innovation, around half of the companies in a government survey revealed that they lacked talented workers<sup>2)</sup>. While there is a growing focus on using digital technology in the workplace, Furukawa et al. notes that human knowledge and human skills are all the more important in a volatile business environment<sup>4)</sup>. Amabile et al. defined creativity

Japan Women's College of Physical Education

8-19-1 Kitakarasuyama, Setagaya, Tokyo 157-8565, Japan

TEL: +81-3-3300-2258 E-mail: hochi.yasuyuki@jwcpe.ac.jp

[Received Sep. 14, 2023] [Accepted Nov. 9, 2023]

Corresponding author: Yasuyuki Hochi

J-STAGE Advance published date: Dec. 22, 2023

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0030-OA

as the production of novel and useful ideas in any domain, and innovation as the successful implementation of creative ideas within an organization<sup>5)</sup>. In this light, individual and team creativity is a starting point for innovation. Considerable evidence suggests that employee creativity can substantially contribute to organizational innovation, effectiveness, and survival<sup>5-7)</sup>. When employees exhibit creativity at work, they produce novel, and potentially useful, ideas about organizational products, practices, services, or procedures<sup>5,8)</sup>. Thus, in the workplace, both individual and team creativity is essential for addressing all manner of workplace problems: as such, it will become an increasingly important priority for all organizational layers in the service sector<sup>9)</sup>. Therefore, there is an increasing need for a greater understanding of the contextual factors that may enhance or diminish employees' creativity as well as the interaction between personal characteristics and work environment<sup>8-10)</sup>. Further, it is important to identify the role of leadership in encouraging employee creativity<sup>9,10)</sup>. Another concept gaining increasing attention in the corporate sector is psychological safety (as defined by Edmondson, 1999)<sup>11)</sup>. Studies have shown that psychological safety correlates positively with creativity, and that effective leadership facilitates both psychological safety and employee creativity in the workplace<sup>12-16)</sup>.

Japan has shown interest in organizational support for employee wellness, inspired by the ideas in The Healthy Company (Rosen, 1992)<sup>17)</sup>. In this context, Japan sports agency (MEXT) led a wellness program named the Sports Yell Company program<sup>18)</sup>. Alongside this, there are company-level "health and productivity management" (H&PM) programs, which align with a model of employee wellness promoted by the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI)<sup>19)</sup>. Previous studies have revealed that, companies with an effective H&PM program tend to have better stock performance<sup>20, 21)</sup>. Given the well-demonstrated association between employee health (as measured by absenteeism, for instance) and productivity (as measured by presenteeism, for instance), greater corporate interest in employee health will lead to more positive outcomes. However, thus far, the literature has focused on outcomes such as return on (or loss on) investment in health, productivity measures, and health problems<sup>22-31</sup>; few studies have measured creativity in a workplace context or changes in employee attitudes and behaviors. Some reports suggest that physical exercise positively affects creative thinking, creative idea generation, and cognitive processing<sup>32, 33</sup>. However, systematic reviews concluded that further research is necessary to obtain clear evidence of the association between exercise and creativity<sup>34, 35</sup>. The present study was motivated by the following idea: if it was demonstrated that employee creativity is greater in workplaces with wellness programs, this would offer the corporate sector a greater incentive to invest in human resource management for employee health, ultimately leading to greater innovation.

To this end, we conducted a cross-sectional study on employees in the service sector to determine whether employee creativity is associated with the provision of either one or both of the following types of organizational wellness support: a fitness program (a program encouraging employees to engage in physical exercise) and an H&PM program.

### Method

## Sample and procedure

A nationwide online survey was conducted using stratified sampling, including individuals who were aged 20-59 and employed full time in privatesector organizations, classified as tertiary industry (service sector) employers by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications. The study sample comprised participants selected from the panel registered with Cross Marketing, Inc., a leading marketing research agency in Japan. The survey was conducted between October and November 2022. Before starting the online survey, the participants were presented with a webpage detailing the rationale, objective of the survey, ethical considerations and stating that their anonymity would be safeguarded. The participants were then invited to click on an "agree" button to indicate their informed consent to participate in the survey.

Survey data cleaning was performed to eliminate data from respondents whose responses could bias the results. Specifically, we identified and removed straight liners (respondents who chose the same answer option repeatedly) and set a trick question (a question designed to "trap" respondents who were not paying attention).

## Measures

## Participant characteristics

The following participant attributes were obtained: gender, age, education (highest level of education), marital status, parental status (whether the person has any children), age of the youngest (or only) child (if any), managerial status (whether the person has a management title), work hours, occupation, subjective health, exercise frequency, and whether wellness support was provided in the workplace. Subjective health was rated on a 4-point scale, with the following answer options: unhealthy, rather unhealthy, rather healthy, and healthy. For exercise frequency, respondents described how frequently they had engaged in an exercise session lasting at least 30 minutes, over the past year; the answer options were: never, one to three days a year, four to eleven days a year, one to three days a month, one to two days a week, and at least three days a week. To determine whether organizational wellness support was provided, the following questions were presented: "Does your workplace provide a fitness program?" and "Does your workplace provide a H&PM program?" In both cases, respondents could answer "yes," "no," or "unsure."

## Workplace creativity

Creativity in the workplace was measured using a six-item scale by Maruyama and Fuji (2022)<sup>36)</sup>, based on the original scale by Carmeli and Schaubroeck (2007) that measures creative involvement at work<sup>10)</sup>. Each item contained a statement rated on a 7-point scale to indicate level of agreement (absolutely disagree to strongly agree). The items (as translated from Japanese) were as follows: "I exhibit originality at work," "I take risks to generate new ideas needed in my work," "I'm prepared to change existing work procedures and methods and I look for new ways to use equipment," "I resolve the issues that entail difficulties," "I try out new ideas when approaching problems," and "I generate ideas that are unprecedented but useful for work." Based on their total scores for the six items, the respondents were divided into quartiles, with the top 25% categorized as the high creativity group and the remaining 75% as the non-high creativity group.

## Workplace culture and leadership

The previous study suggests that employees' creativity is moderated by contextual factors such as workplace culture and leadership, as well as by intra-individual factors<sup>8,9)</sup>. To evaluate workplace culture, we used Edmondson's (1999) Team Psychological Safety Scale<sup>11)</sup>. To assess leadership, we used Walumbwa et al.'s (2008) Authentic Leadership Questionnaire<sup>37)</sup>. The Team Psychological Safety Scale consists of seven items, each rated on a 7-point scale (from "completely disagree" to "absolutely agree"). The items were prefaced with the following statement: "We will ask you about your team (workplace, department, store members) with which you usually work." The Authentic Leadership Questionnaire consists of 16 items, each rated on a 5-point scale (from "not at all" to "frequently, if not always") and prefaced with the following statement: "The following survey items refer to your leader's style, as you perceive it. Judge how frequently each statement fits his or her leadership style using the following scale."

## Ethical considerations

This study was approved by the research ethics committee of the Japan Women's College of Physical Education (Application Number: 2022–20).

### Statistical analysis

A binomial logistic regression was performed, with the explanatory variables being subjective health, exercise frequency, and organizational wellness support, and the objective variable being workplace creativity. We also set several moderator variables (confounders) on the premise that the variables in question could affect workplace creativity directly or indirectly. These moderator variables included: gender, age, education, marital status, parental status, managerial status, work hours, occupation, psychological safety, and authentic leadership. Using the adjusted odds ratios for these items, we could control the confounding factors. IBM SPSS version 28 for Windows was used for statistical analysis.

### Results

### Participant attributes

Table 1 shows the attributes of participants. The cleaned survey data comprised 1,955 respondents

employed full-time in private-sector organizations classified as tertiary industry companies. In total, there were 979 men (50.1%) and 976 women (49.9%): 958 (48.0%) respondents were married. Furthermore, 673 (34.4%) respondents had children; the youngest (or only) child was aged below 6 in 206 (10.5%) cases, 6-11 in 118 (6.0%) cases, 12-17 in 140 (7.2%) cases, and 18 or above in 209 (10.7%) cases. The respondents' mean age was  $40.30 \pm 10.85$ ; 485 (24.8%) were in their 20s, 486 (24.9%) in their 30s, 488 (25.0%) in their 40s, and 496 (25.4%) in their 50s. Regarding education level, 384 (19.6%) had completed high school, 226 (11.6%) technical/vocational college, 169 (8.6%) junior college (or vocational high school), 1.077 (55.1%) university (four-year undergraduate program), 66 (3.4%) a master's program, 11 (0.6%) a doctoral program, and 22 (1.1%) other. Regarding managerial status, 598 (30.6%) participants had a management title, while 1,357 (69.4%) were general employees with no management title. Regarding work hours per week, 1,349 (69.0%) participants worked for less than 45 hours, 462 (23.6%) worked between 45 and 54 hours, 103 (5.3%) worked between 55 and 64 hours, and 41 (2.1%) worked for 65 hours or longer. Regarding occupation, 301 (15.4%) participants worked in sales, 549 (28.1%) in admin/ accounts, 44 (2.3%) in HR, 57 (2.9%) in planning/ marketing, 60 (3.1%) in senior or middle management, 269 (13.8%) in customer services, 286 (14.6%) in specialized services, 184 (9.4%) in technical services, and 205 (10.5%) in others.

# Exercise frequency and organizational wellness support

Table 2 shows the exercise frequency and organizational wellness support of participants. Regarding subjective health, 140 (7.2%) respondents answered "unhealthy," 330 (16.9%) "rather unhealthy," 966 (49.4%) "rather healthy," and 519 (26.5%) "healthy." When asked how frequently they had engaged in an exercise session lasting at least 30 minutes over the past year, 879 (45.0%) answered never, 175 (9.0%) answered one to three days a year, 66 (3.4%) answered four to 11 days a year, 154 (7.9%) answered one to three days a month, 415 (21.2%) answered one to two days a week, and 266 (13.6%) answered at least three days a week. When asked whether their workplace provided a fitness program, 1,393 (71.3%) participants said no, 294 (15.0%) said yes, and 268 (13.7%) were unsure. When asked whether their workplace provided a H&PM program, 1,030 (52.7%) participants answered no, 280 (14.3%) answered yes, and 645 (33.0%) were unsure.

## Creativity at the workplace

A total of 502 respondents were classed as creative, their total scores falling in the top quartile of scores ( $M = 30.48 \pm 3.27$ ), while 1,453 were classed as uncreative ( $M = 17.53 \pm 6.39$ ). The two groups were compared regarding their basic attributes using a chi-squared test. The analysis revealed significant inter-group differences for gender, age, education, marital status, parental status, whether the respondent had a managerial status, work hours, and occupation (Table 1).

The two groups also differed significantly on all items of subjective health, exercise frequency, whether a fitness activity was promoted, whether an H&PM program was promoted, Team Psychological Safety Scores, and Authentic Leadership Questionnaire scores (Table 2). For the team psychological safety scale and the Authentic Leadership Questionnaire, following the precedent set in the literature, using Welch's t-test.

# Factors related to employee creativity in the workplace.

Table 3 shows the results of the binomial logistic regression analysis. Employee creativity in the workplace was significantly more likely in respondents who perceived themselves as rather healthy (adjusted OR = 2.14, 95% CI = 1.23-3.71, p < .01) or healthy (*adjusted* OR = 2.09, 95% CI = 1.18-3.70, p < .05) than those who perceived themselves as unhealthy. Furthermore, workplace creativity was significantly more likely in respondents who engaged in an exercise session lasting at least 30 minutes for one to three days a month (*adjusted* OR = 1.90, 95% CI = 1.26-2.86, p < .01), one to two days a week  $(adjusted \ OR = 1.69, 95\% \ CI = 1.26-2.27, p < .001), or$ at least three days a week (adjusted OR = 1.76, 95% CI = 1.27-2.46, p < .001), than by those who had never exercised in the past year. Of the exercise frequency categories, "at least three days a week" was associated with the greatest increase in adjusted odds ratio. In addition, workplace creativity was

		Non-high (n=)	Creativity 1,453)	High C (n=	reativity 502)	
		n	%	n	%	$\chi^2$
Gender	Male	688	47.4%	291	58.0%	16.83**
	Female	765	52.6%	211	42.0%	
Marital status	Unmarried	769	52.9%	228	45.4%	8.41*
	Married	684	47.1%	274	54.6%	
Parental status	No children	978	67.3%	304	60.6%	15.65*
	< 6 years old	156	10.7%	50	10.0%	
	6-11 years old	84	5.8%	34	6.8%	
	12-17 years old	87	6.0%	53	10.6%	
	$\geq$ 18 years old	148	10.2%	61	12.2%	
Age	20s	383	26.4%	102	20.3%	8.90*
	30s	362	24.9%	124	24.7%	
	40s	356	24.5%	132	26.3%	
	50s	352	24.2%	144	28.7%	
Education	High school	307	21.1%	77	15.3%	40.36**
	Technical/vocational college	176	12.1%	50	10.0%	
	Junior college (or vocational high school)	140	9.6%	29	5.8%	
	University (four-year undergraduate program)	765	52.6%	312	62.2%	
	Master's program	40	2.8%	26	5.2%	
	Doctoral program	4	0.3%	7	1.4%	
	Other	21	1.4%	1	0.2%	
Managerial status	Yes	378	26.0%	220	43.8%	55.74**
	No (general employee)	1,075	74.0%	282	56.2%	
Working hours (per week)	< 45 h	1,023	70.4%	326	64.9%	9.27*
	45 h-54 h	337	23.2%	125	24.9%	
	55 h-64 h	67	4.6%	36	7.2%	
	$\geq 65$ h	26	1.8%	15	3.0%	
Occupation	Sales	212	14.6%	89	17.7%	62.14**
	Admin/accounts	445	30.6%	104	20.7%	
	Human resources	26	1.8%	18	3.6%	
	Planning/marketing	29	2.0%	28	5.6%	
	Senior/middle management	30	2.1%	30	6.0%	
	Customer services	211	14.5%	58	11.6%	
	Specialized services	202	13.9%	84	16.7%	
	Technical services	137	9.4%	47	9.4%	
	Other	161	11.1%	44	8.8%	

 Table 1 Differences in workplace creativity according to the participants' attributes

\*\**p*<.01, \**p*<.05.

significantly more likely in respondents whose employers promoted fitness activities (*adjusted OR* = 1.86, *95% CI* = 1.39–2.48, *p*<.001) and those whose employers provided an H&PM program (*adjusted* OR = 2.07, 95% CI = 1.53–2.80, *p*<.001) than in respondents whose employers did not provide either.

## Discussion

This study examined survey data from employees in the service sector to reveal how employee

		Non-high (n=	Creativity 1,453)	High C (n=	Creativity =502)	
		n	%	n	%	$\chi^2$
Subjective health	Unhealthy	122	8.4%	18	3.6%	18.92**
	Rather unhealthy	256	17.6%	74	14.7%	
	Rather healthy	711	48.9%	255	50.8%	
	Healthy	364	25.1%	155	30.9%	
Exercise frequency	Never	717	49.3%	162	32.3%	50.39**
	1-3 days/year	131	9.0%	44	8.8%	
	4-11 days/year	45	3.1%	21	4.2%	
	1-3 days/month	103	7.1%	51	10.2%	
	1-2 days/week	286	19.7%	129	25.7%	
	$\geq$ 3 days/week	171	11.8%	95	18.9%	
Promote fitness activities	No	1,082	74.5%	311	62.0%	60.14**
	Yes	165	11.4%	129	25.7%	
	Unsure	206	14.2%	62	12.4%	
Health and productivity	No	813	56.0%	217	43.2%	70.97**
management program	Yes	152	10.5%	128	25.5%	
	Unsure	488	33.6%	157	31.3%	
Psychological safety	M (±SD)	4.52	(±.689)	5.03	(±.790)	**
Authentic leadership	M (±SD)	2.90	(±.754)	3.26	(±.849)	**

Table 2 Differences in workplace creativity according to exercise frequency and health management

a\*\*p<.01, \*p<.05.

<sup>b</sup> The psychological safety and the Authentic Leadership were using Welch's t-test.

creativity is associated with exercise and organizational wellness support. Having controlled for certain respondent attributes that could affect employee creativity (gender, age, education, marital status, parental status, managerial status, work hours, occupation, psychological safety, and authentic leadership), we found that employees' creativity in the workplace is associated with their subjective health and whether the employer provides a fitness program or an H&PM program. To the best of our knowledge, this finding constitutes the first scientific evidence of such an association.

## Exercise and workplace creativity

Our survey revealed that, over the past year, 45% (879) of the respondents had never engaged in an exercise session lasting at least 30 minutes, while 34.7% (681) had done so at least one day a week. In a 2022 survey on engagement in sport, the Japan Sports Agency found that 47% of Japanese men and women aged 20–59 engage in exercise at least one day a week. However, the agency's exercise data pertained to general members of the

public, who may or may not have been employed and who could have been employed in any kind of job; the value of our data lies in the fact that it specifically highlights exercise frequency among people employed full-time in Japan's private sector. Our analysis revealed that workplace creativity was significantly more likely to be exhibited by employees who perceived themselves as rather than by those who perceived themselves as unhealthy. The literature on the relationship between employee health and workplace productivity has shown that effective organizational support for employee wellness, as measured by a decline in presenteeism among other things, leads to higher workplace creativity. Creativity was also significantly more likely to be exhibited by employees engaged in an exercise session lasting at least 30 minutes on one to three days a month (adjusted OR = 1.90, 95% CI= 1.26-2.86, p < .01), one to two days a week (*adjusted*) OR = 1.69, 95% CI = 1.26-2.27, p < .001, or at least three days a week (*adjusted* OR = 1.76, 95% CI =1.27-2.46, p < .001) over the past year, than by those who had never exercised in the past year; further-

				0	•		
		Crude OR	(95%CI)	P-value	Adjusted OR	(95%CI)	P-value
Subjective health	Unhealthy	1.00	(Reference)		1.00	(Reference)	
	Rather unhealthy	1.96	(1.12-3.42)	*	1.80	(0.99-3.27)	n.s.
	Rather healthy	2.43	(1.45-4.07)	**	2.14	(1.23-3.71)	**
	Healthy	2.89	(1.70-4.90)	**	2.09	(1.18-3.70)	*
Exercise frequency	Never	1.00	(Reference)		1.00	(Reference)	
	1-3 days/year	1.49	(1.01-2.18)	*	1.39	(0.93-2.09)	n.s.
	4-11 days/year	2.07	(1.20-3.56)	**	1.54	(0.86-2.75)	n.s.
	1-3 days/month	2.19	(1.50-3.19)	**	1.90	(1.26-2.86)	**
	1-2 days/week	2.00	(1.53-2.61)	**	1.69	(1.26-2.27)	**
	$\geq$ 3 days/week	2.46	(1.82-3.33)	**	1.76	(1.27-2.46)	**
Promote fitness activities	No	1.00	(Reference)		1.00	(Reference)	
	Yes	0.96	(0.70-1.30)	n.s.	1.86	(1.39-2.48)	**
	Unsure	2.60	(1.80-3.74)	**	1.03	(0.74-1.43)	n.s.
Health and productivity	No	1.00	(Reference)		1.00	(Reference)	
management program	Yes	3.15	(2.39-4.17)	**	2.07	(1.53-2.80)	**
	Unsure	1.21	(0.95-1.52)	n.s.	1.03	(0.80-1.33)	n.s.

 Table 3
 Results of the binomial logistic regression analysis

a \*\*p < .01, \*p < .05; n.s.=non-significant; OR = Odds ratio; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval.

<sup>b</sup> Objective variable: workplace creativity (0 = non-high creativity, 1 = high creativity).

<sup>c</sup> The adjusted OR were intended to control for the following: gender, marital status, parental status, age, education, managerial status, work hours, occupation, psychological safety, and authentic leadership.

more, the highest adjusted odds ratio was found for those exercised "at least three days a month. The Government of Japan is committed to the goal of having 70% of the adult population engage in exercise at least one day a week and having 50% engage in exercise at least three days a week. In this regard, our findings offer important insights for employees in the service sector; exercising one to three days a month is more effective for facilitating creativity in the workplace than not exercising at all. Other studies suggest that exercise can facilitate workplace creativity even at a low frequency, provided that the physical activity is regular. Specifically, one report suggested that even a single exercise session can facilitate creative thinking<sup>32)</sup>; other studies showed that habitual physical activity has a moderate effect on creative ideation, and that chronic physical activity interventions enhance creativity<sup>33-35)</sup>.

## Organizational wellness support and creativity

Our second main finding concerns the role of organizational wellness support in employees' creativity. We found that workplace creativity was significantly more likely to occur among respondents whose employers promoted fitness activity  $(adjusted \ OR = 1.86, \ 95\% \ CI = 1.39-2.48, \ p<.001)$ than among those whose employers did not. Furthermore, creativity was significantly more likely to occur among respondents whose employers provided an H&PM program (*adjusted* OR = 2.07, 95% CI = 1.53-2.80, p<.001) than among those whose employers did not. Admittedly, these results offer no precise insights into how such programs contribute to individual employees' behaviors and health condition. Nonetheless, they do corroborate the claim made in "The Healthy Company" that companies with healthier workforces are more profitable; that is, individual and team creativity constitutes both the starting point for innovation and a process for resolving problems. There is extensive evidence showing that employee creativity facilitates organizational innovation and organizational effectiveness<sup>6,7)</sup>.

Finally, we discuss the results in Table 2. Japan has shown increasing interest in having the corporate sector execute integrated strategies for encouraging employees to engage in physical and healthsupporting activities, as evidenced by governmentled programs such as the Sports Yell Company

program<sup>18)</sup> and the H&PM program<sup>19)</sup>. However, our results suggest that the government's employee wellness agenda is yet to gain traction; in our survey, few companies provided a fitness or H&PM program for employees. As stated in the Introduction section, a report suggested that the greatest impediment to innovation is a lack of talented workers within the company<sup>2)</sup>. In today's volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous business environment, it is all the more essential to provide a workplace and talent management strategy that unleashes employees' creativity. While it is true that profit growth will always be paramount to business survival, and that employers are sometimes unable to invest enough in talent development and employee welfare, sacrificing employee wellness for the sake of immediate profit is the wrong approach. Although investing in employee wellness yields no instant or immediately apparent return on investment, organizational support for employees' fitness and health plays a crucial role in cultivating the productivity and innovation necessary for business success in a volatile, uncertain, complex, and ambiguous environment.

## Conclusions

Using survey data pertaining to 1,955 full-time employees in Japan's service sector, we conducted a cross-sectional study to examine the relationship between organizational wellness support at the workplace, exercise frequency, and workplace creativity. Based on the results, three conclusions can be drawn. First, creativity in the workplace is associated with subjective health: compared with those who perceived themselves as unhealthy, respondents who perceived themselves as healthy had increased adjusted odds ratios from 2.09 to 2.14 for demonstrating workplace creativity. Second, workplace creativity is associated with habitual exercise: compared with those who had never exercised in the past year, respondents who performed exercise showed increased workplace creativity, with adjusted odds ratios of 1.90 for those who exercised for one to three days a month, 1.69 for those who exercised for one to two days a week, and 1.76 for those who exercised at least three days a week. Third, workplace creativity is associated with organizational wellness support: provision of a fitness program and an H&PM program by employers was associated with increased adjusted odds ratios of 1.86 and 2.07, respectively, for workplace creativity. Thus, human resource management for employees' fitness and health is crucial for cultivating the productivity and innovation necessary for business success.

## Limitations and future research

This study adopted a cross-sectional approach and analyzed survey data pertaining to a single time-point. As such, the findings warrant no conclusions about any direct causal relationship that exercise and organizational wellness support may have with workplace creativity (the interaction mechanism). Furthermore, we believe that the impact of company size, such as number of employees and capitalization, should also be taken into consideration. When interpreting the results, the following precautions should be observed. First, as respondents rated their own creativity, we cannot rule out the possibility that their self-reports were affected by cognitive bias (such as the Dunning-Kruger effect). Thus, workplace creativity as measured in our study may not accurately reflect actual behaviors and outcomes in everyday workplace activities. Second, as respondents were asked about their exercise frequency over the past year, there is a possibility that their responses were influenced by recall bias, too. Many complex and latent factors moderate employee behavior in the workplace. By combining survey data with objective data from wearable devices or physiological measures, it is possible to deliver more reliable evidence for the effects of exercise and organizational wellness support on employees. Rigorously conducted randomized controlled intervention studies and more cross-sectional studies are needed to broaden the evidence in this nascent field of research.

## Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank the editor and anonymous reviewers of this journal for their very helpful comments and suggestions. This work was partially supported by the Joint Research Program of Japan Women's College of Physical Education, Graduate School.

## Funding

No funding was received.

## Author contributions

YH and MM conceived the idea of the study. YH developed the statistical analysis plan and conducted statistical analyses. YH and MM contributed to the interpretation of the results. YH drafted the original manuscript. MM supervised the conduct of this study. All authors reviewed the manuscript draft and revised it critically on intellectual content. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript to be published.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology; Japan's Third Sport Basic Plan. https:// www.mext.go.jp/sports/en/index.htm (Last accessed at September 1, 2023)
- 2) National Institute of Science and Technology Policy: Report on the Japanese National Innovation Survey 2020 (J-NIS 2020). NISTEP REPORT, No.192. https:// doi.org/10.15108/nr192 (Last accessed at September 1, 2023) (in Japanese)
- 3) Statistics Bureau of Japan, Annual Report on the Labour Force Survey 2022. https://www.stat.go.jp/english/ data/roudou/report/2022/index.html (Last accessed at September 1, 2023)
- 4) Furukawa Y, Sato Y: The fundamental survey of the productivity of white-collar workers. Mita business review, 2005; 49: 97-119 (in Japanese)
- 5) Amabile TM, Conti R, Coon H, Lazenby J, Herron M: Assessing the work environment for creativity. Academy of management journal, 1996; 39: 1154–1184.
- 6) Amabile TM, Pratt MG: The dynamic componential model of creativity and innovation in organizations: Making progress, making meaning. Research in organizational behavior, 2016; 36: 157-183.
- Nonaka I: The knowledge-creating company. Harvard Business Review, 1991; 69: 96-104.
- Shalley CE, Zhou J, Oldham GR: The effects of personal and contextual characteristics on creativity: Where should we go from here? Journal of management, 2004; 30: 933–958.
- Shalley CE, Gilson LL: What leaders need to know: A review of social and contextual factors that can foster or hinder creativity. Leadership Quarterly, 2004; 15: 33–53.
- Carmeli A, Schaubroeck J: The influence of leaders' and other referents' normative expectations on individual involvement in creative work. The Leadership Quarterly, 2007; 18: 35-48.
- 11) Edmondson A: Psychological safety and learning

behavior in work teams. Administrative science quarterly, 1999; 44: 350-383.

- 12) Frazier ML, Fainshmidt S, Klinger RL, Pezeshkan A, Vracheva V: Psychological safety: A meta-analytic review and extension. Personnel psychology, 2017; 70: 113–165.
- 13) Carmeli A, Reiter-Palmon R, Ziv E: Inclusive leadership and employee involvement in creative tasks in the workplace: The mediating role of psychological safety. Creativity Research Journal, 2010; 22: 250-260.
- 14) Müceldili B, Turan H, Erdil O: The influence of authentic leadership on creativity and innovativeness. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2013; 99: 673-681.
- 15) Mumford MD, Scott GM, Gaddis B, Strange JM: Leading creative people: Orchestrating expertise and relationships. The leadership quarterly, 2002; 13: 705–750.
- 16) Jung DI, Chow C, Wu A: The role of transformational leadership in enhancing organizational innovation: Hypotheses and some preliminary findings. The leadership quarterly, 2003; 14: 525–544.
- 17) Rosen R, Berger L: The Healthy Company: Eight Strategies to Develop People, Productivity, and Profits. New York: TarcherPerigee, 1992.
- 18) Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology; Sports Yell Company. https://www.mext. go.jp/sports/en/b\_menu/policy/sportsnation/yellcompany.htm (Last accessed at September 1, 2023)
- 19) Ministry of International Trade and Industry; Health and Productivity management. https://www.meti.go. jp/policy/mono\_info\_service/healthcare/kenko\_keiei. html (Last accessed at September 1, 2023)
- 20) Goetzel RZ, Fabius R, Fabius D, *et al*: The Stock Performance of C. Everett Koop Award Winners Compared With the Standard & Poor's 500 Index. J Occup Environ Med, 2016; 58: 9–15.
- 21) Fabius R, Loeppke RR, Hohn T, *et al*: Tracking the Market Performance of Companies That Integrate a Culture of Health and Safety: An Assessment of Corporate Health Achievement Award Applicants. J Occup Environ Med, 2016; 58: 3-8.
- 22) Parks KM, Steelman LA: Organizational wellness programs: a meta-analysis. J Occup Health Psychol, 2008; 13: 58-68.
- 23) Pauly MV, Nicholson S, Xu J, *et al*: A general model of the impact of absenteeism on employers and employees. Health Econ, 2002; 11: 221–231.
- 24) Nicholson S, Pauly MV, Polsky D, Sharda C, Szrek H, Berger ML: Measuring the effects of work loss on productivity with team production. Health Econ, 2006; 15: 111-123.
- 25) Goetzel RZ, Long SR, Ozminkowski RJ, Hawkins K, Wang S, Lynch W: Health, absence, disability, and presenteeism cost estimates of certain physical and mental health conditions affecting U.S. employers. J Occup Environ Med, 2004; 46: 398–412.
- 26) Loeppke R, Taitel M, Haufle V, Parry T, Kessler RC, Jinnett K: Health and productivity as a business strategy: a multiemployer study. J Occup Environ Med, 2009; 51: 411–428.
- 27) Mitchell RJ, Bates P: Measuring health-related productivity loss. Popul Health Manag, 2011; 14: 93–98.
- 28) Wada K, Arakida M, Watanabe R, Negishi M, Sato J, Tsutsumi A: The economic impact of loss of performance due to absenteeism and presenteeism caused by depressive symptoms and comorbid health conditions among Japanese workers. Ind Health, 2013; 51:

482-489.

- 29) Suzuki T, Miyaki K, Song Y, *et al*: Relationship between sickness presenteeism (WHO-HPQ) with depression and sickness absence due to mental disease in a cohort of Japanese workers. J Affect Disord, 2015; 180: 14–20.
- 30) Nagata T, Mori K, Ohtani M, *et al*: Total Health-Related Costs Due to Absenteeism, Presenteeism, and Medical and Pharmaceutical Expenses in Japanese Employers. J Occup Environ Med, 2018; 60: e273-e280.
- 31) Zhang W, Sun H, Woodcock S, Anis A: Illness related wage and productivity losses: Valuing 'presenteeism'. Soc Sci Med, 2015; 147: 62–71.
- 32) Steinberg H, Sykes EA, Moss T, Lowery S, LeBoutillier N, Dewey A: Exercise enhances creativity independently of mood. Br J Sports Med, 1997; 31: 240–245.
- 33) Bollimbala A, James PS, Ganguli S: The impact of physical activity intervention on creativity: Role of flexibility vs persistence pathways. Thinking Skills and

Creativity, 2023; 49: 101313.

- 34) Frith E, Ryu S, Kang M, Loprinzi PD: Systematic Review of the Proposed Associations between Physical Exercise and Creative Thinking. Eur J Psychol, 2019; 15: 858–877.
- 35) Rominger C, Schneider M, Fink A, Tran US, Perchtold–Stefan CM, Schwerdtfeger AR: Acute and Chronic Physical Activity Increases Creative Ideation Performance: A Systematic Review and Multilevel Meta–analysis. Sports Med Open, 2022; 8: 62.
- 36) Maruyamura J, Fuji K: Effects of workplace humor on the creativity at work: Mediating role of psychological safety. Japanese Association of Industrial/Organizational Psychology Journal, 2022; 35: 381-392. (in Japanese)
- 37) Walumbwa FO, Avolio BJ, Gardner WL, Wernsing TS, Peterson SJ: Authentic leadership: Development and validation of a theory-based measure. Journal of management, 2008; 34: 89–126.

**Original Articles** 

Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70(1), 54-64



## Health and Productivity Management in Hospital Organizations and Work Engagement of Nurses

YUMI ARAI<sup>1)</sup>, KENTARO INABA<sup>2)</sup>, TAKUMI IWAASA<sup>2)</sup>, YASUYUKI HOCHI<sup>3)</sup>, YUKI MIZUNO<sup>3)</sup>, MOTOKI MIZUNO<sup>1)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Graduate School of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan
 <sup>2)</sup>Ishinomaki Senshu University, Miyagi, Japan
 <sup>3)</sup>Japan Women's College of Physical Education, Tokyo, Japan

*Objective*: In Japan, there is an urgent need to strengthen efforts to retain nurses and prevent high turnover. The Japan Nurses Association has set the goal of creating a supportive work environment for nurses to work with peace of mind and improve outcomes throughout their lives. Against this background, we examined the relationship between nurses' health and productivity management and their work engagement (WE) in Japanese hospital organizations.

Design: A cross-sectional design was used.

*Methods*: A web-based survey was administered to full-time employed nurses working in Japanese hospitals with 100 or more beds. *Results*: Total WE scores were analyzed as the objective variable; WE crude odds ratios (ORs) were significantly higher in the high group than in the low group for all indicator items related to a healthy workplace culture. For adjusted ORs, propensity scores were calculated from gender, age, years of service, years of experience, job title, marital status, work shift, frequency of exercise per week, and hours worked per week and used as moderator variables. The results showed that the adjusted ORs for the high group were significantly higher than the adjusted ORs for the low group for all items except "participation of the person in charge from the planning stage of the initiative" and "reflection of the person in charge's opinion in the planning of the initiative."

*Conclusions*: This study suggests that health and productivity management initiatives in hospital organizations may positively impact nurses' WE. Furthermore, it suggests that these initiatives may contribute to improving nurse retention and preventing turnover.

Key words: health, productivity management, hospital organization, nurses, work engagement

#### Introduction

Nurses (excluding assistant nurses) working in hospitals, clinics, and as care workers exceed 1.33 million in Japan<sup>1)</sup>. Since 2008, Japan's average nursing attrition rate has remained at 10–11%<sup>2)</sup>; therefore, there is an urgent need to strengthen efforts to retain and prevent high turnover among Japanese nurses. The Japanese Nursing Association has developed an occupational safety and health guideline<sup>3)</sup> to ensure healthy and safe workplaces, as well as promote environments that enable nursing staff to engage in health promotion. In 2021, as a work style reform, the Japanese government set the goal of creating work environments that support nurses in working at ease and improve outcomes throughout their working lives<sup>4)</sup>. In this new policy effort, the turnover problem is approached from

Graduate School of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University

1-1 Hiraka-gakuendai, Inzai, Chiba 270-1695, Japan

[Received Jun. 7, 2023] [Accepted Nov. 13, 2023]

Corresponding author: Yumi Arai

TEL: +81-476-98-1001 FAX: +81-476-98-1011 E-mail: arai.zwei@gmail.com

J-STAGE Advance published date: Dec. 22, 2023

Copyright © 2024 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ23-0020-OA

the perspective of health promotion, and the aim is to maintain nurses' morale so that they continue to work in their current position. It also aims to ensure that nurses' workplaces support them in maintaining their physical and mental well-being.

The concept of health and productivity management, proposed by Rosen<sup>5)</sup>, has been attracting considerable attention. This is because, from a managerial perspective, placing focus on employee health management is expected to have multiple positive outcomes<sup>6)</sup>.

Previous studies identifying the relationship between employee health status and productivity have shown that health risks are increasingly associated with lower productivity<sup>7,8)</sup>. A particularly notable finding was that, "Physical activity may have a direct and indirect relationship to quality resident care and long-term care organizational success through impacts on employee absenteeism, job performance and employee satisfaction"9-12). Another study found that, "Physical activity level may also indirectly impact resident care through employee job satisfaction. A small increase in physical activity has been shown to increase healthcare employee job satisfaction"<sup>10</sup>. Given these trends, medical organizations and social medical corporations are making efforts to promote health and productivity management<sup>13)</sup>.

The concept of work engagement (WE) has been defined as individuals' "positive, fulfilling, workrelated state of mind that is characterized by vigor, dedication, and absorption"14). Thus, WE can be used as an index of an individual's positive and energized state of mind toward work. It is characterized by "vigor, dedication, and absorption"<sup>14)</sup> toward work and higher WE reportedly has positive outcomes, such as increased happiness, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment<sup>15, 16)</sup>. Higher WE among nurses reduces their risk of impaired physical and mental health, enabling them to contribute more to their work<sup>17-19)</sup>. One prior study also emphasized the importance of further analyzing the current state of nurses' WE and its driving factors<sup>20)</sup>.

Despite the emphasis on the Japanese context above, concerns related to the shortage and turnover of nurses are not unique to Japan<sup>21)</sup>. For example, the American Nurses Association<sup>22)</sup> works to prevent high turnover by advocating safe and ethical work environments, staffing levels, and the physical and emotional well-being of nurses. The Healthy Nurse, Healthy Nation<sup>TM23)</sup> program of the American Nurses Association Enterprise encompasses six domains (mental health, physical activity, nutrition, rest, quality of life, and safety) and serves as an action plan to improve nurses' health. These efforts related to health and productivity management are similar to those in Japan. In the latter case, the certification system for health and productivity management is a mechanism for evaluating systems, programs, and management that promote health maintenance at the corporate level, and this system evaluates some aspects of corporate health climate and culture<sup>24)</sup>. WE has been suggested to be associated with factors of corporate health culture. Furthermore, WE research has demonstrated the positive correlation among support from supervisors and colleagues, coaching by supervisors, innovative environment, and congruence between organizational and individual values<sup>25)</sup>.

Furthermore, previous studies suggest a close association between Japanese nurses' exercise habits and job satisfaction/intention to continue working<sup>26)</sup>. Therefore, efforts made by hospital organizations to improve health and productivity management by encouraging health activities such as exercise and sports are expected to improve nurses' WE and retention and prevent turnover. We examine the relationship between nurses' perceptions of health and productivity management in hospital organizations and their WE. Particular attention will be paid to identifying health culture that contributes to nurses having high WE.

## Materials and Methods

## Procedure and sample

## Sampling

A web-based survey was conducted among fulltime employed nurses, midwives, and public health nurses working in Japanese hospitals with more than 100 beds. The sample comprised 500 respondents selected from the panel registered with Cross Marketing, Inc., a leading marketing research agency in Japan. The survey period was from March 1 to April 18, 2022, and 518 responses were initially included in the study. After excluding those with extremely short response times (under four minutes) and samples with the same response to a single question (straight line cut), 377 answers were selected for the final analysis (valid response rate: 72.8%).

## Attributes of participants

The participants' attributes are shown in Table 1. There were 65 men (17.2%) and 312 women (82.8%). The mean age was  $43.1 (\pm 9.6)$  years, consistent with the volume zone of nurses' age, 40-44 years (14.2%), as reported by the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare<sup>1)</sup>. The number of years of nursing experience was  $18.6 \ (\pm 9.5)$ , and the number of years of service in the current position was 12.6 (± 8.7). Furthermore, 268 (71.1%) participants were in the staff class, 81 (21.5%) were in the supervisor class, 16 (4.2%) were in the head nurse class, and 12 (3.2%) were in the director class. The percentage of positions was also consistent with the Japanese Nursing Association survey<sup>4)</sup>, with 73.0% of the respondents in non-managerial positions (staff class) and 22.8% in middle-managerial positions (chiefs and division chiefs).

## Measures

## Basic attributes

The respondents were asked to answer questions regarding the following demographic variables: gender, age, years of service at the current workplace, years of experience, position, marital status, work shifts, frequency of exercise per week, and working hours per week.

## Nurses' perceptions of health and productivity management

To assess hospital organizations' efforts toward maintaining nurses' health and productivity management, a questionnaire with 20 items was developed based on the indicators developed by Takahashi et al.<sup>27)</sup>. This served as an evaluation index of a healthy workplace culture. As our focus was on hospital organizations, the original term "company" was replaced with "hospital" or "the current workplace"; further, "employee" was replaced with "personnel." These adjustments served to retain the original intended meanings while ensuring the questionnaire's suitability for our sample. The response method was the same as the original<sup>27)</sup>, with a three-point scale comprising the options of "I don't know," "I'm not sure," and "I know." Similarly, a four-point scale was used to measure "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree."

## Work engagement

The Japanese version of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale<sup>28)</sup> was used. Responses were given on a seven-point scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Every day (feel it all the time)." For the analysis, the total scale scores and scores of the three sub-factors (vigor, dedication, and absorption) were used.

## Statistical analysis

First, for the question on healthy workplace culture, one group of positive answers (e.g., "I know," "Strongly agree," "Agree") was designated as Recognizing Healthy Culture (RHC) and the group of negative answers (e.g., "I don't know," "I'm not sure," "Strongly disagree," "Disagree") was designated as Not Recognizing Healthy Culture (NRHC). Further, a quartile was used for WE, with the 75th percentile as the cutoff point. The group with the highest scores was designated "high work engagement" (HWE) and the group with the lowest scores was designated "low work engagement" (LWE).

Next, binomial logistic regression analysis was conducted with RHC/NRHC as the explanatory variables and HWE/LWE as the objective variable to calculate crude odds ratios (CORs) and adjusted odds ratios (AORs). For AORs, propensity scores were calculated for gender, age, years of service at the current workplace, years of experience, position, marital status, work shifts, frequency of exercise per week, and working hours per week and used as moderator variables. SPSS version 28 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis.

## Ethical considerations

This study was approved by the ethics committee at the Graduate School of Sports and Health Science, Juntendo University (Application Number: 2021–115). The start screen of the survey clearly stated its purpose and informed respondents that clicking the answer button implied consent to participate.

## Results

## Logistic regression analysis of nurses' perceptions of health and productivity management and work engagement

The results of the analysis are presented in Tables 2, 3-1 and 3-2. First, in the analysis using total WE scores as the objective variable, the CORs for WE tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all indicator items related to healthy workplace climate. Similarly, the AORs for WE tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all items except "Participation of personnel from the planning stage of the efforts" and "Reflection of personnel's opinions in the planning of the efforts." Items with particularly high AORs were as follows: "Hospital's interest in its personnel's health" (AOR=3.25, 95% confidence interval (CI) [1.97, 5.37]); "Supervisors' support for participating in health promotion efforts during work hours" (AOR=2.69, 95% CI [1.60, 4.49]); "Active participation of the management team in these efforts" (AOR=2.68,95% CI [1.61,4.45]); "Colleagues" interest in health" (AOR=2.59, 95% CI [1.54, 4.33]); and "Colleagues' support for taking sick leave" (AOR=2.53, 95% CI [1.30, 4.94]).

Second, analysis was conducted using vigor as the objective variable. The COR for vigor tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all indicator items related to healthy workplace climate. The AORs of WE tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all items except "Hospital policy on maintaining and promoting health."

Third, analysis was conducted using the dedication sub-factor as the objective variable. The CORs for dedication tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all indicator items related to healthy workplace climate. The AORs for WE tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all items except "Participation of personnel from the planning stage of the efforts," "Reflection of personnel's opinions in the planning of the efforts" and "Conversations with colleagues about health promotion efforts."

Finally, analysis was conducted using the absorption sub-factor as the objective variable. The CORs for absorption tended to be higher in the RHC group than in the NRHC group for all items except "Reflection of personnel's opinions in the planning of the efforts." The AORs for WE tended to be higher in the RHC group than in NRHC group for "Program and support for returning to work after a long absence," "Feedback on physical condition from supervisors to personnel," "Provision of useful information about health promotion," "Communication about the importance of promoting a healthy workplace from supervisors to personnel," "Participation of personnel from the planning stage of the efforts," "Hospital's interest in its personnel's health," "Supervisors' support for participating in health promotion efforts during work hours," "Active participation of the management team in these efforts," "Colleagues' support for taking sick leave," "Colleagues' interest in health promotion," and "Participating with colleagues to promote a healthy workplace."

## Discussion

In this study, we examined the relationship between nurses' positive attitude toward WE and the efforts made by hospitals (employers), supervisors (e.g., nursing departments, managers, and chiefs), colleagues, and other individuals in hospital organizations to promote health and productivity management. This section examines the relationship between WE and four items that showed high overall AOR scores in our findings: "Hospital's interest in its personnel's health," "Supervisors' support for participation in health promotion efforts during work hours," "Active participation of the management team in these efforts," and "Colleagues' interest in health."

## Hospital's interest in its personnel's health

To promote new measures in health and productivity management, the need for a corporate culture that accepts new programs and a workplace environment where supervisors and colleagues can use the programs is suggested<sup>29)</sup>. In other words, to achieve organizational results, employees must participate in health promotion efforts. Employees' thoughts and feelings cannot be controlled directly<sup>26)</sup>, but can be addressed indirectly through changes in the workplace environment. In our study, the item "Hospital's interest in its personnel's health" had the highest AOR (2.67). The process of measuring WE involves the evaluation of the values employees

	n	%	Mean	SD
Gender				
Men	65	17.2		
Women	312	82.8		
Age			43.1	8.7
Years of nursing experience			18.6	9.5
Years of service at the current workplace			12.6	8.7
Position				
Staff class	268	71.1		
Chief class	81	21.5		
Manager class	16	4.2		
Director class	12	3.2		
Marital status				
Unmarried	120	31.8		
Married (including separated and widowed)	257	68.7		
Work shifts				
Day shift only	88	23.3		
Two-shift system	216	57.3		
Three-shift system	68	18.0		
Night shift only	5	1.3		
Frequency of exercise				
Less than 1 day/month	233	61.8		
More than 1 day/month	46	12.2		
More than 1 day/week	78	20.7		
More than 3 days/week	20	5.3		
Working hours per week				
1-34	12	3.2		
35-39	70	18.6		
40-49	204	54.1		
More than 50	91	24.1		

<b>Table I</b> Tarticipants attribute score	I able I	rarticipants	attribute	scores
---	----------	--------------	-----------	--------

 Table 2
 Participants' work engagement scores

			HWE	(n=279)		LWE (n=98)						
	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Total	20.8	13.7	0	54	38.8	7.4	29	54	14.5	8.9	0	28
Vigor	6.3	4.8	0	18	11.9	2.8	9	18	3.7	2.9	0	8
Dedication	7.9	4.9	0	18	14.4	2.0	12	18	5.7	3.4	0	11
Absorption	6.6	4.7	0	18	12.9	2.5	10	18	4.3	3.0	0	9

Notes: HWE; High work engagement. LWE; Low work engagement. Cut-off point; Total = 29.0, Vigor = 9.0, Dedication = 12.0 Absorption = 10.0

perceive in an organization's actions against its espoused values to determine sincerity and against personal values to determine congruence<sup>30)</sup>. The results suggest that hospitals' concern for the health of their employees contributes effectively to the improvement of their WE. Based on these results, we believe that hospitals need to create a work environment that affirms health manage-

	To be the second second		Total						Vigor						
#	workplace culture		Crude OR 95% CI		6 CI	Adjusted OR 95%		G CI Crude OR		95% CI		Adjusted OR	95% CI		
1	Hospital policy on maintaining and promoting health		3.08	1.63	5.80	2.26	1.12	4.55	2.71	1.44	5.07	1.65	0.82	3.32	
2	Procedures for handling health issues		2.45	1.52	3.96	1.83	1.09	3.06	3.01	1.89	4.76	2.20	1.35	3.60	
3	Program and support for returning to work after a long absence		2.40	1.49	3.84	2.12	1.31	3.43	2.37	1.52	3.70	2.04	1.28	3.23	
4	Programs and menus for improving health		2.18	1.27	3.71	2.00	1.15	3.48	2.46	1.47	4.12	2.19	1.28	3.73	
5	Program and support for improving mental health		2.29	1.41	3.71	2.07	1.26	3.40	2.74	1.73	4.33	2.41	1.50	3.86	
6	Feedback on physical condition from supervisors to personnel	193	2.79	1.71	4.56	2.50	1.51	4.13	3.28	2.06	5.23	2.91	1.81	4.69	
7	Provision of useful information about health promotion	108	2.91	1.78	4.74	2.50	1.51	4.13	3.32	2.07	5.32	2.77	1.70	4.51	
8	Communication about the importance of promoting a healthy workplace from supervisors to personnel	117	2.75	1.70	4.45	2.36	1.44	3.88	3.39	2.13	5.39	2.93	1.81	4.72	
9	Participation of personnel from the planning stage of the efforts	83	1.88	1.11	3.18	1.58	0.90	2.77	3.29	1.98	5.46	2.66	1.56	4.53	
10	Reflection of personnel's opinions in the planning of the efforts	98	1.67	1.01	2.77	1.40	0.83	2.36	2.22	1.37	3.58	1.83	1.10	3.02	
11	Places to consult with others about health and safety issues	72	2.90	1.69	4.97	2.25	1.27	3.97	3.32	1.95	5.65	2.48	1.41	4.33	
12	Hospital's interest in its personnel's health		3.72	2.29	6.03	3.25	1.97	5.37	4.56	2.86	7.25	3.88	2.40	6.25	
13	Hospital's interest in creating a healthy work environment	157	2.64	1.64	4.23	2.18	1.33	3.56	3.66	2.32	5.77	3.03	1.89	4.86	
14	Supervisors' support for participating in health promotion efforts during work hours	193	3.17	1.92	5.22	2.69	1.60	4.49	3.10	1.95	4.93	2.54	1.57	4.11	
15	Active participation of the management team in these efforts	183	3.23	1.97	5.29	2.68	1.61	4.45	3.64	2.28	5.80	2.99	1.85	4.85	
16	Colleagues' support for taking sick leave	285	2.88	1.49	5.56	2.53	1.30	4.94	2.26	1.27	3.99	1.94	1.08	3.48	
17	Colleagues' interest in health promotion	201	3.01	1.82	4.98	2.59	1.54	4.33	3.06	1.91	4.89	2.67	1.65	4.32	
18	Conversations with colleagues about health promotion efforts	114	2.43	1.50	3.94	1.77	1.05	2.98	3.43	2.15	5.47	2.43	1.47	4.00	
19	Encouraging colleagues about these efforts	117	2.44	1.51	3.95	1.79	1.07	3.00	3.03	1.91	4.82	2.22	1.36	3.63	
20	Participating with colleagues to promote a healthy workplace	97	2.86	1.74	4.71	2.41	1.43	4.03	3.46	2.13	5.61	2.88	1.74	4.75	

Table 3-1 Association between health and productivity management and work engagement (logistic regression analysis)

Notes: For the adjusted odds ratios, propensity scores were calculated for the moderator variables of gender, age, years of service at the current workplace, years of experience, position, marital status, work shifts, frequency of exercise per week, and working hours per week. Crude OR/Adjusted OR: Odds ratio of RHC with NRHC as the reference. 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

\* Number of those in the RHC group.

ment, explains resource use, communicates a clear vision, and makes health goals known<sup>31)</sup> throughout the organization. We believe that this will increase trust in the hospital as a workplace where employees' health is protected.

Thus, the results suggest that acceptance by the hospital organization of health and productivity management and the creation of a work environment where the use of resources is explained-as well as a clear vision and health goals are commu-

	Index items for healthy workplace culture		Dedication						Absorption						
#			Crude OR	95% CI		Adjusted OR	95% CI		Crude OR	95% CI		Adjusted OR	95% CI		
1	Hospital policy on maintaining and promoting health		4.36	2.30	8.25	2.96	1.47	5.96	2.72	1.44	5.14	1.84	0.91	3.73	
2	Procedures for handling health issues		3.28	2.02	5.32	2.33	1.39	3.91	2.00	1.24	3.23	1.47	0.87	2.45	
3	Program and support for returning to work after a long absence		2.71	1.68	4.38	2.35	1.43	3.84	1.96	1.23	3.12	1.65	1.02	2.67	
4	Programs and menus for improving health		2.26	1.32	3.86	2.11	1.21	3.67	1.99	1.16	3.39	1.71	0.98	2.99	
5	Program and support for improving mental health	194	2.99	1.81	4.93	2.53	1.51	4.24	1.85	1.15	2.97	1.52	0.93	2.49	
6	Feedback on physical condition from supervisors to personnel	193	2.84	1.73	4.67	2.57	1.54	4.27	2.11	1.31	3.40	1.76	1.07	2.88	
7	Provision of useful information about health promotion	108	3.25	1.99	5.31	2.70	1.62	4.48	2.37	1.45	3.85	1.92	1.16	3.19	
8	Communication about the importance of promoting a healthy workplace from supervisors to personnel		2.72	1.67	4.41	2.31	1.40	3.81	2.25	1.39	3.63	1.83	1.11	3.02	
9	Participation of personnel from the planning stage of the efforts	83	1.82	1.07	3.09	1.60	0.91	2.80	2.13	1.26	3.58	1.76	1.01	3.06	
10	Reflection of personnel's opinions in the planning of the efforts	98	1.99	1.20	3.28	1.65	0.98	2.79	1.64	0.99	2.71	1.35	0.80	2.29	
11	Places to consult with others about health and safety issues	72	2.59	1.50	4.45	1.84	1.03	3.28	2.26	1.31	3.90	1.63	0.91	2.91	
12	Hospital's interest in its personnel's health		3.32	2.04	5.37	2.84	1.72	4.69	3.19	1.98	5.14	2.67	1.63	4.38	
13	Hospital's interest in creating a healthy work environment	157	2.98	1.84	4.81	2.39	1.45	3.94	2.04	1.28	3.25	1.56	0.95	2.55	
14	Supervisors' support for participating in health promotion efforts during work hours	193	3.03	1.84	5.00	2.51	1.50	4.21	3.04	1.85	4.99	2.45	1.46	4.10	
15	Active participation of the management team in these efforts	183	3.29	2.00	5.40	2.64	1.58	4.43	3.11	1.91	5.07	2.49	1.50	4.14	
16	Colleagues' support for taking sick leave	285	3.54	1.75	7.17	3.11	1.52	6.35	2.37	1.27	4.42	2.01	1.06	3.80	
17	Colleagues' interest in health promotion	201	2.53	1.54	4.16	2.02	1.21	3.39	2.25	1.38	3.65	1.84	1.11	3.03	
18	Conversations with colleagues about health promotion efforts	114	2.12	1.30	3.45	1.38	0.81	2.36	2.11	1.30	3.41	1.44	0.85	2.44	
19	Encouraging colleagues about these efforts	117	3.27	2.01	5.31	2.35	1.40	3.95	1.88	1.16	3.04	1.30	0.77	2.19	
20	Participating with colleagues to promote a healthy workplace	97	2.31	1.40	3.81	1.89	1.11	3.18	2.31	1.40	3.80	1.86	1.10	3.13	

Table 3-2 Association between health and productivity management and work engagement (logistic regression analysis) continued

Notes: For the adjusted odds ratios, propensity scores were calculated for the moderator variables of gender, age, years of service at the current workplace, years of experience, position, marital status, work shifts, frequency of exercise per week, and working hours per week. Crude OR/Adjusted OR: Odds ratio of RHC with NRHC as the reference. 95% CI: 95% confidence interval. \* Number of those in the RHC group.

nicated<sup>31)</sup>—across the organization lead to a good evaluation of the hospital and contribute toward improving nursing personnel's WE.

## Supervisors' support for health promotion efforts during work hours

Studies comparing employees' participation rates in health programs have shown higher participation rates among employees of small- and medium-sized

companies compared to among employees of large companies<sup>32)</sup>. The suggested reason for these findings is the rapid communication of knowledge and motivation because of a smaller staff in small- and medium-sized companies' networks. Nursing organizations tend to be organized into nursing units, such as hospital wards<sup>33, 34)</sup>, where nurses are assigned under the supervision of a nurse manager. The staffing levels (organizational design) of these organizations are similar to those of small businesses with fewer than 50 employees. Higher levels of engagement have been observed when supervisors exhibit relationship-related behaviors<sup>35)</sup>. The current study also showed a significant difference for the item related to supervisors' support for health promotion efforts during work hours (AOR, 2.69), suggesting that supervisors' support for such efforts increases nurses' WE. In the organizational design of nursing organizations, we believe that the actions of the supervisor-the head nurse-build the organizational climate. We infer that in an organization where the supervisor's support for health activities is demonstrated without discomfort, employees feel secure and form a sense of belonging. We believe that the formation of such a sense of belonging will enhance WE.

# Active participation of management team in health promotion efforts

A good work environment is essential for workplace health promotion efforts to be effective<sup>36)</sup>, and the outcomes of such health promotion programs depend on organizational factors such as the top management's leadership<sup>24)</sup>. Berry et al.<sup>37)</sup>, in their discussion on "engaged leadership at multiple levels," suggested that if chief executive officers find time for exercise, employees would be less reluctant to take a fitness leave. In other words, creating a work environment that allows people to participate willingly in organizational efforts, explaining the use of resources, communicating a clear vision and health goals, and demonstrating exemplary behavioral changes by the top management will likely lead to successful health and productivity management<sup>38)</sup>. In this study, the item related to the active participation of the top management team in the health promotion efforts of the organization showed significant results regarding WE (AOR, 2.68), followed by the AOR of the item on supervisors' support for these efforts. As an intervention process to improve WE, Bakker and Leiter<sup>30)</sup> reported that, "In the initial phases of a new initiative to enhance WE, this role could be effectively served by the CEO," which is consistent with our results. Thus, it is suggested that WE is associated with specific behaviors (e.g., expression of concern about personnel's health) by physicians in management and leadership roles, heads of nursing organizations, and nurse directors. Creating a safe environment for engaging in health activities will lead to a positive attitude toward the workplace. We believe that this sense of being protected by the workplace will increase nurses' WE.

## Colleagues' interest in health promotion

Interactions with social networks of friends and colleagues<sup>38, 39)</sup> and communicating about health<sup>40)</sup> are believed to contribute to behavioral changes. Thus, a growing interest in health among colleagues seems to create a positive work environment, including helping promote support for each other's physical condition. In our findings, colleagues' interest in health was significantly associated with WE (AOR, 2.59), corroborating the findings of the cited research and indicating an association between colleagues' interest in health and individual WE. In another study, an increase in WE due to individual health efforts seemed to influence nurses<sup>41)</sup> and lead to the creation of a vibrant and rewarding work environment. The nature of nurses' work tends to hinder their ability to focus on their own health during working hours. However, crossover effects<sup>42-45)</sup> can be expected by building a support system that provides opportunities to discuss club activities in hospitals and encourages efforts to improve an individual's health. Thus, although it can be extremely difficult<sup>46)</sup> to change established lifestyles and exercise habits, if energetic colleagues can inspire other nurses and help the latter imagine themselves as energetic, this process can improve the awareness and importance of physical exercise and health, and eventually of WE.

# The effects of improving WE in health management

Regarding the effects of health management initiatives, organizations with higher rates of

employee participation have a positive impact on presenteeism<sup>32)</sup>. Furthermore, presenteeism is negatively correlated with WE and satisfaction<sup>47)</sup>.

We believe that if presenteeism can be reduced through health management, it may positively change the attitude toward work and contribute to an improvement in WE. Active participation of management was significant in the hospital organization that we studied. Previous studies that have examined the relationship between presenteeism, climate, and organizational support for nurses have also linked organizational support to the risk of presenteeism<sup>42)</sup>. Until now, the retention and prevention of turnover of nurses has required the development of a work environment that allows nurses to continue working, including improvements in working hour management, night shift systems, and occupational health and safety<sup>48)</sup>. However, the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare's recent survey of reasons for leaving the workforce<sup>49)</sup> shows that the top reason for turnover is physical and mental health. These findings suggest that efforts to engage in health activities through health management may lead to improved effects on physical and mental health and WE, and may contribute to the prevention of nurse turnover and retention.

## Conclusion

Reducing the high nurse turnover rate in Japan is an important concern. The impact of the nursing shortage, due to a declining workforce and falling birth rate, on patient care is multifaceted<sup>50</sup>. We argue that health and productivity management initiatives in hospital organizations may have a positive impact on nurse WE. Other major implications of the survey results are that the enhancement of health promotion support systems<sup>51</sup> and the development of a highly energetic and enthusiastic work environment in the field may contribute to promoting a rewarding workplace, improving retention rates, and preventing turnover.

## Limitations

As this study is based on an online questionnaire survey, it does not reveal the specific health activity initiatives required for health management. We believe that future qualitative surveys, such as interviews, will reveal a more detailed relationship between the perception of health management initiatives and WE. Analyzing the relationship between specific initiatives and WE will lead to expectations for further development of future research on health management. Furthermore, we believe that the activation of health activities in hospital organizations, not only among nurses, will enhance WE among all healthcare workers, leading to their retention in the workplace and prevention of their intention to leave the workforce. We believe that this will lead to new insights into future work styles in the medical field.

## Scope for further research

Although the number of medical corporations certified for health management is increasing, a measurement scale for health activity initiatives in hospital organizations has not yet been developed. Therefore, we employed health culture indicators in corporate organizations to measure perceived health efforts. In the future, it is necessary to develop a scale to measure health activity efforts in highly specialized organizations such as medical corporations and social medical corporations. In addition, this study revealed that the relationship between awareness (perception) of health activity efforts and WE is highly significant. In the future, it will be necessary to further explore the factors necessary to continue working by focusing on the relationship between vitality, enthusiasm, and immersion, which are sub-factors of WE.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Joint Research Program of Juntendo University, Faculty of Health and Sports Science. We would like to express our gratitude to everyone involved at Juntendo University.

## Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research.

## Author contributions

IK performed the data analysis; IT, HY, MY, and MM interpreted the analysis results and contributed significantly to the writing of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

#### References

- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare: Summary of the Year 2020 Health Administration Reports (Employment Medical Personnel). https://www.mhlw.go.jp/ toukei/saikin/hw/eisei/20/dl/gaikyo.pdf (Last accessed August 5, 2022) (in Japanese)
- 2) Japanese Nursing Association: 2022 Survey on the Actual Situation of Nursing in Hospital. https://www.nurse. or.jp/home/assets/20230301\_nl04.pdf (Last accessed April 20, 2023) (in Japanese)
- 3) Japanese Nursing Association: Occupational Health and Safety Guidelines for Nurses. https://www.nurse. or.jp/nursing/shuroanzen/safety/hwp\_guideline/ index.html (Last accessed August 5, 2022) (in Japanese)
- 4) Japanese Nursing Association: Promotion of Workplace Reform for Nursing Professionals. https://www. nurse.or.jp/nursing/shuroanzen/hatarakikata/index. html (Last accessed June 23, 2022) (in Japanese)
- Rosen RH, Berger L: The Healthy Company: Eight Strategies to Develop People, Productivity and Profits. NY: Tarcher, 1992.
- 6) Ministry of International Trade and Industry: Health and Productivity Management https://www.meti.go. jp/policy/mono\_info\_service/healthcare/kenko\_keiei. html (Last accessed June 20, 2022) (in Japanese)
- 7) Boles M, Pelletier B, Lynch W: The relationship between health risks and work productivity. J Occup Environ Med, 2004; 46: 737–745.
- 8) McGregor A, Ashbury F, Caputi P, Iverson D: A preliminary investigation of health and work-environment factors on presenteeism in the workplace. J Occup Environ Med, 2018; 60: 671–678.
- 9) Castle Nicholas G, Ferguson-Rome Jamie C: Influence of nurse aide absenteeism on nursing home quality. Gerontologist, 2015; 55: 605-615.
- 10) Iwaasa T, Mizuno M: Relationship between exercise activity and job satisfaction of nurses. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2018; 64: 172–176.
- 11) Plaku-Alakbarova B, Punnett L, Gore RJ: Nursing home employee and resident satisfaction and resident care outcomes. Saf Health Work, 2018; 9: 408-415.
- 12) Schwendimann R, Dhaini S, Ausserhofer D, Engberg S, Zúñiga F: Factors associated with high job satisfaction among care workers in Swiss nursing homes – A cross sectional survey study. BMC Nurs, 2016; 15: 37.
- 13) Ministry of International Trade and Industry: Certification System for Excellent Health Management Corporations. https://www.meti.go.jp/policy/mono\_info\_ service/healthcare/kenkoukeiei\_yuryouhouzin.html (Last accessed June 20, 2022) (in Japanese)
- 14) Schaufeli WB, Salanova M, González-Romá V, Bakker AB: The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. J Happiness Stud, 2002; 3: 71–92.
- 15) Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB: The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol, 2001; 86: 499–512.

- 16) Schaufeli WB, Bakker AB: Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study. J Organ Behav, 2004; 25: 293–315.
- Laschinger HKS, Finegan J: Empowering nurses for work engagement and health in hospital settings. J Nurs Adm, 2005; 35: 439–449.
- 18) Salanova M, Lorente L, Chambel MJ, Martínez IM: Linking transformational leadership to nurses' extrarole performance: The mediating role of self-efficacy and work engagement. J Adv Nurs, 2011; 67: 2256– 2266.
- Bacon CT, Mark B: Organizational effects on patient satisfaction in hospital medical-surgical units. J Nurs Adm, 2009; 39: 220–227.
- 20) Dempsey C, Reilly BA: Nurse engagement: what are the contributing factors for success? Online J Issues Nurs, 2016; 21: 2.
- 21) Drennan VM, Ross F: Global nurse shortages: the facts, the impact and action for change. Br Med Bull, 2019; 130: 25–37.
- 22) American Nurses Association: Health & Safety. https:// www.nursingworld.org/practice-policy/work-environment/health-safety/(Last accessed August 5, 2022).
- 23) American Nurses Association: Healthy Nurse, Healthy Nation<sup>TM</sup>. https://www.healthynursehealthynation.org/
   ?\_\_hstc=53609399.fb38e1ae46fb547c6564a1a858a03744.
   1665800480581.1665800480581.1665800480581.1&\_\_hssc
   =53609399.18.1665800480581&\_\_hsfp=353952779 (Last accessed August 5, 2022).
- 24) Mori K, Nagata T, Nagata M, et al: Organizational factors affecting effectiveness of workplace health promotion programs. Occup Health Review, 2020; 33: 165. (in Japanese)
- 25) Hakanen JJ, Bakker AB, Schaufeli WB: Burnout and work engagement among teachers. J Sch Psychol, 2006; 43: 495–513.
- 26) Iwaasa T, Mizuno M: Job satisfaction and intention to stay in relation to sport and exercise activities among nurses of university hospitals. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2020; 66: 142–153.
- 27) Takahashi Y, Tsuno Y, Omori J: Evaluation index for a healthy workplace culture in health and productivity management. Sangyo Eiseigaku Zasshi, 2022; 64: 225– 237. (in Japanese)
- 28) Shimazu A, Schaufeli WB, Kosugi S, *et al*: Work engagement in Japan: Validation of the Japanese version of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale. Applied Psychology, 2008; 57: 510–523.
- 29) Grover SL, Crooker KJ: Who appreciates familyresponsive human resource policies: The impact of family-friendly policies on the organizational attachment of parents and non-parents. Pers Psychol, 1995; 48: 271–288.
- 30) Bakker AB, Leiter MP: Work Engagement: A Handbook of Essential Theory and Research. London: Psychology Press, 2010.
- 31) Sorensen G, McLellan D, Dennerlein JT, et al: Integration of health protection and health promotion: Rationale, indicators, and metrics. J Occup Environ Med, 2013; 55: S12–S18.
- 32) Schwatka NV, Smith D, Weitzenkamp D, et al: The impact of worksite wellness programs by size of business: A 3-year longitudinal study of participation, health benefits, absenteeism, and presenteeism. Ann Work Expo Health, 2018; 62 (Supplement\_1): S42-S54.

- 33) Inada K, Yamada S: Development of a measure of nursing organization culture. Journal of Kochi Women's University Academy of Nursing, 2021; 46: 80–89. (in Japanese)
- 34) Takeuchi T, Tokeri Y, Yamanishi F: Reliability and validity of the Sense of Coherence Scale for nursing organizations. The Journal of the Japan Academy of Nursing Administration and Policies, 2022; 26: 86–93. (in Japanese)
- 35) Bakker AB, Hakanen JJ, Demerouti E, Xanthopoulou D: Job resources boost work engagement, particularly when job demands are high. J Educ Psychol, 2007; 99: 274-284.
- 36) Jørgensen MB, Villadsen E, Burr H, Punnett L, Holtermann A: Does employee participation in workplace health promotion depend on the working environment? A cross-sectional study of Danish workers. BMJ Open, 2016; 6: 010516.
- 37) Berry LL, Mirabito AM, Baun WB: What's the hard return on employee wellness programs? Harv Bus Rev, 2011; 89: 20–21.
- 38) Nakamura M, Yoshioka S: Factors related to work engagement among nursing staffs working in a university hospital. The Journal of the Yonago Medical Association, 2016; 67: 17–28. (in Japanese)
- 39) Berkman LF: Assessing the physical health effects of social networks and social support. Annu Rev Public Health, 1984; 5: 413–432.
- 40) Kreuter MW, McClure SM: The role of culture in health communication. Annu Rev Public Health, 2004; 25: 439-455.
- 41) Shimazu A: Job stress and work engagement. Stress Science Research, 2010; 25: 1-6. (in Japanese)
- 42) Aydın Ş, Şahin D: The relationships between presenteeism, perceived organizational support, climate of fear and vigor. Nevsehir Haci Bektas Veli University,

2021; 11: 30-43.

- 43) Bakker AB, Emmerik H, Euwema MC: Crossover of burnout and engagement in work teams. Work Occup, 2006; 33: 464–489.
- 44) Westman M, Etzion D: The crossover of strain from school principals to teachers and vice versa. J Occup Health Psychol, 1999; 4: 269–278.
- 45) Bakker AB, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP, Taris TW: Work engagement: An emerging concept in occupational health psychology. Work & Stress, 2008; 22: 187–200.
- 46) Shimazaki T, Takenaka K, Kato M, Yoshizawa M: The impact of health communication on community based physical activity intervention – Using the small change strategy– Sasakawa Sports Foundation. Sports Policy Reseach, 2014; 3: 142–147. (in Japanese)
- 47) Côté K, Lauzier M, Stinglhamber F: The relationship between presenteeism and job satisfaction: A mediated moderation model using work engagement and perceived organizational support. Eur Manag. J, 2021; 39: 270–278.
- 48) Suto T, Ishii N: Research on work engagement of the deputy head nurses — Relationship with self-efficacy and the nursing work environment —. Bulletin of Graduate School of Health Sciences, Akita University, 2017; 25: 129–139. (in Japanese)
- 49) Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare: Study group on supply and demand outlook for nurses, 2014; https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/shingi2/0000072897.html (Last accessed August 5, 2022) (in Japanese)
- 50) Snavely TM: A brief economic analysis of the looming nursing shortage in the United States. Nurs Econ, 2016; 34: 98–100.
- 51) Mizuno M, Yamada Y, Mizuno Y, Matsuda F, Koizumi T, Sakai K: An empirical study on work stress and health conditions of Japanese nurses. Journal of Health and Sports Science Juntendo University, 2007; 11: 58–63.

## Juntendo Medical Journal 2024. 70 (1), 65-85

## Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2021 [5/6]

#### Ophthalmology

#### (Original Articles)

- Yasudo H, Ando T, Maehara A, Ando T, Izawa K, Tanabe A, Kaitani A, Nomura S, Seki M, Yoshida K, Oda H, Okamoto Y, Wang H, Kamei A, Kojima M, Kimura M, Uchida K, Nakano N, Kaneko J, Ebihara N, Hasegawa K, Shimizu T, Takita J, Ogawa H, Okumura K, Ogawa S, Tamura N, Kitaura J: A possible association between a nucleotide-binding domain Irr-containing protein family pyd-containing protein 1 mutation and an autoinflammatory disease involving liver cirrhosis. Hepatology, 2021; 74: 2296–2299.
- 2) Inomata T, Nakamura M, Iwagami M, Sung J, Nakamura M, Ebihara N, Fujisawa K, Muto K, Nojiri S, Ide T, Okano M, Okumura Y, Fujio K, Fujimoto K, Nagao M, Hirosawa K, Akasaki Y, Murakami A: Symptom-based stratification for hay fever: A crowdsourced study using the smartphone application AllerSearch. Allergy, 2021; 76: 3820–3824.
- 3) Inomata T, Nakamura M, Sung J, Midorikawa-Inomata A, Iwagami M, Fujio K, Akasaki Y, Okumura Y, Fujimoto K, Eguchi A, Miura M, Nagino K, Shokirova H, Zhu J, Kuwahara M, Hirosawa K, Dana R, Murakami A: Smartphone-based digital phenotyping for dry eye toward P4 medicine: a crowdsourced cross-sectional study. NPJ Digital Medicine, 2021; 4: 171.
- 4) Toyoshima S, Sakamoto-Sasaki T, Kurosawa Y, Hayama K, Matsuda A, Watanabe Y, Terui Y, Gon Y, Matsumoto K, Okayama Y: miR103a-3p in extracellular vesicles from FcɛRI-aggregated human mast cells enhances IL-5 production by group 2 innate lymphoid cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2021; 147: 1878-1891.
- 5) Kitazawa K, Deinhardt-Emmer S, Inomata T, Deshpande S, Sotozono C: The Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 Infection on the Ocular Surface and Prevention Strategies. Cells, 2021; 10: 796.
- 6) Fukase S, Ando T, Matsuzawa M, Kimura M, Sone Y, Izawa K, Kaitani A, Kamei A, Kojima M, Nakano N, Maeda K, Shimizu T, Ogawa H, Okumura K, Nishiyama M, Murakami A, Ebihara N, Kitaura J: Pollen shells and soluble factors play non-redundant roles in the development of allergic conjunctivitis in mice.

An asterisk (\*) denotes doctoral works by Japanese students. A dagger (†) denotes doctoral works by non-Japanese students. Ocul Surf, 2021; 22: 152-162. (IF: 5.033)

- 7) Zhu J, Inomata T, Fujimoto K, Uchida K, Fujio K, Nagino K, Miura M, Negishi N, Okumura Y, Akasaki Y, Hirosawa K, Kuwahara M, Eguchi A, Shokirova H, Yanagawa A, Midorikawa-Inomata A, Murakami A: Ex Vivo-Induced Bone Marrow-Derived Myeloid Suppressor Cells Prevent Corneal Allograft Rejection in Mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2021; 62: 3.
  - 8) Ono K, Murakami A, Haishima Y: A web-based survey of contact lens-related adverse events among the Japanese female population. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 15939.
- 9) Kudo D, Hiratsuka Y, Nakamura M, Uchida Y, Ono S, Murakami A: Optimal methods for estimating sports vision in kendo athletes. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 315. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79534-1.PMID: 33431981
  - 10) Hirakata T, Hiratsuka Y, Yamamoto S, Kanbayashi K, Kobayashi H, Murakami A: Risk factors for macular pucker after rhegmatogenous retinal detachment surgery. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 18276.
- † 11) Shokirova H, Inomata T, Saitoh T, Zhu J, Fujio K, Okumura Y, Yanagawa A, Fujimoto K, Sung J, Eguchi A, Miura M, Nagino K, Hirosawa K, Kuwahara M, Akasaki Y, Nagase H, Murakami A: Topical administration of the kappa opioid receptor agonist nalfurafine suppresses corneal neovascularization and inflammation. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 8647.
  - 12) Zhu J, Inomata T, Di Zazzo A, Kitazawa K, Okumura Y, Coassin M, Surico PL, Fujio K, Yanagawa A, Miura M, Akasaki Y, Fujimoto K, Nagino K, Midorikawa-Inomata A, Hirosawa K, Kuwahara M, Huang T, Shokirova H, Eguchi A, Murakami A: Role of immune cell diversity and heterogeneity in corneal graft survival: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 4667.
  - 13) Takesue A, Hiratsuka Y, Inoue A, Kondo K, Aida J: Is social participation associated with good self-rated health among visually impaired older adults?: The JAGES cross-sectional study. BMC geriatrics, 2021; 21: 592. doi: 10.1186/s12877 -021-02554-7.
  - 14) Sakanishi Y, Morita S, Mashimo K, Tamaki K, Ebihara N: Subfoveal choroidal thickness and treatment outcomes of intravitreal aflibercept for branch retinal vein occlusion. Life (Basel), 2021; 11: 572. doi: 10.3390/ life11060572.

15) Usui-Ouchi A, Tamaki A, Sakanishi Y, Tamaki K,

This is a reprint of content originally published in Juntendo University HP.

Mashimo K, Sakuma T, Ebihara N: Factors affecting a short-term response to anti-vegf therapy in diabetic macular edema. Life (Basel), 2021; 11: 83. doi: 10.3390/ life11020083.

- 16) Hirakata T, Huang T, Hiratsuka Y, Yamamoto S, Inoue A, Murakami A: Clinical patterns of rhegmatogenous retinal detachment during the first state of emergency for the COVID-19 pandemic in a Tokyo center. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0261779.
- 17) Chiba-Mayumi M, Hirakata T, Yamaguchi M, Murakami A: Infliximab recovers central cone dysfunction with normal fundus in a patient with ulcerative colitis. Am J Ophthalmol Case Rep, 2021; 25: 101244.
- 18) Sakanishi Y, Tamaki K, Mashimo K, Sakuma T, Ebihara N: Relationship between Recurrence of Macular Edema Due to Branch Retinal Vein Occlusion and Changes in Choroidal Thickness. Ophthalmic Res, 2021; 64: 363–368.
- \* 19) Asaoka S, Kasuga T, Matsunaga T, Hayashi Y, Asada Y, Iwamoto S, Hirakata T, Honda R, Obazawa H, Sasaki H, Ohta T, Matsuda A: Operative Complications of Glaucoma Drainage Implant Tube Insertion Through the Sulcus for Pseudophakic Eye. J Glaucoma, 2021; 30: e169-e174.
  - 20) Sakanishi Y, Yasuda K, Morita S, Mashimo K, Tamaki K, Sakuma T, Ebihara N: Twenty-four-month results of intravitreal aflibercept for macular edema due to branch retinal vein occlusion. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2021; 65: 63–68.
  - 21) Mashimo K, Usui-Ouchi A, Ito Y, Wakasa-Arai R, Yokoi N, Kawasaki S, Murakami A, Matsuda A, Ebihara N: Role of oncostatin M in the pathogenesis of vernalkeratoconjunctivitis: focus on tissue remodeling. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2021; 65: 144–153.
  - 22) Hirakata T, Fujinami K, Saito W, Kanda A, Hirakata A, Ishida S, Murakami A, Tsunoda K, Miyake Y: Acute unilateral inner retinal dysfunction with photophobia: importance of electrodiagnosis. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2021; 65: 42–53.
- \* 23) Sadamatsu Y, Ono K, Hiratsuka Y, Takesue A, Tano T, Yamada M, Otani K, Sekiguchi M, Konno S, Kikuchi S, Fukuhara S, Murakami A: Prevalence and factors associated with uncorrected presbyopia in a rural population of Japan: the Locomotive Syndrome and Health Outcome in Aizu Cohort Study. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2021; 65: 724-730.
- \* 24) Eguchi A, Inomata T, Nakamura M, Nagino K, Iwagami M, Sung J, Midorikawa-Inomata A, Okumura Y, Fujio K, Fujimoto K, Miura M, Akasaki Y, Shokirova H, Hirosawa K, Kuwahara M, Zhu J, Dana R, Murakami A, Kobayashi H: Heterogeneity of eye drop use among symptomatic dry eye individuals in Japan: large-scale crowdsourced research using DryEyeRhythm application. Jpn J Ophthalmology, 2021; 65: 271–281.
  - 25) Takai Y, Sakanishi Y, Okamoto M, Ebihara N: Sympa-

thetic ophthalmia after 27-G pars plana vitrectomy. BMC Ophthalmol, 2021; 21: 195. doi: 10.1186/s12886-021-01961-z.

- 26) Ono K, Sakemi F, Marumoto T: Intraocular pressure-lowering effects of ripasudil, a rho-kinase inhibitor, and selective laser trabeculoplasty as adjuvant therapy in patients with uncontrolled glaucoma. Int Ophthalmol, 2021; 41: 605-611.
- 27) Watanabe S, Hamanaka T, Sakurai T, Kobayashi K, Ishida N, Ebihara N: Evaluation of the outcome of long-tube shunt implant surgery in uveitic glaucoma patients by analyzing the background of uveitis. Int Ophthalmol, 2021; 41: 509–517.
- 28) Umeya R, Yoshida Y, Ono K: Impact of retinal vein occlusion on cardiovascular events in elderly Japanese patients. Medicine (Baltimore), 2021; 100: e28424.
- \* 29) Umeya U, Ono K, Kasuga T: Visual acuity after intravitreal ranibizumab with and without laseddr therapy in the treatment of macular edema due to branch retinal vein occlusion: a 12-month retrospective analysis. Int J Ophthalmol, 2021; 14: 1565-1570.
- \* 30) Fujimoto K, Uchida K, Yin E, Zhu J, Kojima Y, Uchiyama M, Yamamoto Y, Bashuda H, Matsumoto R, Tokushige K, Harada M, Inomata T, Kitaura J, Murakami A, Okumura K, Takeda K: Analysis of therapeutic potential of monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cardiac allotransplantation. Transpl Immunol, 2021; 67: 101405.
- \* 31) Yoshida Y, Ono K, Tano T, Hiratsuka Y, Otani K, Sekiguchi M, Konno S, Kikuchi S, Yamada M, Fukuhara S, Murakami A: Corneal eccentricity in a rural japanese population: the locomotive syndrome and health outcome in aizu cohort study (LOHAS). Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2021; 1–6.
  - 32) Hiratsuka Y, Michihata N, Jo T, Matsui H, Inoue A, Murakami A, Fushimi K, Yasunaga H: Improvement in activities of daily living after cataract surgery in the very old. Annals of Clinical Epidemiology, 2021; 3: 1–7.
  - 33) Widjaja SA, Hiratsuka Y, Ono K, Yustiarini I, Nurwasis N, Murakami A: Ocular trauma trends in indonesia: poor initial uncorrected visual acuity associated with mechanism of injury. Open Access Maced J Med Sci, 2021; 9: 903–908.
- $\langle \text{Reviews} \rangle$ 
  - Hiratsuka Y: Visual Impairment as a Public Health Problem in 2021. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2021; 67: 287–289.
  - 2) Inomata T, Sung J, Nakamura M, Iwagami M, Okumura Y, Fujio K, Akasaki Y, Fujimoto K, Yanagawa AI, Midorikawa-Inomata A, Nagino K, Eguchi A, Shokirova H, Zhu J, Miura M, Kuwahara M, Hirosawa K, Huang T, Morooka Y, Murakami A: Cross-hierarchical Integrative Research Network for Heterogenetic Eye Disease Toward P4 Medicine: A Narrative Review. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2021; advpub.

- 3) Grasso A, Di Zazzo A, Giannaccare G, Sung J, Inomata T, Shih KC, Micera A, Gaudenzi D, Spelta S, Romeo MA, Orsaria P, Coassin M, Altomare V: Sex Hormones Related Ocular Dryness in Breast Cancer Women. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 2620.
- 4) Tomita Y, Usui-Ouchi A, Nilsson AK, Yang J, Ko M, Hellström A, Fu Z: Metabolism in Retinopathy of Prematurity. Life (Basel), 2021; 11: 1119. doi: 10.3390/ life11111119.

#### $\langle Books \rangle$

 Matsuda A, Hirakata T, Asada Y, Nakae S: Experimental Mouse Models of Ragweed- and Papain-Induced Allergic Conjunctivitis. Methods Mol Biol, 2021; 2223: 133-149.

### Otorhinolaryngology

- (Original Articles)
  - Anzai T, Tsunoda A, Saikawa Y, Matsumoto F, Ito S, Ikeda K: Response to the letter from editor on "Cryosurgical ablation for treatment of common warts on the nasal vestibule". Am J Otolaryngol, 2021; 42: 102936.
  - 2) Anzai T, Baba A, Ito S, Suzuki Y, Tajima S, Hara S, Takata Y, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K: A Case of Aspiration Pneumonia Caused by Cerebrospinal Fluid Leaks Associated with Delayed Identification of Iatrogenic Skull Base Injury during Endoscopic Sinus Surgery. Case Rep Otolaryngol, 2021; 8: 5532194.
  - 3) Anzai T, Takata Y, Hara S, Sonoda K, Ikeda K, Okada H, Matsumoto F: Combined Underwater Endoscopic and Microscopic Surgery for External Auditory Canal Cholesteatoma: A case report. Ear, Nose & Throat Journal, 2021: Onlineahead of print.
  - 4) Fukunaga I, Oe Y, Danzaki K, Ohta S, Chen C, Shirai K, Kawano A, Ikeda K, Kamiya K: Modeling gap junction beta 2 gene-related deafness with human iPSC. Human Molecular Genetics, 2021; 30: 1429–1442.
  - 5) Fukunaga I, Oe Y, Danzaki K, Ohta S, Chen C, Iizumi M, Shiga T, Matsuoka R, Anzai T, Hibiya-Motegi R, Tajima S, Ikeda K, Akamatsu W, Kamiya K: Generation of two iPSC lines from siblings of a homozygous patient with hearing loss and a heterozygous carrier with normal hearing carrying p.G45E/Y136X mutation in GJB2. Stem Cell Research, 2021; 53: 102290.
  - 6) Fukunaga I, Oe Y, Chen C, Danzaki K, Ohta S, Koike A, Ikeda K, Kamiya K: Activin/Nodal/TGF-β Pathway Inhibitor Accelerates BMP4-Induced Cochlear Gap Junction Formation During in vitro Differentiation of Embryonic Stem Cells. Front Cell Dev Biol, 2021; 9: 602197.
- \* 7) Hara S, Kusunoki T, Nakagawa H, Toyoda Y, Nojiri S, Kamiya K, Furukawa M, Takata Y, Okada H, Anzai T, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K: Association Between Earwax-Determinant Genotypes and Acquired Middle Ear Cholesteatoma in a Japanese Population. Otolar-yngol Head Neck Surg, 2021; 16: 1945998211000374.

Online ahead of print.

- 8) Ikeda K, Harashima T, Koike T: Effects of endoscopic sinus surgery on nasal spray deposition using dyebased methods for humans and a human silicone sinonasal cavity model. Am J Otolaryngol, 2021; 42: 103058.
- 9) Inomata T, Nakamura M, Iwagami M, Sung J, Nakamura M, Ebihara N, Fujisawa K, Muto K, Nojiri S, Ide T, Okano M, Okumura Y, Fujio K, Fujimoto K, Nagao M, Hirosawa K, Akasaki Y, Murakami A: Symptom-based stratification for hay fever: A crowdsourced study using the smartphone application AllerSearch. Allergy, 2021; 4. doi: 10.1111/all. 15078. Online ahead of print.
- 10) Inoshita A, Matsumoto F, Ohba S, Sata N, Matsuoka R, Suzuki Y, Ito S, Koiwai H, Shiroshita N, Kasai T, Ikeda K: Severe obstructive sleep apnea after concurrent chemoradiotherapy for laryngeal and hypopharyngeal cancer managed by CPAP. Auris Nasus Larynx, 2021; 6: S0385-8146 (21) 00160-7. Online ahead of print.
- 11) Iwasa YI, Nishio SY, Yoshimura H, Sugaya A, Kataoka Y, Maeda Y, Kanda Y, Nagai K, Naito Y, Yamazaki H, Ikezono T, Matsuda H, Nakai M, Tona R, Sakurai Y, Motegi R, Takeda H, Kobayashi M, Kihara C, Ishino T, Morita SY, Iwasaki S, Takahashi M, Furutate S, Oka SI, Kubota T, Arai Y, Kobayashi Y, Kikuchi D, Shintani T, Ogasawara N, Honkura Y, Izumi S, Hyogo M, Ninoyu Y, Suematsu M, Nakayama J, Tsuchihashi N, Okami M, Sakata H, Yoshihashi H, Kobayashi T, Kumakawa K, Yoshida T, Esaki T, Usami SI: Detailed clinical features and genotype-phenotype correlation in an OTOF-related hearing loss cohort in Japan. Human Genetics, 2021; 18. doi: 10.1007/s00439-021-02351-7. Online ahead of print.
- 12) Kojima M, Ito S, Tou M, Sonoda K, Yoshikawa A, Ohtsuji N, Ikeda K, Higo R: Basal cell adenocarcinoma of the maxillary sinus: A case report. SAGE Open Medical Case Reports, 2021; 23; 9: 2050313X211048041.
- 13) Kusunoki T, Homma H, Kidokoro Y, Yoshikawa A, Tanaka K, Kubo S, Wada R, Ikeda K: A Case of Nasopharyngeal Tuberculosis with Cervical Lymph Node Tuberculosis Suspected of Cervical Malignant Disease at the First Examination. Clinics and Practice, 2021; 11: 43–46.
- 14) Kusunoki T, Homma H, Kidokoro Y, Yoshikawa A, Tanaka K, Kubo S, Wada R: Mediastinum Lymph Node Metastasis with Superior Vena Cava Syndrome. J Clin Case Stu, 2021; 6: dx. doi.org/10.16966/2471-4925.225.
- 15) Kusunoki T, Wada R: Thyroid Follicular Adenoma with Tracheal Stenosis. J Clin Case Stu, 2021; 6: dx. doi.org/10.16966/2471-4925.231.
- 16) Matsumoto F, Ohba S, Fujimaki M, Kojima T, Sakyo A, Kojima M, Ikeda K: Efficacy of modified face lift incision for the resection of benign parotid gland

tumor located anteriorly or superiorly. Auris Nasus Larynx, 2021; 48: 978–982.

- 17) Matsumoto F, Miyakita Y, Sakai A, Akamatsu M, Matsumoto Y, Matsumura S, Omura G, Kobayashi K, Narita Y, Yoshimoto S: Resection of carcinoma of the external auditory canal in a patient with a high jugular bulb using temporal craniotomy. Auris Nasus Larynx, 2021; 48: 535–538.
- \* 18) Meng X, Matsumoto F, Mori T, Miura N, Ino Y, Onidani K, Kobayashi K, Matsuzaki Y, Yoshimoto S, Ikeda K, Honda K: BP180 Is a Prognostic Factor in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Anticancer Res, 2021; 41: 1089–1099.
  - 19) Nakamura M, Kamiya K, Furuhata A, Ikeda K, Francois Niyonsaba: S100A7 Co-localization and Upregulation of Filaggrin in Human Sinonasal Epithelial Cells. Current Medical Science, 2021; 41: 863–868.
  - 20) Nojiri G, Kamimori T, Uchiyama M, Tomyo R, Suga Y, Takamori K, Higo R, Hayashi A: Adenoid Cystic Carcinoma Developed from the Parotid Gland to the Ear Lobe of a Young Woman. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open, 2021; 9: e3393.
  - 21) Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Kojima M, Fujimaki M, Fukumura Y, Ikeda K: Inflammatory Myofibroblastic Tumor (IMT) of the Trachea Excised by Transtracheal Surgery: Case Report. Ear Nose Throat J, 2021; 19: 1455613211014076. Online ahead of print.
  - 22) Saikawa Y, Tsunoda A, Sata N, Anzai T: An incidental latent adult hemophilia case found after a tonsillectomy. SAGE Open Med Case Rep, 2021; 27; 9: 2050313X20988410.
  - 23) Sonoda K, Tsunoda A, Yoshikawa A, Tou M, Anzai T, Matsumoto F: Congenital Aural Fistula Developing Between the Third and Fourth Hillocks of the Embryonal Helix and Presenting a Large Temporal Mass: A Case Report. Ear Nose Throat J, 2021; 8: 1455613211009150. Online ahead of print.
- \* 24) Suzuki Y, Fukumura Y, Asahina M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Kurahayashi I, Yao T, Ikeda K: EGFR Protein Expression Relates with Tumor Histology, Methylation Status of EGFR and HPV16 E6 Viral Load in Oropharyngeal Carcinoma. Head and Neck Pathology, 2021; 15: 743–756.
  - 25) Tajima S, Matsumoto F, Anzai T, Hara S, Suzuki Y, Ikeda K: A Case of Epistaxis as the First Sign of Acute Idiopathic Thrombocytopenic Purpura. Case Rep Otolaryngol, 2021; 6: 6612939.
  - 26) Takata Y, Anzai T, Hara S, Okada H, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K: Cholesteatoma Surgery With a Dehiscent High Jugular Bulb Treated With Surgery Assisted With Underwater Endoscopy: A Case Report. Ear Nose Throat J, 2021; 29: 1455613211009135. Online ahead of print.
  - 27) Tsunoda A, Suzuki M, Kishimoto S, Anzai T, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K, Terasaki O: Otitis Media With Effusion Caused by a Parapharyngeal Tumor Showing

Normal Nasopharyngeal Findings. Ear Nose Throat J, 2021; 100: 543–545.

- 28) Tsunoda A, Kobayashi Y, Tou M, Sonoda K, Arai S, Anzai T, Matsumoto F: Emergency videoendoscopic endonasal tracheal intubation for severe upper airway stenosis. Am J Otolaryngol, 2021; 42: 102779.
- 29) Tsunoda A, Anzai T, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K, Tsunoda R: A case of perilymphatic fistula caused by surgical drilling with preserved normal hearing. Am J Otolaryngol, 2021; 42: 102753.

 $\langle \text{Reviews} \rangle$ 

1) Matsumoto F, Ikeda K: Surgical Management of Tracheal Invasion by Well-differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Cancers (Basel), 2021; 14; 13: 797.

## Radiation Oncology and Medical Physics

- (Original Articles)
  - 1) Kunogi H, Yamaguchi N, Terao Y, Sasai K: Dosimetric predictors of nephrotoxicity in patients receiving extended-field radiation therapy for gynecologic cancer. Radiat Oncol, 2021; 16: 25.
  - 2) Kunogi H, Hsu IC, Yamaguchi N, Kusunoki S, Nakagawa K, Sugimori Y, Fujino K, Terao Y, Ogishima D, Yoshimura R, Sasai K: CT-guided pelvic lymph nodal brachytherapy. Front Oncol, 2021; 10: 532–555.
  - 3) Kunogi H, Hsu IC, Sasai K: Unresectable bulky chest wall recurrent breast cancer controlled with CTguided interstitial high-dose-rate brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy with adjuvant hormonal therapy-case report. J Contemp Brachytherapy, 2021; 13: 451-457.
  - 4) Utena Y, Takatsu J, Sugimoto S, Sasai K: Trajectory log analysis and cone-beam CT-based daily dose calculation to investigate the dosimetric accuracy of intensity modulated radiotherapy for gynecologic cancer. Journal of Applied Clinical Medical Physics, 2021; 22.2: 108-117.
  - 5) Tomihara J, Takatsu J, Sugimoto S, Shikama N, Sasai K: Intrafraction stability using full head mask for brain stereotactic radiotherapy, Journal of Applied Clinical Medical Physics, 2021; 22.9: 360–370.
- 6) Kosugi Y, Kawamoto T, Oshima M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Shikama N, Sasai K: Invasion of the pterygoid plates: an indicator for regional lymph node failure in maxillary sinus cancer. Radiation Oncology, 2021; 16: 2.
  - 7) Kosugi Y, Suzuki M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Muramoto Y, Kawamoto T, Oshima M, Shikama N, Sasai K: Radiologic criteria of retropharyngeal lymph node metastasis in maxillary sinus cancer. Radiation Oncology, 2021; 16: 190.
  - Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Kurokawa C, Hara N, Oshima M, Sasai K: Dosimetric assessment of bolus for postmastectomy radiotherapy. Med Dosim, 2021; 46: e1-e4.
  - 9) Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Kurokawa C, Hara N,

Oshima M, Sasai K: A prospective feasibility study of a 1-mm bolus for postmastectomy radiotherapy. BMC cancer, 2021; 21: 109.

- 10) Kawamoto T, Nakamura N, Saito T, Tonari A, Wada H, Harada H, Kubota H, Nagakura H, Heianna J, Miyazawa K, Yamada K, Tago M, Fushiki M, Nozaki M, Uchida N, Araki N, Sekii S, Kosugi T, Takahashi T, Shikama N: Palliative brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy for dysphagia from esophageal cancer: A nationwide survey in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2021; 51: 950-955.
- 11) Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Kurokawa C, Hara N, Oshima M, Sasai K: A prospective feasibility study of a 1-mm bolus for postmastectomy radiotherapy. BMC Cancer, 2021; 21: P.109(1-6).
- 12) Hu R, Saito AI, Mitsuhashi T, Inoue T, Ota T, Ujihara T, Yoshida K, Sasai K: Radiosensitization using hydrogen peroxide in patients with cervical cancer. Molecular and Clinical Oncology, 2021; 15: 142.
- 13) Murakami N, Ando K, Murata M, Murata K, Ohno T, Aoshika T, Kato S, Okonogi N, Saito AI, Kim JY, Kumai Y, Yoshioka Y, Sekii S, Tsujino K, Lowanichkiattikul C, Pattaranutaporn P, Kaneyasu Y, Nakagawa T, Watanabe M, Uno T, Umezawa R, Jingu K, Kanemoto A, Wakatsuki M, Shirai K, Igaki H, Itami J: Why not de-intensification for uterine cervical cancer?. Gynecol Oncol, S0090-8258: 00583-7. doi: 10.1016/j. ygyno.2021.07.021. Online ahead of print.
- 14) Harima H, Ariga T, Kaneyasu Y, Ikushima H, Tokumaru S, Shimamoto S, Takahasi T, Ii N, Saito AI, Ushijima H, Toita T, Ohno T: Clinical value of serum biomarkers, squamous cell carcinoma antigen and apolipoprotein C-II in follow-up of patients with locally advanced cervical squamous cell carcinoma treated with radiation: A multicenter prospective cohort study. Plos One, 2021; 16: e0259235.
- \* 15) Oya M, Sugimoto S, Sasai K, Yokoyama K: Investigation of clinical target volume segmentation for whole breast irradiation using three-dimensional convolutional neural networks with gradient-weighted class activation mapping. Radiol Phys Technol, 2021; 14: 238-247. doi: 10.1007/s12194-021-00620-8.
  - 16) Takakusagi Y, Usui K, Mizoguchi N, Nagatsuka J, Hikage T, Kodama Y, Ezura T, Kusunoki T, Oizumi Y: Comparison of Moderate Hypofractionated Volumetric-Modulated Arc Therapy Plans With and Without Flattening Filter for Localized Prostate Cancer. Cureus, 2021; 13: e18034. doi:10.7759/cureus. 18034. eCollection 2021
  - 17) Usui K, Ogawa K, Goto M, Sakano Y, Kyogoku S, Daida H: Quantitative evaluation of deep convolutional neural network-based image denoising for low-dose computed tomography. Vis Comput Ind Biomed Art, 2021; 4: 21. doi: 10.1186/s42492-021-00087-9.
  - 18) Isobe A, Usui K, Hara N, Sasai K: The effect of rotational setup errors in total body irradiation using

helical tomotherapy on dose distribution. J Appl Clin Med Phys, 2021; pp.1–10. DOI: 10.1002/acm2.13271.

- 19) Usui K, Isobe A, Ogawa K: Low dose CT denoising using a pre-trained convolutional neural network. Juntendo Health Science Journal, 2021; 2: 13–18.
- 20) Harada H, Shikama N, Wada H, Uchida N, Nozaki M, Hayakawa K, Yamada K, Nagakura H, Ogawa H, Miyazawa K, Katagiri H, Nakamura N: A phase II study of palliative radiotherapy combined with zoledronic acid hydrate for metastatic bone tumour from renal cell carcinoma. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2021; 51: 100– 105.
- 21) Kosugi Y, Kawamoto T, Oshima M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Shikama N, Sasai K: Invasion of the pterygoid plates: an indicator for regional lymph node failure in maxillary sinus cancer. Radiat Oncol, 2021; 16: 2–11.
- 22) Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Kurokawa C, Hara N, Oshima M, Sasai K: Dosimetric assessment of bolus for postmastectomy radiotherapy. Med Dosim, 2021; 46: e1-e4.
- 23) Kubota H, Nakamura N, Shikama N, Tonari A, Wada H, Harada H, Nagakura H, Heianna J, Ito K, Nozaki M, Tago M, Fushiki M, Uchida N, Araki N, Sekii S, Kosugi T, Takahashi T, Kawamoto T, Saito T, Yamada K: Practice patterns for postoperative radiation therapy in patients with metastases to the long bones: a survey of the Japanese Radiation Oncology Study Group. J Radiat Res, 2021; 62: 356–363.
- 24) Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Kurokawa C, Hara N, Oshima M, Sasai K: A prospective feasibility study of a 1-mm bolus for postmastectomy radiotherapy. BMC Cancer, 2021; 21: 109–114.
- 25) Kawamoto T, Nakamura N, Saito T, Tonari A, Wada H, Harada H, Kubota H, Nagakura H, Heianna J, Miyazawa K, Yamada K, Tago M, Fushiki M, Nozaki M, Uchida N, Araki N, Sekii S, Kosugi T, Takahashi T, Shikama N: Palliative brachytherapy and external beam radiotherapy for dysphagia from esophageal cancer: a nationwide survey in Japan. Jpn J Clin Oncol, 2021; 51: 950–955.
- 26) Murakami N, Mori T, Machida R, Kodaira T, Ito Y, Shikama N, Konishi K, Matsumoto Y, Murakami Y, Nakamura N, Yamashita H, Yorozu A, Yoshimura M, Ishikura S, Itami J, Nishimura Y, Kagami Y: Prognostic Value of Epithelial Cell Adhesion Molecules in T1-2N0M0 Glottic Cancer. Laryngoscope, 2021; 131: 1522-1527.
- 27) Tomihara J, Takatsu J, Sugimoto S, Shikama N, Sasai K: Intrafraction stability using full head mask for brain stereotactic radiotherapy. J Appl Clin Med Phys, 2021; 22: 360–370.
- 28) Hara N, Isobe A, Yamada K, Kosugi Y, Oshima M, Kawamoto T, Shikama N, Sasai K: Unusual visual and olfactory perceptions during radiotherapy sessions: an investigation of the organs responsible. J Radiat

Res, 2021; 62: 718-725.

- 29) Kosugi Y, Suzuki M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Muramoto Y, Kawamoto T, Oshima M, Shikama N, Sasai K: Radiologic criteria of retropharyngeal lymph node metastasis in maxillary sinus cancer. Radiat Oncol, 2021; 16: 190–195.
- (Reviews)
  - 1) Nihei K, Nakamura K, Karasawa K, Saito Y, Shikama N, Noda S, Hara R, Imagumbai T, Mizowaki T, Akiba T, Kunieda E, Hori M, Ohga S, Kawamori J, Kozuka T, Ota Y, Inaba K, Kodaira T, Itoh Y, Kagami Y: A Japanese Multi-Institutional Phase II Study of Moderate Hypofractionated Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy with Image-Guided Technique for Prostate Cancer. 第63回米国放射線腫瘍学会(ASTRO), シカゴ, 2021.
  - 2) Saito T, Kosugi T, Nakamura N, Wada H, Tonari A, Ogawa H, Mitsuhashi N, Yamada K, Takahashi T, Sekii S, Karasawa K, Araki N, Nozaki M, Heianna J, Murotani K, Hirano Y, Satoh A, Onoe T, Watakabe T, Shikama N: Assessment of Treatment Response and Re-bleeding after Palliative Radiation Therapy for Bleeding Gastric Cancer: A Longitudinal Multicenter Prospective Observational Study. 第63回米国放射線 腫瘍学会(ASTRO), シカゴ, 2021.

## Neuroradiology section, Dept. of Radiology

 $\langle \text{Original Articles} \rangle$ 

- Andica C, Kamagata K, Saito Y, Uchida W, Fujita S, Hagiwara A, Akashi T, Wada A, Ogawa T, Hatano T, Hattori N, Aoki S: Fiber-specific white matter alterations in early-stage tremor dominant Parkinson's disease. 2021; 7: 51. doi: 10.1038/s41531-021-00197-4.
- 2) Maekawa T, Hori M, Murata K, Feiweier T, Kamiya K, Andica C, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Kamagata K, Wada A, Abe O, Aoki S: Time-dependent Diffusion in Brain Abscesses Investigated with Oscillating-gradient Spin-echo. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021. doi: 10.2463/mrms.ici.2021-0083. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34511577.
- 3) Maekawa T, Hagiwara A, Yokoyama K, Hori M, Andica C, Fujita S, Kamagata K, Wada A, Abe O, Tomizawa Y, Hattori N, Aoki S: Multiple sclerosis plaques may undergo continuous myelin degradation: a cross-sectional study with myelin and axon-related quantitative magnetic resonance imaging metrics. Neurora-diology, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00234-021-02781-0. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34383123.
- 4) Andica C, Kamagata K, Saito Y, Uchida W, Fujita S, Hagiwara A, Akashi T, Wada A, Ogawa T, Hatano T, Hattori N, Aoki S: Fiber-specific white matter alterations in early-stage tremor-dominant Parkinson's disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis, 2021; 7: 51. doi: 10.1038/ s41531-021-00197-4. PMID: 34172728; PMCID: PMC 8233424.
- 5) Andica C, Kamagata K, Kirino E, Uchida W, Irie R, Murata S, Aoki S: Neurite orientation dispersion and

density imaging reveals white matter microstructural alterations in adults with autism. Mol Autism, 2021; 12: 48. doi: 10.1186/s13229-021-00456-4. PMID: 34193257; PMCID: PMC8247240.

- 6) Tomizawa N, Nozaki Y, Fujimoto S, Takahashi D, Kudo A, Kamo Y, Aoshima C, Kawaguchi Y, Takamura K, Hiki M, Dohi T, Okazaki S, Minamino T, Aoki S: A phantom and in vivo simulation of coronary flow to calculate fractional flow reserve using a mesh-free model. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging, 2021; epub ahead of print.
- 7) Tomizawa N, Kumamaru KK, Okamoto K, Aoki S: Multi-agent system collision model to predict the transmission of seasonal influenza in Tokyo from 2014-2015 to 2018-2019 seasons. Heliyon, 2021; 7: e07859-e07859.
- 8) Kamo Y, Fujimoto S, Nozaki YO, Aoshima C, Kawaguchi YO, Dohi T, Kudo A, Takahashi D, Takamura K, Hiki M, Okai I, Okazaki S, Tomizawa N, Kumamaru KK, Aoki S, Minamino T: Incremental Diagnostic Value of CT Fractional Flow Reserve Using Subtraction Method in Patients with Severe Calcification: A Pilot Study. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 4398–4398.
- 9) Kudo T, Lahey R, Hirschfeld CB, Williams MC, Lu B, Alasnag M, Bhatia M, HH Bom, Dautov T, Fazel R, Karthikeyan G, Keng FYJ, Rubinshtein R, Better N, Cerci RJ, Dorbala S, Raggi P, Shaw LJ, Villines TC, Vitola JV, Choi AD, Malkovskiy E, Goebel B, Cohen YA, Randazzo M, Pascual TNB, Pynda Y, Dondi M, Paez D, Einstein AJ, INCAPS COVID Investigators Group: Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Cardiovascular Testing in Asia JACC Asia, 2021; 1: 187-199.
- 10) Nozaki Y, Fujimoto S, Aoshima C, Kamo Y, Kawaguchi YO, Takamura K, Kudo A, Takahashi D, Hiki M, Kato Y, Okai I, Dohi T, Okazaki S, Tomizawa N, Kumamaru K, Aoki S, Minamino T: Comparison of diagnostic performance in on-site based CT-derived fractional flow reserve measurements. IJC Heart & Vasculature, 2021; 35: 100815-100815.
- 11) Hirschfeld CB, Shaw LJ, Williams MC, Lahey R, Villines TC, Dorbala S, Choi AD, Shah NR, Bluemke DA, Berman DS, Blankstein R, Ferencik M, Narula J, Winchester D, Malkovskiy E, Goebel B, Randazzo MJ, Lopez-Mattei J, Parwani P, Vitola JV, Cerci RJ, Better N, Raggi P, Lu B, Sergienko V, Sinitsyn V, Kudo T, Nørgaard BL, Maurovich-Horvat P, Cohen YA, Pascual TNB, Pynda Y, Dondi M, Paez D, Einstein AJ, INCAPS COVID Investigators Group: Impact of COVID-19 on Cardiovascular Testing in the United States Versus the Rest of the World: The INCAPS-COVID Study. JACC. Cardiovascular imaging, 2021; epub ahead of print.
- 12) Einstein AJ, Shaw LJ, Hirschfeld C, Williams MC, Villines TC, Better N, Vitola JV, Cerci R, Dorbala S, Raggi P, Choi AD, Lu B, Sinitsyn V, Sergienko V, Kudo T, Nørgaard BL, Maurovich-Horvat P, Campisi
R, Milan E, Louw L, Allam AH, Bhatia M, Malkovskiy E, Goebel B, Cohen Y, Randazzo M, Narula J, Pascual TNB, Pynda Y, Dondi M, Paez D, INCAPS COVID Investigators Group: International Impact of COVID-19 on the Diagnosis of Heart Disease J Am Coll Cardiol, 2021; 77: 173–185.

- 13) Hagiwara A, Bydder M, Oughourlian TC, Yao J, Salamon N, Jahan R, Villablanca JP, Enzmann DR, Ellingson BM: Sodium MR Neuroimaging. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2021 [Epub ahead of print]
- 14) Hagiwara A, Yao J, Raymond C, Cho NS, Everson R, Patel K, Morrow DH, Desousa BR, Mareninov S, Chun S, Nathanson DA, Yong WH, Andrei G, Divakaruni AS, Salamon N, Pope WB, Nghiemphu PL, Liau LM, Cloughesy TF, Ellingson BM: "Aerobic glycolytic imaging" of human gliomas using combined pH-, oxygen-, and perfusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging. Neuroimage Clin, 2021; 32: 102882.
- 15) Hagiwara A, Oughourlian TC, Cho NS, Schlossman J, Wang C, Yao J, Raymond C, Everson R, Patel K, Mareninov S, Rodriguez FJ, Salamon N, Pope WB, Nghiemphu PL, Liau LM, Prins RM, Cloughesy TF, Ellingson BM: Diffusion MRI is an early biomarker of overall survival benefit in IDH wild-type recurrent glioblastoma treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. Neuro Oncol, 2021 [Epub ahead of print]
- 16) Hagiwara A, Otsuka Y, Andica C, Kato S, Yokoyama K, Hori M, Fujita S, Kamagata K, Hattori N, Aoki S: Differentiation between multiple sclerosis and neuro-myelitis optica spectrum disorders by multiparametric quantitative MRI using convolutional neural network. J Clin Neurosci, 2021; 87: 55–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn. 2021.02.018. Epub 2021 Mar 11. PMID: 33863534.
- 17) Cohen-Adad J, Alonso-Ortiz E, Abramovic M, Arneitz C, Atcheson N, Barlow L, Barry RL, Barth M, Battiston M, Büchel C, Budde M, Callot V, Combes AJE, De Leener B, Descoteaux M, de Sousa PL, Dostál M, Doyon J, Dvorak A, Eippert F, Epperson KR, Epperson KS, Freund P, Finsterbusch J, Foias A, Fratini M, Fukunaga I, Wheeler-Kingshott CAMG, Germani G, Gilbert G, Giove F, Gros C, Grussu F, Hagiwara A, Henry PG, Horák T, Hori M, Joers J, Kamiya K, Karbasforoushan H, Keřkovský M, Khatibi A, Kim JW, Kinany N, Kitzler H, Kolind S, Kong Y, Kudlička P, Kuntke P, Kurniawan ND, Kusmia S, Labounek R, Laganà MM, Laule C, Law CS, Lenglet C, Leutritz T, Liu Y, Llufriu S, Mackey S, Martinez-Heras E, Mattera L, Nestrasil I, O'Grady KP, Papinutto N, Papp D, Pareto D, Parrish TB, Pichiecchio A, Prados F, Rovira À, Ruitenberg MJ, Samson RS, Savini G, Seif M, Seifert AC, Smith AK, Smith SA, Smith ZA, Solana E, Suzuki Y, Tackley G, Tinnermann A, Valošek J, Van De Ville D, Yiannakas MC, Weber KA 2nd, Weiskopf N, Wise RG, Wyss PO, Xu J: Generic acquisition protocol for quantitative MRI of the spinal cord. Nat Protoc, 2021; 16: 4611-4632.

- 18) Cohen-Adad J, Alonso-Ortiz E, Abramovic M, Arneitz C, Atcheson N, Barlow L, Barry RL, Barth M, Battiston M, Büchel C, Budde M, Callot V, Combes AJE, De Leener B, Descoteaux M, de Sousa PL, Dostál M, Doyon J, Dvorak A, Eippert F, Epperson KR, Epperson KS, Freund P, Finsterbusch J, Foias A, Fratini M, Fukunaga I, Gandini Wheeler-Kingshott CAM, Germani G, Gilbert G, Giove F, Gros C, Grussu F, Hagiwara A, Henry PG, Horák T, Hori M, Joers J, Kamiya K, Karbasforoushan H, Keřkovský M, Khatibi A, Kim JW, Kinany N, Kitzler HH, Kolind S, Kong Y, Kudlička P, Kuntke P, Kurniawan ND, Kusmia S, Labounek R, Laganà MM, Laule C, Law CS, Lenglet C, Leutritz T, Liu Y, Llufriu S, Mackey S, Martinez-Heras E, Mattera L, Nestrasil I, O'Grady KP, Papinutto N, Papp D, Pareto D, Parrish TB, Pichiecchio A, Prados F, Rovira À, Ruitenberg MJ, Samson RS, Savini G, Seif M, Seifert AC, Smith AK, Smith SA, Smith ZA, Solana E, Suzuki Y, Tackley G, Tinnermann A, Valošek J, Van De Ville D, Yiannakas MC, Weber Ii KA, Weiskopf N, Wise RG, Wyss PO, Xu J: Open-access quantitative MRI data of the spinal cord and reproducibility across participants, sites and manufacturers. Sci Data, 2021; 8: 219.
- 19) Murata S, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Haruyama T, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Goto M, Hori M, Yoneyama M, Hamasaki N, Hoshito H, Aoki S: Effect of hybrid of compressed sensing and parallel imaging on the quantitative values measured by 3D quantitative synthetic MRI: A phantom study. Magn Reson Imaging, 2021; 78: 90–97.
- 20) Murata S, Hagiwara A, Kaga H, Someya Y, Nemoto K, Goto M, Kamagata K, Irie R, Hori M, Andica C, Wada A, Kumamaru KK, Shimoji K, Otsuka Y, Hoshito H, Tamura Y, Kawamori R, Watada H, Aoki S: Comparison of Brain Volume Measurements Made with 0.3- and 3-T MR Imaging. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021 [Epub ahead of print]
- 21) Hori M, Hagiwara A, Goto M, Wada A, Aoki S: Low-Field Magnetic Resonance Imaging: Its History and Renaissance. Invest Radiol, 2021 [Epub ahead of print]
- 22) Tatekawa H, Uetani H, Hagiwara A, Bahri S, Raymond C, Lai A, Cloughesy TF, Nghiemphu PL, Liau LM, Pope WB, Salamon N, Ellingson BM: Worse prognosis for IDH wild-type diffuse gliomas with larger residual biological tumor burden. Ann Nucl Med, 2021; 35: 1022–1029.
- 23) Tatekawa H, Uetani H, Hagiwara A, Hotta M, Stern JM, Engel J Jr, Salamon N: Association of hypometabolic extension of 18F-FDG PET with diffusion tensor imaging indices in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. Seizure, 2021; 88: 130–137.
- 24) Tatekawa H, Uetani H, Hagiwara A, Yao J, Oughourlian TC, Ueda I, Raymond C, Lai A, Cloughesy TF, Nghiemphu PL, Liau LM, Bahri S, Pope WB, Salamon N, Ellingson BM: Preferential tumor localization

in relation to 18F-FDOPA uptake for lower-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol, 2021; 152: 573-582.

- 25) Tatekawa H, Hagiwara A, Uetani H, Bahri S, Raymond C, Lai A, Cloughesy TF, Nghiemphu PL, Liau LM, Pope WB, Salamon N, Ellingson BM: Differentiating IDH status in human gliomas using machine learning and multiparametric MR/PET. Cancer Imaging, 2021; 21: 27.
- 26) Kurokawa R, Hagiwara A, Tanishima T, Inui S, Kurokawa M, Nakaya M, Gonoi W, Amemiya S, Nakai Y, Fujita N, Ota Y, Baba A, Abe O: CT imaging findings of lenvatinib-induced enteritis. Abdom Radiol, 2021; 46: 3066–3074.
- 27) Kurokawa M, Kurokawa R, Hagiwara A, Gonoi W, Harayama S, Koizumi K, Yoshino K, Hishima T, Baba A, Ota Y, Abe O, Takaki Y: CT imaging findings of anti-PD-1 inhibitor-related enterocolitis. Abdom Radiol, 2021; 46: 3033-3043.
- 28) Kurokawa R, Hagiwara A, Nakaya M, Maeda E, Yamaguchi H, Gonoi W, Sato J, Nakata K, Ino K, Ota Y, Kurokawa M, Baba A, Nyunoya K, Usui Y, Tanishima T, Tsushima S, Torigoe R, Suyama TQ, Abe O: Forward-projected Model-based Iterative Reconstruction SoluTion in Temporal Bone Computed Tomography: A Comparison Study of All Reconstruction Modes. J Comput Assist Tomogr, 2021; 45: 308–314.
- 29) Inui S, Kondo H, Tanahashi Y, Fukukura Y, Sano K, Morisaka H, Saito K, Kondo F, Fukusato T, Furui S, Oba H: Steatohepatitic hepatocellular carcinoma: imaging findings with clinicopathological correlation. Clin Radiol, 2021; 76: 160. e15–160. e25.
- 30) Morisaka H, Seno D, Sakurai Y, Sano K, Akamine Y, Ichikawa T, Okada Y: Quantitative analysis of gadoxetic acid-enhanced MRI for the differential diagnosis of focal liver lesions: Comparison between estimated intralesional gadoxetic acid retention by T1 mapping and conventional processing methods. Eur J Radiol, 2021; 138: 109620.
- 31) Kikuta J, Kamagata K, Takabayashi K, Taoka T, Yokota H, Andica C, Wada A, Someya Y, Tamura Y, Kawamori R, Watada H, Naganawa S, Aoki S: An Investigation of Water Diffusivity Changes along the Perivascular Space in Elderly Subjects with Hypertension. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2021.
- 32) Taoka T, Ito R, Nakamichi R, Kamagata K, Sakai M, Kawai H, Nakane T, Abe T, Ichikawa K, Kikuta J, Aoki S, Naganawa S: Reproducibility of diffusion tensor image analysis along the perivascular space (DTI-ALPS) for evaluating interstitial fluid diffusivity and glymphatic function: CHanges in Alps index on Multiple conditiON acquisition eXperiment (CHAMONIX) study. Japanese Journal of Radiology, 2021.
- 33) Wada A, Saito Y, Fujita S, Irie R, Akashi T, Sano K, Kato S, Ikenouchi Y, Hagiwara A, Sato K, Tomizawa

N, Hayakawa Y, Kikuta J, Kamagata K, Suzuki M, Hori M, Nakanishi A, Aoki S: Automation of a Rulebased Workflow to Estimate Age from Brain MR Imaging of Infants and Children Up to 2 Years Old Using Stacked Deep Learning. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021. doi: 10.2463/mrms.mp.2021-0068.Online ahead of print.

- 34) Wada A, Saito Y, Fujita S, Irie R, Akashi T, Sano K, Kato S, Ikenouchi Y, Hagiwara A, Sato K, Tomizawa N, Hayakawa Y, Kikuta J, Kamagata K, Suzuki M, Hori M, Nakanishi A, Aoki S: Automation of a Rulebased Workflow to Estimate Age from Brain MR Imaging of Infants and Children Up to 2 Years Old Using Stacked Deep Learning. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021. doi: 10.2463/mrms.mp.2021-0068.
- 35) Fujita S, Buonincontri G, Cencini M, Fukunaga I, Takei N, Schulte RF, Hagiwara A, Uchida W, Hori M, Kamagata K, Abe O, Aoki S: Repeatability and reproducibility of human brain morphometry using threedimensional magnetic resonance fingerprinting. Human Brain Mapping, 2021.
- 36) Fujita S, Yokoyama K, Hagiwara A, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Hattori N, Abe O, Aoki S: 3D Quantitative Synthetic MRI in the Evaluation of Multiple Sclerosis Lesions. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2021.
- 37) Fujita S, Hagiwara A, Takei N, Hwang KP, Fukunaga I, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Yokoyama K, Hattori N, Abe O, Aoki S: Accelerated Isotropic Multiparametric Imaging by High Spatial Resolution 3D-QALAS With Compressed Sensing. Investigative Radiology, 2021.
- 38) Toda N, Hashimoto M, Arita Y, Haque H, Akita H, Akashi T, Gobara H, Nishie A, Yakami M, Nakamoto A, Watadani T, Oya M, Jinzaki M: Deep Learning Algorithm for Fully Automated Detection of Small (≤4 cm) Renal Cell Carcinoma in Contrast-Enhanced Computed Tomography Using a Multicenter Database. Invest Radiol, 2021. doi: 10.1097/RLI.000000000000842. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34935652.
- 39) Hu T, Oda M, Hayashi Y, Lu Z, Kumamaru KK, Akashi T, Aoki S, Mori K: Aorta-aware GAN for non-contrast to artery contrasted CT translation and its application to abdominal aortic aneurysm detection. Int J Comput Assist Radiol Surg, 2021. doi: 10. 1007/s11548-021-02492-0. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34674136.
- 40) Ozaki D, Akashi T, Morita T, Nishimura S, Kanamori M, Tominaga T: A Rare Case of Intracerebral Pneumocephalus Caused by Preexisting Multiple Bone Defects and Encephalocele after Resection of Meningioma. NMC Case Rep J, 2021; 8: 39–44. doi: 10.2176/ nmccrj.cr.2020-0074. PMID: 34012747; PMCID:PMC 8116923.
- 41) Han C, Rundo L, Murao K, Noguchi T, Shimahara Y, Milacski Z, Koshino S, Sala E, Nakayama H, Satoh S:

MADGAN: unsupervised Medical Anomaly Detection GAN using multiple adjacent brain MRI slice reconstruction. BMC Bioinformatics, 2021; 22 (Suppl 2): 31.

- 42) Fujita S, Buonincontri G, Cencini M, Fukunaga I, Takei N, Schulte RF, Hagiwara A, Uchida W, Hori M, Kamagata K, Abe O, Aoki S: Repeatability and reproducibility of human brain morphometry using threedimensional magnetic resonance fingerprinting. Hum Brain Mapp, 2021; 42: 275–285. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25232. Epub 2020 Oct 22. PMID: 33089962; PMCID: PMC 7775993.
- 43) Fujita S, Yokoyama K, Hagiwara A, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Hattori N, Abe O, Aoki S: 3D Quantitative Synthetic MRI in the Evaluation of Multiple Sclerosis Lesions. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2021; 42: 471–478. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6930. Epub 2021 Jan 7. PMID: 33414234; PMCID: PMC7959431.
- 44) Fujita S, Hagiwara A, Takei N, Hwang KP, Fukunaga I, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Yokoyama K, Hattori N, Abe O, Aoki S: Accelerated Isotropic Multiparametric Imaging by High Spatial Resolution 3D-QALAS With Compressed Sensing: A Phantom, Volunteer, and Patient Study. Invest Radiol, 2021; 56: 292–300. doi: 10.1097/RLI.00000000000744. PMID: 33273376; PMCID: PMC8032210.
- 45) Goto M, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Hori M, Kamagata K, Aoki S, Abe O, Sakamoto H, Sakano Y, Kyogoku S, Daida H: Influence of Mild White Matter Lesions on Voxel-based Morphometry. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021; 20: 40-46. doi: 10.2463/mrms.mp.2019-0154. Epub 2020 Feb 19. PMID: 32074592; PMCID: PMC7952207.
- 46) Hagiwara A, Fujimoto K, Kamagata K, Murata S, Irie R, Kaga H, Someya Y, Andica C, Fujita S, Kato S, Fukunaga I, Wada A, Hori M, Tamura Y, Kawamori R, Watada H, Aoki S: Age-Related Changes in Relaxation Times, Proton Density, Myelin, and Tissue Volumes in Adult Brain Analyzed by 2-Dimensional Quantitative Synthetic Magnetic Resonance Imaging. Invest Radiol, 2021; 56: 163-172. doi: 10.1097/RLI. 0000000000000720. PMID: 32858581; PMCID: PMC 7864648.
- 47) Ogawa T, Ogaki K, Mori Y, Kamo H, Uchiyama A, Kamagata K, Nagaoka M, Hattori N: Neuronuclear and Neuromelanin-Sensitive Imaging for Acquired Hepatocerebral Degeneration with Parkinsonism. Mov Disord Clin Pract, 2021; 8: 464-468. doi: 10.1002/mdc3. 13166. PMID: 33816680; PMCID: PMC8015886.
- 48) Ueno Y, Saito A, Nakata J, Kamagata K, Taniguchi D, Motoi Y, Io H, Andica C, Shindo A, Shiina K, Miyamoto N, Yamashiro K, Urabe T, Suzuki Y, Aoki S, Hattori N: Possible Neuroprotective Effects of l-Carnitine on White-Matter Microstructural Damage and Cognitive Decline in Hemodialysis Patients. Nutrients, 2021; 13: 1292. doi: 10.3390/nu13041292. PMID: 33919810; PMCID: PMC8070822.

- 49) Shimada T, Uchida W, Shindo A, Kamagata K, Hattori N, Tsunemi T: Delayed-onset motor aphasia succeeds Holmes' tremor and neuropathic pain after left thalamic hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci, 2021; 423: 117367. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2021.117367. Epub 2021 Feb 23. PMID: 33735755.
- 50) Koinuma T, Hatano T, Kamagata K, Andica C, Mori A, Ogawa T, Takeshige-Amano H, Uchida W, Saiki S, Okuzumi A, Ueno SI, Oji Y, Saito Y, Hori M, Aoki S, Hattori N: Diffusion MRI Captures White Matter Microstructure Alterations in PRKN Disease. J Parkinsons Dis, 2021; 11: 1221–1235. doi: 10.3233/JPD-202495. PMID: 33896850; PMCID: PMC8461664.
- 51) Murata S, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Haruyama T, Kato S, Andica C, Kamagata K, Goto M, Hori M, Yoneyama M, Hamasaki N, Hoshito H, Aoki S: Effect of hybrid of compressed sensing and parallel imaging on the quantitative values measured by 3D quantitative synthetic MRI: A phantom study. Magn Reson Imaging, 2021; 78: 90–97. doi: 10.1016/j.mri.2021.01.001. Epub 2021 Jan 11. PMID: 33444595.
- 52) Tomita H, Kamagata K, Andica C, Uchida W, Fukuo M, Waki H, Sugano H, Tange Y, Mitsuhashi T, Lukies M, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Wada A, Akashi T, Murata S, Harada M, Aoki S, Naito H: Connectome analysis of male world-class gymnasts using probabilistic multishell, multitissue constrained spherical deconvolution tracking. J Neurosci Res, 2021; 99: 2558–2572. doi: 10.1002/jnr.24912. Epub 2021 Jul 10. PMID: 34245603.
- 53) Murata S, Hagiwara A, Kaga H, Someya Y, Nemoto K, Goto M, Kamagata K, Irie R, Hori M, Andica C, Wada A, Kumamaru KK, Shimoji K, Otsuka Y, Hoshito H, Tamura Y, Kawamori R, Watada H, Aoki S: Comparison of Brain Volume Measurements Made with 0.3- and 3-T MR Imaging. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021. doi: 10.2463/mrms.tn.2020-0034. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34305081.
- 54) Maekawa T, Hagiwara A, Yokoyama K, Hori M, Andica C, Fujita S, Kamagata K, Wada A, Abe O, Tomizawa Y, Hattori N, Aoki S: Multiple sclerosis plaques may undergo continuous myelin degradation: a cross-sectional study with myelin and axon-related quantitative magnetic resonance imaging metrics. Neuroradiology, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00234-021-02781-0. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34383123.
- 55) Taoka T, Ito R, Nakamichi R, Kamagata K, Sakai M, Kawai H, Nakane T, Abe T, Ichikawa K, Kikuta J, Aoki S, Naganawa S: Reproducibility of diffusion tensor image analysis along the perivascular space (DTI-ALPS) for evaluating interstitial fluid diffusivity and glymphatic function: CHanges in Alps index on Multiple conditiON acquIsition eXperiment (CHAMONIX) study. Jpn J Radiol, 2022; 40: 147–158. doi: 10.1007/s11604-021-01187-5. Epub 2021 Aug 14. PMID: 34390452; PMCID: PMC8803717.

- 56) Yasaka K, Kamagata K, Ogawa T, Hatano T, Takeshige-Amano H, Ogaki K, Andica C, Akai H, Kunimatsu A, Uchida W, Hattori N, Aoki S, Abe O: Parkinson's disease: deep learning with a parameterweighted structural connectome matrix for diagnosis and neural circuit disorder investigation. Neuroradiology, 2021; 63: 1451–1462. doi: 10.1007/s00234-021-02648-4. Epub 2021 Jan 22. PMID: 33481071; PMCID: PMC8376710.
- 57) Maekawa T, Hori M, Murata K, Feiweier T, Kamiya K, Andica C, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Kamagata K, Wada A, Abe O, Aoki S: Time-dependent Diffusion in Brain Abscesses Investigated with Oscillating-gradient Spin-echo. Magn Reson Med Sci, 2021. doi: 10. 2463/mrms.ici.2021-0083. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34511577.
- 58) Osada T, Ogawa A, Suda A, Nakajima K, Tanaka M, Oka S, Kamagata K, Aoki S, Oshima Y, Tanaka S, Hattori N, Konishi S: Parallel cognitive processing streams in human prefrontal cortex: Parsing areallevel brain network for response inhibition. Cell Rep, 2021; 36: 109732. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109732. PMID: 34551294.
- 59) Kurokawa R, Kamiya K, Koike S, Nakaya M, Uematsu A, Tanaka SC, Kamagata K, Okada N, Morita K, Kasai K, Abe O: Cross-scanner reproducibility and harmonization of a diffusion MRI structural brain network: A traveling subject study of multi-b acquisition. Neuroimage, 2021; 245: 118675. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2021.118675. Epub 2021 Oct 26. PMID: 34710585.
- 60) Ogawa T, Hatano T, Kamagata K, Andica C, Takeshige-Amano H, Uchida W, Saito Y, Shimo Y, Oyama G, Umemura A, Iwamuro H, Ito M, Hori M, Aoki S, Hattori N: White matter alterations in Parkinson's disease with levodopa-induced dyskinesia. Parkinsonism Relat Disord, 2021; 90: 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j. parkreldis.2021.07.021. Epub 2021 Jul 24. PMID: 34325387.
- 61) Ogawa T, Hatano T, Kamagata K, Andica C, Takeshige-Amano H, Uchida W, Kamiyama D, Shimo Y, Oyama G, Umemura A, Iwamuro H, Ito M, Hori M, Aoki S, Hattori N: White matter and nigral alterations in multiple system atrophy-parkinsonian type. NPJ Parkinsons Dis, 2021; 7: 96. doi: 10.1038/s41531-021-00236-0. PMID: 34716335; PMCID: PMC8556415.
- 62) Schilling KG, Rheault F, Petit L, Hansen CB, Nath V, Yeh FC, Girard G, Barakovic M, Rafael-Patino J, Yu T, Fischi-Gomez E, Pizzolato M, Ocampo-Pineda M, Schiavi S, Canales-Rodríguez EJ, Daducci A, Granziera C, Innocenti G, Thiran JP, Mancini L, Wastling S, Cocozza S, Petracca M, Pontillo G, Mancini M, Vos SB, Vakharia VN, Duncan JS, Melero H, Manzanedo L, Sanz-Morales E, Peña-Melián Á, Calamante F, Attyé A, Cabeen RP, Korobova L, Toga AW, Vijayakumari AA, Parker D, Verma R, Radwan A, Sunaert

S, Emsell L, De Luca A, Leemans A, Bajada CJ, Haroon H, Azadbakht H, Chamberland M, Genc S, Tax CMW, Yeh PH, Srikanchana R, Mcknight CD, Yang JY, Chen J, Kelly CE, Yeh CH, Cochereau J, Maller JJ, Welton T, Almairac F, Seunarine KK, Clark CA, Zhang F, Makris N, Golby A, Rathi Y, O'Donnell LJ, Xia Y, Aydogan DB, Shi Y, Fernandes FG, Raemaekers M, Warrington S, Michielse S, Ramírez-Manzanares A. Concha L. Aranda R. Meraz MR, Lerma-Usabiaga G, Roitman L, Fekonja LS, Calarco N, Joseph M, Nakua H, Voineskos AN, Karan P, Grenier G, Legarreta JH, Adluru N, Nair VA, Prabhakaran V, Alexander AL, Kamagata K, Saito Y, Uchida W, Andica C, Abe M, Bayrak RG, Wheeler-Kingshott CAMG, D'Angelo E, Palesi F, Savini G, Rolandi N. Guevara P. Houenou J. López-López N. Mangin JF, Poupon C, Román C, Vázquez A, Maffei C, Arantes M, Andrade JP, Silva SM, Calhoun VD, Caverzasi E, Sacco S, Lauricella M, Pestilli F, Bullock D, Zhan Y, Brignoni-Perez E, Lebel C, Reynolds JE, Nestrasil I, Labounek R, Lenglet C, Paulson A, Aulicka S, Heilbronner SR, Heuer K, Chandio BQ, Guaje J, Tang W, Garyfallidis E, Raja R, Anderson AW, Landman BA, Descoteaux M: Tractography dissection variability: What happens when 42 groups dissect 14 white matter bundles on the same dataset? Neuroimage, 2021; 243: 118502. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2021.118502. Epub 2021 Aug 22. PMID: 34433094.

- 63) Kosugi Y, Suzuki M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Muramoto Y, Kawamoto T, Oshima M, Shikama N, Sasai K: Radiologic criteria of retropharyngeal lymph node metastasis in maxillary sinus cancer. Radiat Oncol, 2021; 16: 190.
- $\langle \text{Reviews} \rangle$ 
  - Kamagata K, Andica C, Kato A, Saito Y, Uchida W, Hatano T, Lukies M, Ogawa T, Takeshige-Amano H, Akashi T, Hagiwara A, Fujita S, Aoki S: Diffusion Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Based Biomarkers for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Int J Mol Sci, 2021; 22: 5216. doi: 10.3390/ijms22105216.PMID: 34069159

## Department of Diagnostic Radiology

(Original Articles)

- Ichida H, Imamura H, Yoshioka R, Mizuno T, Mise Y, Kuwatsuru R, Kawasaki S, Saiura A: Re-evaluation of the Couinaud classification for segmental anatomy of the right liver, with particular attention to the relevance of cranio-caudal boundaries. Surgery, 2021; 169: 333-340.
  - 2) Inoue T, Zhang X, Kuwatsuru R, Okada S, Kato H, Ozu H, Yanagida M, Yamashiro Y: Efficacy and safety of prophylactic superselective embolization for angiomyolipoma at the renal hilum. J Int Med Res, 2021; 49: 3000605211016193.
  - Tajima M, Togo S, Ko R, Koinuma Y, Sumiyoshi I, Torasawa M, Kikuchi N, Shiraishi A, Sasaki S,

Kyogoku S, Kuwatsuru R, Takahashi K: CT Guided Needle Biopsy of Peripheral Lesions–Lesion Characteristics That May Increase the Diagnostic Yield and Reduce the Complication Rate. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 2031.

- 4) Naito T, Suzuki M, Fukushima S, Yuda M, Fukui N, Tsukamoto S, Fujibayashi K, Goto-Hirano K, Kuwatsuru R: Comorbidities and co-medications among 28 089 people living with HIV: A nationwide cohort study from 2009 to 2019 in Japan. HIV Med, 2021. doi: 10.1111/hiv.13206. Online ahead of print.
- 5) Koga H, Ochi T, Hirayama S, Watanabe Y, Ueno H, Imashimizu K, Suzuki K, Kuwatsuru R, Nishimura K, Lane GJ, Suzuki K, Yamataka A: Congenital Pulmonary Airway Malformation in Children: Advantages of an Additional Trocar in the Lower Thorax for Pulmonary Lobectomy. Front Pediatr, 2021; 9: 722428. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021.722428. eCollection 2021
- 6) Satoh Y, Kawamoto M, Kubota K, Murakami K, Hosono M, Senda M, Sasaki M, Momose T, Ito K, Okamura T, Oda K, Kuge Y, Sakurai M, Tateishi U, Fujibayashi Y, Magata Y, Yoshida T, Waki A, Kato K, Hashimoto T, Uchiyama M, Kinuya S, Higashi T, Magata Y, Machitori A, Maruno H, Minamimoto R, Yoshinaga K: Clinical practice guidelines for high-resolution breast PET, 2019 edition. Ann Nucl Med, 2021; 35: 406-414. doi: 10.1007/s12149-021-01582-y. Epub 2021 Jan 25. PMID: 33492646; PMCID: PMC7902575.
- 7) Tian M, Watanabe Y, Kang KW, Murakami K, Chiti A, Carrio I, Civelek AC, Feng J, Zhu Y, Zhou R, Wu S, Zhu J, Ding Y, Zhang K, Zhang H: Molecular Imaging-based Precision Medicine Task Group of A3 (China-Japan-Korea) Foresight Program. International consensus on the use of [18F]-FDG PET/CT in pediatric patients affected by epilepsy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 2021; 48: 3827-3834. doi: 10.1007/ s00259-021-05524-8. Epub 2021 Aug 28. PMID: 34453559.
- 8) Kubota K, Tanaka N, Miyata Y, Ohtsu H, Nakahara T, Sakamoto S, Kudo T, Nishiyama Y, Tateishi U, Murakami K, Nakamoto Y, Taki Y, Kaneta T, Kawabe J, Nagamachi S, Kawano T, Hatazawa J, Mizutani Y, Baba S, Kirii K, Yokoyama K, Okamura T, Kameyama M, Minamimoto R, Kunimatsu J, Kato O, Yamashita H, Kaneko H, Kutsuna S, Ohmagari N, Hagiwara A, Kikuchi Y, Kobayakawa M: Comparison of 18F-FDG PET/CT and 67Ga-SPECT for the diagnosis of fever of unknown origin: a multicenter prospective study in Japan. Ann Nucl Med, 2021; 35: 31-46. doi: 10.1007/s12149-020-01533-z. Epub 2020 Oct 9. PMID: 33037581.
- 9) Maki Y, Kimizuka Y, Murakami K, Sato K, Sasaki H, Yamamoto T, Watanabe C, Sano T, Miyata J, Fujikura Y, Kawana A: Zosteriform skin metastasis caused by retrograde lymphatic migration of metastatic squamous cell lung carcinoma. BMC Pulm Med, 2021; 21: 41. doi: 10.1186/s12890-021-01414-9. PMID: 33499850;

PMCID: PMC7836447.

- 10) Hattori A, Takamochi K, Shiono S, Tsuboi M, Maniwa Y, Suzuki K, Suzuki K: Multicentre prospective observational study for pulmonary vein stump thrombus after anatomical lung resections. Eur J Cardio-thorac, 2021; 61: 92–99.
- 11) Sekimoto Y, Suzuki K, Okura M, Hayashi T, Ebana H, Kumasak T, Mitani K, Nishino K, Okamoto S, Kobayashi E, Takahashi K, Seyama K: Uncommon radiologic computed tomography appearances of the chest in patients with lymphangioleiomyomatosis. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 7170.
- 12) Fukui M, Takamochi K, Suzuki K, Hotta A, Ando K, Matsunaga T, Oh S, Suzuki K: Advantages and disadvantages of corticosteroid use for acute exacerbation of interstitial pneumonia after pulmonary resection. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 2021; 69: 472-477.

## Obstetrics and Gynecology

(Original Articles)

- Miyakoshi K, Itakura A, Abe T, Kondoh E, Terao Y, Tabata T, Hamada H, Tanaka K, Tanaka M, Kanayama N, Takeda S: Risk of preterm birth after the excisional surgery for cervical lesions: a propensity-score matching study in Japan. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med, 2021; 34: 845-851.
- 2) Itoh H, Ishii K, Shigeta N, Itakura A, Hamada H, Nagamatsu T, Ishida T, Bungyoku Y, Falahati A, Tomisaka M, Kitamura M: Efficacy and safety of controlled-release dinoprostone vaginal delivery system (PROPESS) in Japanese pregnant women requiring cervical ripening: Results from a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 216–225.
- 3) Morikawa M, Matsunaga S, Makino S, Takeda Y, Hyoudo H, Nii M, Serizawa M, Itakura A, Adachi T, Kobayashi T: Effect of hypofibrinogenemia on obstetrical disseminated intravascular coagulation in Japan in 2018: a multicenter retrospective cohort study. Int J Hematol, 2021; 114: 18–34.
- 4) Edahiro Y, Yasuda H, Gotoh A, Morishita S, Suzuki T, Takeda J, Ando J, Tsutsui M, Itakura A, Komatsu N: Interferon therapy for pregnant patients with essential thrombocythemia in Japan. Int J Hematol, 2021; 113: 106–111.
- 5) Morikawa M, Adachi T, Itakura A, Nii M, Nakabayashi Y, Kobayashi T: A retrospective cohort study using a national surveillance questionnaire to investigate the characteristics of maternal venous thromboembolism in Japan in 2018. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 2021; 21: 514.
- 6) Morikawa M, Nii M, Nakabayashi Y, Itakura A, Kobayashi T, Adachi T: Capacity of Japanese institutions to manage obstetrical disseminated intravascular coagulation in 2018: A national surveillance question-

naire and retrospective cohort study. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 3159–3170.

- 7) Shindo R, Aoki S, Misumi T, Nakanishi S, Umazume T, Nagamatsu T, Masuyama H, Itakura A, Ikeda T: Spontaneous labor curve based on a retrospective multi-center study in Japan. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 4263-4269.
- 8) Nagasaki S, Nakata M, Takano M, Sakuma J, Nagai R, Miyashita S, Takahashi Y, Iwagaki S, Yamamoto Y, Morita M: Measurement of fetal automated fractional shortening using two-dimensional tracking in multiple centers. J Med Ultrason, 2021; 48: 83–90.
- 9) Aoi H, Mizuguchi T, Suzuki T, Makino S, Yamamoto Y, Takeda J, Maruyama Y, Seyama R, Takeuchi S, Uchiyama Y, Azuma Y, Hamanaka K, Fujita A, Koshimizu E, Miyatake S, Mitsuhashi S, Takata A, Miyake N, Takeda S, Itakura A, Matsumoto N: Whole exome sequencing of fetal structural anomalies detected by ultrasonography. J Hum Genet, 2021; 66: 499–507.
- 10) Nakamura E, Takahashi S, Matsunaga S, Tanaka H, Furuta M, Sakurai A; Japan Resuscitation Council (JRC), Guideline Editorial Committee: Intravenous infusion route in maternal resuscitation: a scoping review. BMC Emerg Med, 2021; 21: 151.
- 11) Seyama R, Makino S, Shinohara M, Takahashi M, Sato A, Takeda J, Takeda S, Itakura A: Advantages of contrast-enhanced ultrasonography and uterine balloon tamponade during intrauterine evacuation of retained products of conception. Hypertens Res Pregnancy, 2021; 9: 17–20.
- 12) Oshina K, Ozaki R, Kumakiri J, Murakami K, Kawasaki Y, Kitade M, Itakura A: Pyomyoma mimicking tubo-ovarian abscess: Two case reports. Case Rep Womens Health, 2021; 33: e00372.
- 13) Uchiyama Y, Yamaguchi D, Iwama K, Miyatake S, Hamanaka K, Tsuchida N, Aoi H, Azuma Y, Itai T, Saida K, Fukuda H, Sekiguchi F, Sakaguchi T, Ming L, Ohori S, Sakamoto M, Kato M, Koike T, Takahashi Y, Tanda K, Hyodo Y, Honjo RS, Bertola DR, Kim CA, Goto M, Okazaki T, Yamada H, Maegaki Y, Osaka H, Ngu LH, Siew CG, Teik KW, Akasaka M, Doi H, Tanaka F, Goto T, Guo L, Ikegawa S, Haginoya K, Haniffa M, Hiraishi N, Hiraki Y, Ikemoto S, Daida A, Hamano S, Miura M, Ishiyama A, Kawano O, Kondo A, Matsumoto H, Okamoto N, Okanishi T, Ovoshi Y, Takeshita E, Suzuki T, Ogawa Y, Handa H, Miyazono Y, Koshimizu E, Fujita A, Takata A, Miyake N, Mizuguchi T, Matsumoto N: Efficient detection of copy-number variations using exome data: Batchand sex-based analyses. Hum Mutat, 2021; 42: 50-65.
- 14) Takeda S, Takeda J, Murayama Y: Placenta Previa Accreta Spectrum: Cesarean Hysterectomy. Surg J (N Y), 2021; 7 (Suppl 1): S28-S37.
- 15) Ichizuka K, Toyokawa S, Ikenoue T, Satoh S, Hasegawa J, Ikeda T, Tamiya N, Nakai A, Fujimori K,

Maeda T, Kanayama N, Masuzaki H, Iwashita M, Suzuki H, Takeda S: Risk factors for cerebral palsy in neonates due to placental abruption. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 159–166.

- 16) Hasegawa J, Ikeda T, Toyokawa S, Jojima E, Satoh S, Ichizuka K, Tamiya N, Nakai A, Fujimori K, Maeda T, Takeda S, Suzuki H, Ueda S, Iwashita M, Ikenoue T: Obstetric factors associated with uterine rupture in mothers who deliver infants with cerebral palsy. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med, 2021; 34: 663–669.
- 17) Mitsui K, Endo M, Imai Y, Ueda Y, Ogawa H, Muto G, Yan Y, Deshpande GA, Terao Y, Takeda S, Tanigawa T, Nishimura K, Hayashi K, Saito M, Kokaze A: Predictors of resignation and sick leave after cancer diagnosis among Japanese breast cancer survivors: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health, 2021; 21: 138.
- 18) Sagawa K, Suzuki S, Takeda S, Kinoshita K: Trends in mode of breech delivery in Japan. Hypertens Res Pregnancy, 2021; 9: 26–29.
- 19) Samejima K, Matsunaga S, Takai Y, Baba K, Seki H, Takeda S: Efficacy of well-planned management in patients with incarcerated gravid uterus: A case series and literature review. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol, 2021; 60: 679–684.
- 20) Saito S, Takagi K, Moriya J, Kobayashi T, Kanayama N, Sameshima H, Morikawa M, Sago H, Adachi T, Ohkuchi A, Takeda S, Masuyama H, Seki H: A randomized phase 3 trial evaluating antithrombin gamma treatment in Japanese patients with early-onset severe preeclampsia (KOUNO-TORI study): Study protocol. Contemp Clin Trials, 2021; 107: 106490.
- 21) Suzuki I, Yoshida S, Tabu K, Kusunoki S, Matsumura Y, Izumi H, Asanoma K, Yagi H, Onoyama I, Sonoda K, Kohno K, Taga T, Itakura A, Takeda S, Kato K: YBX2 and cancer testis antigen 45 contribute to stemness, chemoresistance and a high degree of malignancy in human endometrial cancer. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 4220.
- 22) Yang C, Ikeda K, Horie-Inoue K, Sato W, Hasegawa K, Takeda S, Itakura A, Inoue S: Transcriptomic analysis of hormone-sensitive patient-derived endometrial cancer spheroid culture defines Efp as a proliferation modulator. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2021; 548: 204–210.
- 23) Takahashi N, Okuno T, Fujii H, Makino S, Takahashi M, Ohba M, Saeki K, Itakura A, Takeda S, Yokomizo T: Up-regulation of cytosolic prostaglandin E synthase in fetal-membrane and amniotic prostaglandin E2 accumulation in labor. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0250638.
- \* 24) Kumagai A, Takeda S, Sohara E, Uchida S, Iijima H, Itakura A, Koya D, Kanasaki K: Dietary Magnesium Insufficiency Induces Salt-Sensitive Hypertension in Mice Associated With Reduced Kidney Catechol-O-Methyl Transferase Activity. Hypertension, 2021; 78: 138-150.

- 25) Kitamura E, Koike M, Hirayama T, Sunabori T, Kameda H, Hioki H, Takeda S, Itakura A: Susceptibility of subregions of prefrontal cortex and corpus callosum to damage by high-dose oxytocin-induced labor in male neonatal mice. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0256693.
- \* 26) Kitamura E, Kawasaki Y, Kasai T, Midorikawa I, Shiroshita N, Kawana F, Ogasawara E, Kitade M, Itakura A, Koikawa N, Matsuda T: The relationship between body composition and sleep architecture in athletes. Sleep Med, 2021; 87: 92-96.
  - 27) Ito Y, Terao Y, Noma S, Tagami M, Yoshida E, Hayashizaki Y, Itoh M, Kawaji H: Nanopore sequencing reveals TACC2 locus complexity and diversity of isoforms transcribed from an intronic promoter. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 9355.
  - 28) Ito Y, Terao Y, Noma S, Tagami M, Yoshida E, Hayashizaki Y, Itoh M, Kawaji H: Publisher Correction: Nanopore sequencing reveals TACC2 locus complexity and diversity of isoforms transcribed from an intronic promoter. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 16835.
  - 29) Konno Y, Asano H, Shikama A, Aoki D, Tanikawa M, Oki A, Horie K, Mitsuhashi A, Kikuchi A, Tokunaga H, Terao Y, Satoh T, Ushijima K, Ishikawa M, Yaegashi N, Watari H: Lymphadenectomy issues in endometrial cancer. J Gynecol Oncol, 2021; 32: e25.
  - 30) Kunogi H, Yamaguchi N, Terao Y, Sasai K: Dosimetric predictors of nephrotoxicity in patients receiving extended-field radiation therapy for gynecologic cancer. Radiat Oncol, 2021; 16: 25.
  - 31) Kunogi H, Hsu IC, Yamaguchi N, Kusunoki S, Nakagawa K, Sugimori Y, Fujino K, Terao Y, Ogishima D, Yoshimura R, Sasai K: CT-Guided Pelvic Lymph Nodal Brachytherapy. Front Oncol, 2021; 10: 532555.
  - 32) Hirayama T, Inayama Y, Odajima S, Yamanaka A, Sekine M, Terao Y, Koide K, Kuwabara Y, Yahata H, Yanaihara N, Nagase S, Kobayashi Y, Sekizawa A: A report on the 73th Annual Congress of the Japan Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology International Workshop for Junior Fellows: Risk-reducing surgery for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 3761–3766.
  - 33) Grapotte M, Saraswat M, Bessiere C, and all 474 authors (Yasuhisa T, Emmiko Y), Bréhélin L: Discovery of widespread transcription initiation at microsatellites predictable by sequence-based deep neural network. Nature Communications, 2021; 12: 3297.
- <sup>†</sup> 34) Liu H, Takagaki Y, Kumagai A, Kanasaki K, Koya D: The PKM2 activator TEPP-46 suppresses kidney fibrosis via inhibition of the EMT program and aberrant glycolysis associated with suppression of HIF-1*a* accumulation. J Diabetes Investig, 2021; 12: 697-709.
- \* 35) Kawakita E, Yang F, Kumagai A, Takagaki Y, Kitada M, Yoshitomi Y, Ikeda T, Nakamura Y, Ishigaki Y, Kanasaki K, Koya D: Metformin Mitigates DPP-4 Inhibitor-Induced Breast Cancer Metastasis via

Suppression of mTOR Signaling. Mol Cancer Res, 2021; 19: 61-73.

- 36) Ikemoto Y, Kuroda K, Endo M, Tanaka A, Sugiyama R, Nakagawa K, Sato Y, Kuribayashi Y, Tomooka K, Imai Y, Deshpande GA, Tanigawa T, Itakura A, Takeda S: Analysis of severe psychological stressors in women during fertility treatment: Japan-Female Employment and Mental health in Assisted reproductive technology (J-FEMA) study. Arch Gynecol Obstet, 2021; 304: 253–261.
- 37) Ichiyama T, Kuroda K, Nagai Y, Urushiyama D, Ohno M, Yamaguchi T, Nagayoshi M, Sakuraba Y, Yamasaki F, Hata K, Miyamoto S, Itakura A, Takeda S, Tanaka A: Analysis of vaginal and endometrial microbiota communities in infertile women with a history of repeated implantation failure. Reprod Med Biol, 2021; 20: 334-344.
- 38) Murayama Y, Seki H, Takeda S: Intra-arterial Balloon Occlusion to Reduce Operative Bleeding for Placenta Previa Accreta Spectrum. Surg J (N Y), 2021; 7 (Suppl 1): S11–S19.
- 39) Murakami K, Kitade M, Kumakiri J, Ozaki R, Ikuma S, Jinushi M, Itakura A: Monitoring drainage flow rate facilitates prompt intervention with re-laparoscopy for postoperative bleeding after laparoscopic gynecologic surgery: A case-control study. Asian J Endosc Surg, 2021; 14: 748-755.
- 40) Kuroda K, Nagai S, Ikemoto Y, Matsumura Y, Ochiai A, Nojiri S, Itakura A, Sugiyama R: Incidences and risk factors of moderate-to-severe ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome and severe hemoperitoneum in 1,435,108 oocyte retrievals. Reprod Biomed Online, 2021; 42: 125–132.
- 41) Kuroda K, Matsumura Y, Ikemoto Y, Segawa T, Hashimoto T, Fukuda J, Nakagawa K, Uchida T, Ochiai A, Horimoto Y, Arakawa A, Nojiri S, Itakura A, Sugiyama R: Analysis of the risk factors and treatment for repeated implantation failure: OPtimization of Thyroid function, IMmunity, and Uterine Milieu (OPTIMUM) treatment strategy. Am J Reprod Immunol, 2021; 85: e13376.
- 42) Tsunemi A, Uchida T, Kuroda K, Ikemoto Y, Ochiai A, Goto H, Sugiyama R, Satoh H, Itakura A, Watada H: Effect of thyroxine treatment on pregnancy outcomes in infertile Japanese women with TSH levels between 2.5 μIU/mL and the upper reference limit: a retrospective study. Endocr J, 2021; 68: 171-177.
- 43) Kuroda K, Ikemoto Y, Horikawa T, Moriyama A, Ojiro Y, Takamizawa S, Uchida T, Nojiri S, Nakagawa K, Sugiyama R: Novel approaches to the management of recurrent pregnancy loss: The OPTIMUM (OPtimization of Thyroid function, Thrombophilia, IMmunity and Uterine Milieu) treatment strategy. Reprod Med Biol, 2021; 42: 125–132.
- 44) Kuroda K, Takamizawa S, Motoyama H, Tsutsumi R,

Sugiyama R, Nakagawa K, Sugiyama R, Kuribayashi Y: Analysis of the therapeutic effects of hysteroscopic polypectomy with and without doxycycline treatment on chronic endometritis with endometrial polyps. Am J Reprod Immunol, 2021; 85: e13392.

- 45) Kuroda K, Nakagawa K, Horikawa T, Moriyama A, Ojiro Y, Takamizawa S, Ochiai A, Matsumura Y, Ikemoto Y, Yamaguchi K, Sugiyama R: Increasing number of implantation failures and pregnancy losses associated with elevated Th1/Th2 cell ratio. Am J Reprod Immunol, 2021; 86: e13429.
- 46) Kuroda K, Horikawa T, Gekka Y, Moriyama A, Nakao K, Juen H, Takamizawa S, Ojiro Y, Nakagawa K, Sugiyama R: Effects of periconceptional multivitamin supplementation on folate and homocysteine levels depending on genetic variants of methyltetrahydrofolate reductase in infertile Japanese women. Nutrients, 2021; 13: 1381.
- 47) Nakao K, Kuroda K, Horikawa T, Moriyama A, Juen H, Itakura A, Watanabe H, Takamizawa S, Ojiro Y, Nakagawa K, Sugiyama R: Therapeutic effects of an oral gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor antagonist, relugolix, on preventing premature ovulation in mild ovarian stimulation for IVF. Reprod Med Biol, 2021; 21: e12422.
- 48) Hirata T, Koga K, Taniguchi F, Takazawa N, Honda R, Tanaka T, Kurihara M, Nakajima J, Yoshimura K, Kitade M, Narahara H, Kitawaki J, Harada T, Katabuchi H, Horie S, Osuga Y: National survey of bladder endometriosis cases in Japan. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 1451–1461.
- 49) Ishizuka K, Furuya M, Kimura M, Kamioka E, Kawamura K: Live Birth Rate in Patients With Premature Ovarian Insufficiency During Long-Term Follow-Up Under Hormone Replacement With or Without Ovarian Stimulation. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne), 2021; 12: 795724.
- 50) Vo KCT, Kawamura K: Female Oncofertility: Current Understandings, Therapeutic Approaches, Controversies, and Future Perspectives. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 5690.
- 51) Vo KCT, Sato Y, Kawagoe Y, Kawamura K: Effects of Hochuekkito, a traditional Japanese medicine (Kampo), on reproduction of aging female mice. Reprod Med Biol, 2021; 21: e12425.
- 52) Grin L, Vo KCT, Sato Y, Mizrachi Y, Kohara M, Sankai T, Kawamura K: Ageing and chronic disease-related changes in the morphometric characteristics of ovarian follicles in cynomolgus monkeys (Macaca fascicularis). Hum Reprod, 2021; 36: 2732–2742.
- 53) Vo KCT, Kawamura K: In Vitro Activation Early Follicles: From the Basic Science to the Clinical Perspectives. Int J Mol Sci, 2021; 22: 3785.
- 54) Kawagoe Y, Kawamura K: Fertility Preservation in Patients with Severe Ovarian Dysfunction. J Vis Exp, 2021; 169.

- 55) Takahashi M, Makino S, Oguma K, Imai H, Takamizu A, Koizumi A, Yoshida K: Fetal growth restriction as the initial finding of preeclampsia is a clinical predictor of maternal and neonatal prognoses: a single center retrospective study. BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 2021; 21: 678.
- 56) Takahashi M, Makino S, Iizuka H, Noguchi M, Yoshida K: Chronic active Epstein-Barr virus-associated secondary hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis in pregnancy: A case report. BMC pregnancy and childbirth, 2021; 21: 681.
- 57) Takahashi M, Takeda J, Haneda S, Ishii S, Shinohara M, Yoshida E, Sato A, Makino S, Itakura A: "Stepby-Step" Minimally Invasive Hemostatic Technique Using Intrauterine Double-Balloon Tamponade Combined with Uterine Isthmus Vertical Compression Suture for the Control of Placenta Accreta and Severe Atonic Hemorrhage during a Cesarean Section. Surg J (N Y), 2021; 7: e216-e221.
- 58) Fujita H, Kikuchi I, Nakagawa R, Katano M, Nakano E, Kitayama R, Tanaka Y: Use of a Novel Fluorescent Catheter to Locate the Ureters during Total Laparoscopic Hysterectomy. J Minim Invasive Gynecol, 2021; 28: 1420–1424.
- 59) Okubo M, Furuta Y, Nakamura Y, Osawa T, Tada N, Sawada T, Yamatoya K, Sekiguchi Y, Araki Y, Miyake K, Noguchi M, Komatsu N, Ohsaka A: Threshold for optimal administration of plerixafor in autologous peripheral blood stem cell collections through CD34+ cell monitoring based on the experience from two Japanese university hospitals. Ther Apher Dial, 2021; 25: 687–696.
- 60) Nakamura Y, Furuta Y, Tokida M, Ichikawa K, Shirahata M, Uzawa K, Takizawa M, Okubo M, Ohsaka A: A survey of nurses to assess transfusion practice at the bedside using an electronic identification system: Experience at a university hospital. Transfus Med, 2021; 31: 5–10.
- 61) Yanagawa Y, Tanaka T, Kaneda H, Omae T: Complete Maternal Recovery after Prolonged Cardiac Arrest Due to Atonic Postpartum Hemorrhaging. Emerg Trauma Shock, 2021; 14: 249–250.
- 62) Sasaki Y, Yamada T, Tanaka S, Sekizawa A, Hirose T, Suzumori N, Kaji T, Kawaguchi S, Hasuo Y, Nishizawa H, Matsubara K, Hamanoue H, Fukushima A, Endo M, Yamaguchi M, Kamei Y, Sawai H, Miura K, Ogawa M, Tairaku S, Nakamura H, Sanui A, Mizuuchi M, Okamoto Y, Kitagawa M, Kawano Y, Masuyama H, Murotsuki J, Osada H, Kurashina R, Samura O, Ichikawa M, Sasaki R, Maeda K, Kasai Y, Yamazaki T, Neki R, Hamajima N, Katagiri Y, Izumi S, Nakayama S, Miharu N, Yokohama Y, Hirose M, Kawakami K, Ichizuka K, Sase M, Sugimoto K, Nagamatsu T, Shiga T, Tashima L, Taketani T, Matsumoto M, Hamada H, Watanabe T, Okazaki T, Iwamoto S, Katsura D, Ikenoue N, Kakinuma T, Hamada H, Egawa M, Kasa

matsu A, Ida A, Kuno N, Kuji N, Ito M, Morisaki H, Tanigaki S, Hayakawa H, Miki A, Sasaki S, Saito M, Yamada N, Sasagawa T, Tanaka T, Hirahara F, Kosugi S, Sago H; Japan N. I. P. T. Consortium: Evaluation of the clinical performance of noninvasive prenatal testing at a Japanese laboratory. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 3437–3446.

- 63) Nagasawa S, Kasahara M, Aoki Y, Kusunoki S, Sugimori Y, Matsuoka S, Ogura K, Ogishima D: Successful pregnancy with stage IB2 uterine cervical cancer: A case report. Cancer Rep (Hoboken), 2021; e1542.
- 64) Yanagihara Y, Tanaka A, Nagayoshi M, Tanaka I, Shinohara R, Fukushima F, Tanaka A, Ohno M, Yamaguchi T, Itakura A: A modified GnRH antagonist method in combination with letrozole, cabergoline, and GnRH antagonist for PCOS: Safe and effective ovarian stimulation to treat PCOS and prevent OHSS. Reprod Med Biol, 2021; 21: e12429.
- 65) Imai Y, Endo M, Kuroda K, Tomooka K, Ikemoto Y, Sato S, Mitsui K, Ueda Y, Deshpande GA, Tanaka A, Sugiyama R, Nakagawa K, Sato Y, Kuribayashi Y, Itakura A, Takeda S, Tanigawa T: Risk factors for resignation from work after starting infertility treatment among Japanese women: Japan-Female Employment and Mental health in Assisted reproductive technology (J-FEMA) study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 2021; 78: 426–432.
- 66) Wiweko B, Ho TM, Tanaka A, Raggio V, Lee JR, Patil M, Chan CCW, Wutayavanich T, Diao F, Nair S, Mendiola RF: COVID-19 pandemic impacts decisionmaking and psychosocial behavior in women seeking fertility treatment in APAC – an ASPIRE Patient Experience Report. FERTILITY & REPRODUC-TION, 2021; 3: 58–77.

(Reviews)

- Kanasaki K, Kumagai A: The impact of micronutrient deficiency on pregnancy complications and development origin of health and disease. J Obstet Gynaecol Res, 2021; 47: 1965–1972.
- Makino S: Usefulness of fibrinogen concentrate in critical obstetric hemorrhage: Up to date with a systematic review. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2021; 6: 140–146.

### Anesthesiology

(Original Articles)

- \* 1) Kuroda Y, Nonaka M, Kamikubo Y, Ogawa H, Murayama T, Kurebayashi N, Sakairi H, Miyano K, Komatsu A, Dodo T, Nakano-Ito K, Yamaguchi K, Sakurai T, Iseki M, Hayashida M, Uezono Y: Inhibition of endothelin A receptor by a novel, selective receptor antagonist enhances morphine-induced analgesia: Possible functional interaction of dimerized endothelin A and μ-opioid receptors. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2021; 141: 111800.
- \* 2) Yamaguchi A, Kawagoe I, Inoue S, Kochiyama T,

Fukuda M, Saito M, Hayashida M: Propofol decreases CD8+ T cells and sevoflurane increases regulatory T cells after lung cancer resection: a randomized controlled trial, 2021; 13: 5430–5438.

- 3) Inoue R, Nishizawa D, Hasegawa J, Nakayama K, Fukuda KI, Ichinohe T, Mieda T, Tsujita M, Nakagawa H, Kitamura A, Sumikura H, Ikeda K, Hayashida M: Effects of rs958804 and rs7858836 single-nucleotide polymorphisms of the ASTN2 gene on pain-related phenotypes in patients who underwent laparoscopic colectomy and mandibular sagittal split ramus osteotomy. Neuropsychopharmacol Rep, 2021; 41: 82–90.
- 4) Kadokura Y, Hayashida M, Kakemizu-Watanabe M, Yamamoto M, Endo D, Oishi A, Nakanishi K, Hata H: Cerebral oxygen saturation (rSO2) during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) measured using the INVOS oximeter closely correlates with baseline rSO2. J Artif Organs, 2021; 24: 433-441.
- \* 5) Katakura Y, Nagamine Y, Goto T, Sumikura H: Association of chorioamnionitis with failed conversion of epidural labor analgesia to cesarean delivery anesthesia: A retrospective cohort study. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0250596.
- \* 6) Kumemura M, Omae T, Yanagisawa N, Sakuraba S, Koh K: Efficacy of Erector Spinae Plane Block after Trunk Surgery: A Stratified Randomized Observer-Blinded Comparative Study, Juntendo Med J, 2021; 67; 173-180.
- \* 7) Karasawa Y, Miyano K, Fujii H, Mizuguchi T, Kuroda Y, Nonaka M, Komatsu A, Ohshima K, Yamaguchi M, Yamaguchi K, Iseki M, Uezono Y, Hayashida M: In Vitro Analyses of Spinach-Derived Opioid Peptides, Rubiscolins: Receptor Selectivity and Intracellular Activities through G Protein- andβ-Arrestin-Mediated Pathways. Molecules, 2021; 26: 6079.
- \* 8) Katsuda Y, Tanaka K, Mori T, Narita M, Takeshima H, Kondo T, Yamabe Y, Matsufuji M, Sato D, Hamada Y, Yamaguchi K, Ushijima T, Inada E, Kuzumaki N, Masako I, Narita M: Histone modification of pain-related gene expression in spinal cord neurons under a persistent postsurgical pain-like state by electro-cautery. Mol Brain, 2021; 14: 146.
  - 9) COVIDSurg Collaborative; GlobalSurg Collaborative, Timing of surgery following SARS-CoV-2 infection: an international prospective cohort study. Anaesthesia, 2021; 76: 748-758.
  - 10) COVIDSurg Collaborative; GlobalSurg Collaborative. Effects of pre-operative isolation on postoperative pulmonary complications after elective surgery: an international prospective cohort study. Anaesthesia, 2021; 76: 1454–1464.
  - 11) COVIDSurg Collaborative, GlobalSurg Collaborative. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination modelling for safe surgery to save lives: data from an international prospective cohort study. Br J Surg, 2021; 108: 1056-1063.
  - 12) Şentürk M, Tahan MREl, Shelley B, Szegedi LL,

Piccioni F, Licker MJ, Karzai W, Gil MG, Neskovic V, Vanpeteghem C, Pelosi P, Cohen E, Sorbello M, MBChB JB, Stoica R, Mourisse J, Brunelli A, Jimenez MJ, Drnvsek-Globoikar M, Yapici D, Morsy AS, Kawagoe I, Végh T, Navarro-Ripoll R, Marczin N, Paloczi B, Unzueta C, Gregorio GD, Wouters P, Rex S, Mukherjee C, Paternoster G, Guarracino F: Thoracic anesthesia during the COVID-19 pandemic: 2021 updated recommendations by the European Association of Cardiothoracic Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care (EACTAIC) Thoracic Subspecialty Committee. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth, 2021; 35: 3528-3546.

- 13) Satoh D, Mitaka C, Okazaki A, Koh K, Kawagoe I, Hashimoto T, Hayashida M: Effects of Nasal High-Flow Therapy after Open Chest Esophagectomy for Esophageal Cancer. J Surgery, 2021; 6: 1369.
- 14) Takazawa T, Sugiyama Y, Amano Y, Hara T, Kanemaru E, Kato T, Kawano T, Kochiyama T, Tsuji T, Saito S: Impact of the First Wave of COVID-19 on the Number of General Anesthesia Cases in 34 Tertiary Hospitals in Japan: A Multicenter Retrospective Study, Anesthesiology Research and Practice, 2021; 8144794.
- 15) Kawagoe I, Hayashida M, Satoh D, Kochiyama T, Fukuda M, Kishii J: Postoperative analgesia in patients undergoing robot-assisted thoracic surgery: a comparison between thoracic epidural analgesia and intercostal nerve block combined with intravenous patientcontrolled analgesia. Ann Palliat Med, 2021; 10: 1985-1993
- 16) Mitaka C, Kawagoe I, Satoh D, Hayashida M: Effect of recombinant human soluble thrombomodulin on coagulation-related variables in patients with sepsisinduced disseminated intravascular coagulation: a retrospective observational study. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost, 2021; 27: 10760296211050356. doi: 10.1177/ 10760296211050356.
- 17) Okahara S, Handoh T, Wakita M, Yamamoto T, Misawa S, Miida T, Sumikura H: Fibrinogen measurement by a novel point-of-care device with whole blood: comparison of values against Clauss method. J Anesth, 2021; 35: 757–760.
- 18) Kimura Y, Yamaguchi S, Suzuki T, Kato J, Chiba S, Hirakawa N, Yamaguchi K, Tanabe Y, Takatsuna H, Kenyoshi Y, Shiosakai K, Sakai M, Iseki M: Switching From Pregabalin to Mirogabalin in Patients with Peripheral Neuropathic Pain: A Multi-Center, Prospective, Single-Arm, Open-Label Study (MIROP Study). Pain Ther, 2021: 10: 711–727.
- 19) Nishiizawa D, Iseki M, Arita H, Hanaoka K, Yajima C, Kato J, Ogawa S, Hiranuma A, Kasai S, Hasegawa J, Hayashida M, Ikeda K: Genome-wide association study identifies candidate loci associated with chronic pain and postherpetic neuralgia. Mol Pain, 2021; 17: 1–21.
- 20) Ohka S, Yamada S, Nishizawa D, Fukui Y, Arita H, Hanaoka K, Iseki M, Kato J, Ogawa S, Hiranuma A,

Kasai S, Hasegawa J, Hayashida M, Fukushi S, Saijo M, Ikeda K: Heparan sulfate 3- O-sulfotransferase 4 is genetically associated with herpes zoster and enhances varicella-zoster virus-mediated fusogenic activity. Mol Pain, 2021; 17: 17448069211052171.

- 21) Yamada K, Wakaizumi K, Kubota Y, Murayama H, Tabuchi T: Loneliness, social isolation, and pain following the COVID-19 outbreak: data from a nationwide internet survey in Japan. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 18643-18643.
- 22) Yamada K, Kubota Y, Paré C, Takeda T: Internet addiction belief, but not Internet use time, is independently associated with menstrual pain severity and interference to social life among adolescents: a cross-sectional study. Br J Pain, 2021; 15: 302-311.
- 23) Yamada K, Kimura T, Cui M, Kubota Y, Tanaka E, Wakaizumi K, Ikehara S, Kimura T, Iso H: Antenatal pain, intimate partner violence, and maternal bonding disorder: data from the Japan Environment and Children's Study. Pain, 2021; 162: 749–759.
- 24) Wakaizumi K, Yamada K, Shimazu A, Tabuchi T: Sitting for long periods is associated with impaired work performance during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Occup Health, 2021; 63: e12258.
- 25) Germann AL, Pierce SR, Tateiwa H, Sugasawa Y, Reichert DE, Evers AS, Steinbach JH, Akk G: Intrasubunit and intersubunit steroid binding sites independently and additively mediate  $a1\beta 2\gamma 2L$  GABAA receptor potentiation by the endogenous neurosteroid allopregnanolone. Mol Pharm, 2021; 100: 19–31.
- 26) Krishnan K, Qian M, Feltes MK, Chen ZW, Gale S, Wang L, Sugasawa Y, Reichert DE, Schaffer JE, Ory DS, Evers AS, Covey DF: Synthesis and evaluation of trifluoromethylphenyl diazirine photoaffinity analogues of cholesterol and a comparison of their activities with aliphatic diazirine analogues. ACS Chem Biol, 2021; 16: 1493–1507.
- 27) Kageshima Y, Inada E, Okamura K, Suzuki T, Kato M, Takahashi K: Hermansky–Pudlak syndrome with acute hatred idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: all of the patients of oculocutaneus albinism for past 20 years in Juntendo university hospital. Juntendo Med J, 2021; 67: 282–286.

 $\langle \text{Reviews} \rangle$ 

- Mitaka C, Kusaoi M, Kwagoe I, Satoh D: Up-to-date information on polymyxin B-immobilized fiber column direct hemoperfusion for septic shock. Acute Crit Care, 2021; 36: 85–91.
- 2) Nakamura E, Takahashi S, Matsunaga S, Tanaka H, Furuta M, Sakura A: Japan Resuscitation Council (JRC), Guideline Editorial Committee. Intravenous infusion route in maternal resuscitation: a scoping review. BMC Emerg Med, 2021; 21: 151.
- 3) Omae T, Candiotti KA, Koh K, Kumemura M, Sakuraba S, Iwatsubo C, Yasui M, Katsuda Y: Perioperative management of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy

for patients undergoing noncardiac surgery —Perioperative management of HCM—, Circ Cont, 2021; 42: 17–30.

- 4) Okazaki A: Retirement: When I Joined Izunagaoka Hospital in 1986,I did not think I would be in Izunagaoka until I reached retirement age. Juntendo Med J, 2021; 67: 427-431.
- 5) Ikeda K, Ide S, Omoe H, Minam M, Miyata H, Kawato M, Okamoto H, Kikuchi T, Saito Y, Shirao T, Sekino Y, Murai T, Matsumoto T, Iseki M, Nishitani Y, Sumitani M, Takahashi H, Yamawaki D, Isa T, Kamio Y: Required research activities to overcome addiction problems in Japan. Taiwanese J Psychiat, 2021; 35: 6–11.

### **Clinical Laboratory Medicine**

(Original Articles)

- Wakita M, Idei M, Saito K, Horiuchi Y, Yamatani K, Ishikawa S, Yamamoto T, Igawa G, Hinata M, Kadota K, Kurosawa T, Takahashi S, Saito T, Misawa S, Akazawa T, Naito T, Miida T, Takahashi K, Ai T, Tabe Y: Comparison of the clinical performance and usefulness of five SARS-CoV-2 antibody tests. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0246536.
- 2) Sasano H, Yoshizawa T, Kawakami T, Takahashi T, Suzuki M, Fukui Y, Uehara Y, Arakawa R, Miida T, Hori S, Naito T: Improvements in quality indicators for the treatment of infectious diseases with intervention by an antimicrobial stewardship team. J Hosp Gen Med, 2021; 3: 1–10.
- 3) Hori A, Ai T, Isshiki M, Motoi Y, Tabe Y, Yano K, Hattori N, Miida T: Novel variants in the CLCN1, RYR2, and DCTN1 found in elderly Japanese dementia patients: A case series. Geriatrics (Basel), 2021; 6: 14.
- 4) Mori S, Hori A, Turker I, Inaji M, Bello-Pardo E, Miida T, Otomo Y, Ai T: Abnormal cardiac repolarization after seizure episodes in structural brain diseases: Cardiac manifestation of electrical remodeling in the brain? J Am Heart Assoc, 2021; 10: e019778.
- 5) Hiki M, Tabe Y, Ai T, Matsue Y, Harada N, Sugimoto K, Matsushita Y, Matsushita M, Wakita M, Misawa S, Idei M, Miida T, Takahashi K, Naito T: Seroprevalence of anti-SARS-CoV-2 antibodies in Japanese COVID-19 patients. PLoS One, 2021; 16: e0249449.
- 6) Fukuda H, Seyama K, Ito K, Ai T, Nojiri S, Hori S, Wakita M, Saito K, Shida Y, Nagura R, Hasegawa M, Kanemoto C, Tokuhara M, Okajima K, Yoshikawa Y, Katsuta N, Yamamoto T, Idei M, Horiuchi Y, Yamatani K, Misawa S, Naito T, Miida T, Sato H, Hattori N, Tabe Y, Takahashi K: SARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence in healthcare workers at a frontline hospital in Tokyo. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 8380.
- 7) Maki R, Tabe Y, Yamamoto T, Takemura H, Sawada T, Esaki T, Higuchi M, Misawa S, Miyake K, Miida T, Nagai Y, Ohsaka A: Accuracy study of a novel alternate method measuring erythrocyte sedimentation

rate for prototype hematology analyzer Celltac a+. Int J Lab Hematol, 2021; 43: 588–596.

- 8) Kayamori Y, Nakamura M, Kishi K, Miida T, Nishimura K, Okamura T, Hirayama S, Ohmura H, Yoshida H, Ai M, Tanaka A, Sumino H, Murakami M, Inoue I, Teramoto T, Yokoyama S: Comparison of the Japan Society of Clinical Chemistry reference method and CDC method for HDL and LDL cholesterol measurements using fresh sera. Pract Lab Med, 2021; 25: e00228.
- 9) Oshiro S, Tabe Y, Funatogawa K, Saito K, Tada T, Hishinuma T, Mizutani N, Akiwa M, Sekiguchi J, Miida T, Kirikae T: Development of an immunochromatographic kit to detect severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. J Virol Methods, 2021; 294: 114183.
- 10) Saito K, Zhang Q, Yang H, Yamatani K, Ai T, Ruvolo V, Baran N, Cai T, Ma H, Jacamo R, Kuruvilla VM, Imoto J, Kinjo So, Ikeo K, Moriya K, Suzuki K, Miida T, Kim YM, Vellano CP, Andreeff M, Marszalek JR, Tabe Y, Konopleva MY: Exogenous mitochondrial transfer and endogenous mitochondrial fission facilitate AML resistance to OxPhos inhibition. Blood Adv, 2021; 5: 4233-4255.
- 11) Horiuchi Y, Hayashi F, Iwasaki Y, Matsuzaki A, Nishibe K, Marutani S, Matsuoka S, Saito K, Takehara I, Uchi-hashi K, Miida T, Ai T, Tabe Y: Peripheral granular lymphocytopenia and dysmorphic leukocytosis as simple prognostic markers in COVID-19. Int J Lab Hematol, 2021; 43: 1309–1318.
- 12) Okahara S, Handoh T, Wakita M, Yamamoto T, Misawa S, Miida T, Sumikura H: Fibrinogen measurement by a novel point-of-care device with whole blood: comparison of values against Clauss method. J Anesth, 2021; 35: 757-760.
- 13) Saito K, Ai T, Kawai A, Matsui J, Fukushima Y, Kikukawa N, Kyoutou T, Chonan M, Kawakami T, Hosaka Y, Misawa S, Takagi H, Matsushita Y, Hiki M, Okuzawa A, Hori S, Naito T, Miida T, Takahashi K, Tabe Y: Performance and usefulness of a novel automated immunoassay HISCL SARS-CoV-2 antigen assay kit for the diagnosis of COVID-19. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 23196.
- 14) Igawa G, Yamamoto T, Baba Y, Shinozuka K, Yuri M, Wakita M, Misawa S, Miida T, Ai T, Tabe Y: Clinical evaluation of Siemens SARS-CoV-2 total antibody assay and IgG assay using the Dimension EXL 200 in the Tokyo metropolitan area. Heliyon, 2021; 7: e08393.
- 15) Kimura K, Ai T, Horiuchi Y, Matsuzaki A, Nishibe K, Marutani S, Saito K, Kaniyu K, Takehara I, Uchihashi K, Ohsaka A, Tabe Y: Automated diagnostic support system with deep learning algorithms for distinction of Philadelphia chromosome-negative myeloproliferative neoplasms using peripheral blood specimen. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 3367.
- 16) Hisasue M, Ai T, Kimura K, Matsuzaki A, Nishibe K,

Tabe Y, Ohsaka A: Modification of the Algorithm Used by Automated Hematology Analyzer XN-3000 Improves Specificity in the Detection of Schistocytes. Clin Lab, 2021; 67.

- 17) Naito T, Yan Y, Tabe Y, Seyama K, Deshpande GA: Real-world evidence for the effectiveness and breakthrough of BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine at a medical center in Japan. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 2021; Vol. 18 No. 1: 1–2.
- 18) Komori A, Mori H, Kojima Y, Tabe Y, Naito T: Preoperative Universal SARS-CoV-2 Screening for Asymptomatic Patients: A Report From Tokyo, Japan. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth, 2021; 35: 1265–1267.
- 19) Okubo M, Furuta Y, Nakamura Y, Osawa T, Tada N, Sawada T, Yamatoya K, Sekiguchi Y, Araki Y, Miyake K, Noguchi M, Komatsu N, Ohsaka A: Threshold for optimal administration of plerixafor in autologous peripheral blood stem cell collections through CD34+ cell monitoring based on the experience from two Japanese university hospitals. Ther Apher Dial, 2021; 25: 687–696.
- 20) Sekiguchi Y, Nishitani M, Takizawa H, Tomita S, Izumi H, Okubo M, Miyake K, Osawa T, Sawada T, Yoshikawa S, Noguchi M: The Current Status of Screening for Essential Thrombocythemia and Polycythemia Vera in Clinical Practice-Report from a Single Institution. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho, 2021; 48: 63–67.
- 21) Sekiguchi Y, Nishitani M, Takizawa H, Iizuka H, Mitsumori T, Tomita S, Izumi H, Okubo M, Miyake K, Osawa T, Sawada T, Yoshikawa S, Okura H, Noguchi M: Use of Ibrutinib in 10 Patients with Treatment-Native or Relapsed/Refractory Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma in Real-World Clinical Practice -A Report from a Single Medical Institution. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho, 2021; 48: 921–926.
- 22) Tanaka M, Ishibashi Y, Hamasaki Y, Kamijo Y, Idei M, Nishi T, Takeda M, Nonaka H, Nangaku M, Mise N: Ultrafiltration volume by once-weekly hemodialysis is a predictor of technique survival of combination therapy with peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis. Ther Apher Dial, 2021; 25: 82–87.
- 23) Fukumura Y, Taniguchi G, Koyanagi A, Horiuchi Y, Ochiai T, Tabe Y, Sano K, Maimaitiaili Y, Otsuji N, Ashizawa K, Yao T: Case Rep Pathol vol 2021; Article ID7439148,7pageshttps://doi.org/10.1155/2021/7439148
- 24) Olaopa MA, Ai T, Chao B, Xiao X, Vatta M, Habecker BA: Phosphorylation of Lamin-A/C at Serine-22 Modulates Nav1.5 Function. Physiol Rep. 2021; 9: e15121
- 25) Jordan E, Peterson L, Ai T, Asatryan B, Bronicki L, Brown E, Celeghin R, Edwards M, Fan J, Ingles J, James CA, Jarinova O, Johnson R, Judge DP, Lahrouchi N, Lekanne Deprez RH, Lumbers RT, Mazzarotto F, Medeiros Domingo A, Miller RL, Morales A, Murray B, Peters S, Pilichou K, Protonotarios A, Semsarian C,

Shah P, Syrris P, Thaxton C, van Tintelen JP, Walsh R, Wang J, Ware J, Hershberger RE: An Evidencebased Assessment of Genes in Dilated Cardiomyopathy. Circulation, 2021; 144: 7–19.

- 26) Hori A, Ishida F, Nakazawa H, Yamaura M, Morita S, Uehara T, Honda T, Hidaka H: Serum sphingomyelin species profile is altered in hematologic malignancies. Clin Chim Acta, 2021; 514: 29–33.
- 27) Mori S, Hori A, Turker I, Inaji M, Bello-Pardo E, Miida T, Otomo Y, Ai T: Abnormal Cardiac Repolarization After Seizure Episodes in Structural Brain Diseases: Cardiac Manifestation of Electrical Remodeling in the Brain? J Am Heart Assoc, 2021; 10: e019778.
- 28) Sato K, Matsumoto I, Suzuki K, Tamura A, Shiraishi A, Kiyonari H, Kasamatsu J, Yamamoto H, Miyasaka T, Tanno D, Miyahara A, Zong T, Kagesawa T, Oniyama A, Kawamura K, Kitai Y, Umeki A, Kanno E, Tanno H, Ishii K, Tsukita S, Kawakami K: equal first contribution. Deficiency of lung-specific claudin-18 leads to aggravated infection with Cryptococcus deneoformans through dysregulation of the microenvironment in lungs. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 21110.
- 29) Shimano S, Ohkawa R, Nambu M, Sasaoka M, Yamazaki A, Fujii Y, Horiuchi Y, Lai SJ, Kameda T, Ichimura N, Fujita K, Tohda S, Tozuka M: Marked Changes in Serum Amyloid A Distribution and High-Density Lipoprotein Structure during Acute Inflammation. Biomed Res Int, 2021; 2021: 9241259.
- 30) Yamazaki A, Ohkawa R, Yamagata Y, Horiuchi Y, Lai SJ, Kameda T, Ichimura N, Tohda S, Tozuka M: Apolipoprotein C-II and C-III preferably transfer to both high-density lipoprotein (HDL) 2 and the larger HDL3 from very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL). Biol Chem, 2021; 402: 439-449.
- 31) Kameda T, Horiuchi Y, Shimano S, Yano K, Lai SJ, Ichimura N, Tohda S, Kurihara Y, Tozuka M, Ohkawa R: Effect of myeloperoxidase oxidation and N-homocysteinylation of high-density lipoprotein on endothelial repair function. Biol Chem, 2021; 403: 265–277. (Reviews)
  - Kuroda M, Bujo H, Yokote K, Murano T, Yamaguchi T, Ogura M, Ikewaki K, Koseki M, Takeuchi Y, Nakatsuka A, Hori M, Matsuki K, Miida T, Yokoyama S, Wada J, Harada-Shiba M: Current status of familial lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) deficiency in Japan. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2021; 28: 679–691.
  - 2) Koyama S, Sekijima Y, Ogura M, Hori M, Matsuki K, Miida T, Harada-Shiba M: Cerebrotendinous xanthomatosis: molecular pathogenesis, clinical spectrum, diagnosis, and disease-modifying treatments. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2021; 28: 905–925.
  - 3) Damrongpokkaphan J, Misawa S, Chonan M, Tabe Y, Ogawa T, Chantrat A, Hirayama S, Miida T, Ogawa H, Ikeda S: Identification of fungi by conventional microscopy combined with novel MALDI-TOF MS mass spectrometry. Juntendo Med J, 2021; 67: 181-

195.

4) Tabe Y, Konopleva M: Break the lifeline of AML cells. Blood, 2021; 137: 3465–3467.

#### Human Pathology

- (Original Articles)
  - Akazawa Y, Ueyama H, Tsuyama S, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto K, Hashimoto T, Tomita N, Kajiyama Y, Kato M, Yao T, Nagahara A: Endoscopic and Clinicopathological Features of Superficial Non-Ampullary Duodenal Tumor Based on the Mucin Phenotypes. Digestion, 2021; 102: 663–670.
  - 2) Fujihira H, Takakura D, Matsuda A, Abe M, Miyazaki M, Nakagawa T, Kajino K, Denda-Nagai K, Noji M, Hino O, Irimura T: Bisecting-GlcNAc on Asn388 is characteristic to ERC/mesothelin expressed on epithelioid mesothelioma cells. J Biochem, 2021; 170: 317–326.
  - 3) Hasegawa N, Kohsaka S, Kurokawa K, Shinno Y, Takeda Nakamura I, Ueno T, Kojima S, Kawazu M, Suehara Y, Ishijima M, Goto Y, Kojima Y, Yonemori K, Hayashi T, Saito T, Shukuya T, Takahashi F, Takahashi K, Mano H: Highly sensitive fusion detection using plasma cell-free RNA in non-small-cell lung cancers. Cancer Sci, 2021; 112: 4393-4403. doi: 10.1111/cas.15084.
  - 4) Ikarashi D, Okimoto T, Shukuya T, Onagi H, Hayashi T, Sinicropi-Yao SL, Amann JM, Nakatsura T, Kitano S, Carbone DP: Comparison of Tumor Microenvironments Between Primary Tumors and Brain Metastases in Patients With NSCLC. JTO Clin Res Rep, 2021; 2: 100230. doi: 10.1016/j.jtocrr.2021.100230. PMID: 34647108; PMCID: PMC8501504.
  - 5) Ishiyama S, Kissel C, Guo X, Howard A, Saeki H, Ito T, Sysa-Shah P, Orita H, Sakamoto K, Gabrielson K: A Syngeneic Orthotopic Osteosarcoma Sprague Dawley Rat Model with Amputation to Control Metastasis Rate. J Vis Exp, 2021. doi: 10.3791/62139.
  - 6) Izu A, Sugitani M, Kinukawa N, Matsumura H, Ogawa M, Moriyama M, Yamazaki S, Takayama T, Hano H, Yao T, Kanda H, Suzuki K, Hayashi S, Ariizumi S, Yamamoto M, Morishita Y, Matsumoto K, Nakamura N, Nakano M: Hepatocellular adenoma, approximately half and predominantly inflammatory subtype, in 38 Japanese patients with several differences in age, gender, and clinical background factors from Western populations. Hepatol Res, 2021; 51: 336–342.
  - 7) Kishikawa S, Hayashi T, Saito T, Takamochi K, Kohsaka S, Sano K, Sasahara N, Sasa K, Kurihara T, Hara K, Suehara Y, Takahashi F, Suzuki K, Yao T: Diffuse expression of MUC6 defines a distinct clinicopathological subset of pulmonary invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma. Mod Pathol, 2021; 34: 786–797.
  - 8) Komine R, Kojima M, Ishi G, Kudo M, Sugimoto M, Kobayashi S, Takahashi S, Konishi M, Kobayashi T,

Akimoto T, Murakami A, Sasaki M, Tanaka M, Matsuzaki A, Ohike N, Uchida K, Sugiyama T, Hirabayashi K, Tajiri T, Ishida K, Kai K, Omori Y, Notohara K, Yamaguchi H, Matsuda Y, Naito Y, Fukumura Y, Hamada Y, Mihara Y, Masugi Y, Gotohda N, Harada K, Fukushima N, Furukawa T: Recognition and pathological features of periampullary region adenocarcinoma with an indeterminable origin. Cancer Med, 2021; 10: 3499–3510. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3809.

- 9) Matsumoto K, Konuma H, Ueyama H, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Ueyama M, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Asaoka D, Hojo M, Yao T, Nagahara A: Multibending scope use for reduction of perforation risks in endoscopic submucosal dissection. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol, 2021; 30: 72–80.
- 10) Mizutani N, Abe M, Kajino K, Matsuoka S: A new CD10 antibody inhibits the growth of malignant mesothelioma. Monoclon Antib Immunodiagn Immunother, 2021; 40: 21–27.
- 11) Murakami T, Sakamoto N, Fukushima H, Shibuya T, Yao T, Nagahara A: Usefulness of the Japan narrowband imaging expert team classification system for the diagnosis of sessile serrated lesion with dysplasia/ carcinoma. Surg Endosc, 2021; 35: 4528-4538.
- 12) Nagano M, Kohsaka S, Hayashi T, Ueno T, Kojima S, Shinozaki-Ushiku A, Morita S, Tsuda M, Tanaka S, Shinohara T, Omori Y, Sugaya F, Kato H, Narita Y, Nakajima J, Suzuki K, Takamochi K, Mano H: Comprehensive molecular profiling of pulmonary pleomorphic carcinoma. NPJ Precis Oncol, 2021; 5: 57. doi: 10. 1038/s41698-021-00201-3.
- 13) Naito Y, Tsuneki M, Fukushima N, Koga Y, Higashi M, Notohara K, Aishima S, Ohike N, Tajiri T, Yamaguchi H, Fukumura Y, Kojima M, Hirabayashi K, Hamada Y, Norose T, Kai K, Omori Y, Sukeda A, Noguchi H, Uchino K, Itakura J, Okabe Y, Yamada Y, Akiba J, Kanavati F, Oda Y, Furukawa T, Yano H: A deep learning model to detect pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma on endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle biopsy. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 8454. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87748-0.
- 14) Nakanuma Y, Uesaka K, Okamura Y, Terada T, Fukumura Y, Kakuda Y, Sugino T, Sato Y, Taek JK, Park YN: Reappraisal of pathological features of intraductal papillary neoplasm of bile duct with respect to the type 1 and 2 subclassifications. Hum Pathol, 2021; 111: 21–35. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2021.01.002.
- 15) Okamoto S, Ebana H, Kurihara M, Mitani K, Kobayashi E, Hayashi T, Sekimoto Y, Nishino K, Otsuji M, Kuma-saka T, Takahashi K, Seyama K: Folliculin haploinsufficiency causes cellular dysfunction of pleural meso-thelial cells. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 10814. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90184-9.
- 16) Okita K, Hara Y, Okura H, Hayashi H, Sasaki Y, Masuko S, Kitadai E, Masuko K, Yoshimoto S, Hayashi N, Sugiura R, Endo Y, Okazaki S, Arai S, Yoshioka T,

Matsumoto T, Makino Y, Komiyama H, Sakamoto K, Masuko T: Antitumor effects of novel mAbs against cationic amino acid transporter 1 (CAT1) on human CRC with ampilified CAT1 gene. Cancer Sci, 2021; 112: 563–574.

- 17) Ozawa N, Yokobori T, Osone K, Katayama C, Suga K, Komine C, Shibasaki Y, Shiraishi T, Okada T, Kato R, Ogawa H, Sano A, Sakai M, Sohda M, Ojima H, Miyazaki T, Motegi Y, Ide M, Yao T, Kuwano H, Shirabe K, Saeki H: PD-L1 upregulation is associated with activation of the DNA double-strand break repair pathway in patients with colitic cancer. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 13077.
- \* 18) Ozu H, Suzuki M, Takemasa N, Masataka Y, Miyazaki H, Okada S, Hashizume A, Yamashiro Y, Tomita S, Arakawa A, Kyogoku S, Kuwatsuru R: Magnetic Resonance Imaging Findings of Uterine Adenosarcoma. Jpn J Diagn Imaging, 2021; 39: 93-103.
  - 19) Sakaguchi A, Horimoto Y, Onagi H, Ikarashi D, Nakayama T, Nakatsura T, Shimizu H, Kojima K, Yao T, Matsumoto T, Ogura K, Kitano S: Plasma cell infiltration and treatment effects in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotheratpy. Brast Cancer Res, 2021; 23: 99. doi: 10.1186/s13058-021-01477-w.
  - 20) Sano K, Hayashi T, Suehara Y, Hosoya M, Takamochi K, Kohsaka S, Kishikawa S, Kishi M, Saito S, Takahashi F, Kaneko K, Suzuki K, Yao T, Ishijima M, Saito T: Transcription start site-level expression of thyroid transcription factor 1 isoforms in lung adenocarcinoma and its clinicopathological significance. J Pathol Clin Res, 2021; 7: 361–374.
- \* 21) Sekimoto Y, Suzuki K, Okura M, Hayashi T, Ebana H, Kumasaka T, Mitani K, Nishino K, Okamoto S, Kobayashi E, Takahashi K, Seyama K: Uncommon radiologic computed tomography appearances of the chest in patients with lymphangioleiomyomatosis. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 7170. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85999-5.
- \* 22) Shimada Y, Naito T, Hayashi T, Saito T, Suehara Y, Kakinuma C, Nozaki Y, Takagi H, Yao T: Establishment of a patient-derived xenograft mouse model of pleomorphic leiomyosarcoma. J Toxicol Pathol, 2021; 34: 89–93. doi: 10.1293/tox.2020-0061.
  - 23) Suzuki Y, Fukumura Y, Asahina M, Fujimaki M, Ohba S, Matsumoto F, Kurahayashi I, Yao T, Ikeda K: EGFR Protein Expression Relates with Tumor Histology, Methylation Status of EGFR and HPV16 E6 Viral Load in Oropharyngeal Carcinoma. Head Neck Pathol, 2021; 15: 743–756. doi: 10.1007/s12105–020–01261–w.
  - 24) Takamochi K, Hara K, Hayashi T, Kohsaka S, Takahashi F, Suehara Y, Suzuki K: Programmed death-ligand 1 expression and its associations with clinicopathological features, prognosis, and driver oncogene alterations in surgically resected lung adenocarcinoma. Lung Cancer, 2021; 161: 163–170. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.09.011. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34600407.

- \* 25) Takeda-Nakamura I, Ikegami M, Hasegawa N, Hayashi T, Ueno T, Kawazu M, Yagishita S, Goto Y, Shinno Y, Kojima Y, Takamochi K, Takahashi F, Takahashi K, Mano H, Kohsaka S: Development of an optimal protocol for molecular profiling of tumor cells in pleural effusions at single-cell level. Cancer Sci, 2021; 112: 2006– 2019. doi: 10.1111/cas.14821.
  - 26) Tomomasa R, Arai Y, Kawabata-Iwakawa R, Fukuoka K, Nakano Y, Hama N, Nakata S, Suzuki N, Ishi Y, Tanaka S, Takahashi JA, Yuba Y, Shiota M, Natsume A, Kurimoto M, Shiba Y, Aoki M, Nabeshima K, Enomoto T, Inoue T, Fujimura J, Kondo A, Yao T, Okura N, Hirose T, Sasaki A, Nishiyama M, Ichimura K, Shibata T, Hirato J, Yokoo H, Nobusawa S: Ependymoma-like tumor with mesenchymal differentiation harboring C11orf95-NCOA1/2 or -RELA fusion: A hitherto unclassified tumor related to ependymoma. Brain Pathol, 2021; 31: e12943.
- \* 27) Tsuji S, Doyama H, Tsuyama S, Dejima A, Nakashima T, Wakita S, Kito Y, Nakanishi H, Yoshida N, Katayanagi K, Minato H, Yao T, Yao K: Does previous biopsy lead to cancer overdiagnosis of superficial non-ampullary duodenal epithelial tumors? Endosc Int Open, 2021; 9: E58–E65.
  - 28) Tsuyama S, Kohsaka S, Hayashi T, Suehara Y, Hashimoto T, Kajiyama Y, Tsurumaru M, Ueno T, Mano H, Yao T, Saito T: Comprehensive clinicopathological and molecular analysis of primary malignant melanoma of the oesophagus. Histopathology, 2021; 78: 240-251.
  - 29) Ueyama H, Yao T, Akazawa Y, Hayashi T, Kurahara K, Oshiro Y, Yamada M, Oda I, Fujioka S, Kusumoto C, Fukuda M, Uchita K, Kadota T, Oono Y, Okamoto K, Murakami K, Matsuo Y, Kato M, Maehata T, Yahagi N, Yasuhara Y, Yada T, Uraushihara K, Yamane T, Matsuo T, Ito M, Maruyama Y, Osako A, Ono S, Kato M, Yagi K, Hashimoto T, Tomita N, Tsuyama S, Saito T, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto K, Watanabe S, Uemura N, Chiba T, Nagahara A: Gastric epithelial neoplasm of fundic-gland mucosa lineage: proposal for a new classification in association with gastric adenocarcinoma of fundic-gland type. J Gastroenterol, 2021: 56: 814-828. doi: 10.1007/s00535-021-01813-z. Epub ahead of print.
  - 30) Ueyama H, Yatagai N, Ikeda A, Akazawa Y, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Matsumoto K, Asaoka D, Hojo M, Yao T, Nagahara A: Dynamic diagnosis of early gastric cancer with microvascular blood flow rate using magnifying endoscopy (with video): A pilot study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2021; 36: 1927–1934.
  - 31) Yamaguchi T, Murata K, Shiota T, Takeyama H, Noura S, Sakamoto K, Suto T, Takii Y, Nagasaki T, Takeda T, Fujii M, Kagawa Y, Mizushima T, Ohno Y, Yao T, Kishimoto M, Sugihara K: Study Group of Appendiceal Neoplasms in the JSCCR. Clinicopatho-

logical Characteristics of Low-Grade Appendiceal Mucinous Neoplasm. Dig Surg, 2021; 38: 222–229.

- \* 32) Yamashiro Y, Kurihara T, Hayashi T, Suehara Y, Yao T, Kato S, Saito T: NTRK fusion in Japanese colorectal adenocarcinomas. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 5635. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-021-85075-y.
  - 33) Yanai Y, Saito T, Hayashi T, Akazawa Y, Yatagai N, Tsuyama S, Tomita S, Hirai S, Ogura K, Matsumoto T, Wada R, Yao T: Molecular and clinicopathological features of appendiceal mucinous neoplasms. Virchows Arch, 2021; 478: 413–426.
  - 34) Yatagai N, Ueyama H, Ikemura M, Uchida R, Utsunomiya H, Abe D, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Akazawa Y, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Matsumoto K, Asaoka D, Hojo M, Tsuyama S, Hayashi T, Yao T, Nagahara A: Clinicopathological and Endoscopic Features of Raspberry–Shaped Gastric Cancer in Helicobacter pylori–Uninfected Patients. Digestion, 2021; 102: 41–48.
- 35) Yokohira M, Oshima M, Yamakawa K, Ye J, Nakano-Narusawa Y, Haba R, Fukumura Y, Hirabayashi K, Yamaguchi H, Kojima M, Okano K, Suzuki Y, Matsuda Y: Adequate tissue sampling for the assessment of pathological tumor regression in pancreatic cancer. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 6586. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-86152-y. (Reviews)
  - Saeki H, Ito T, Ishiyama S, Guo X, Sysa-Shah P, Orita H, Sato K, Hino O, Hayakawaw T, Gabrielson E, Gabrielson K: Animal Models of Prenatal Stress. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2021; 67: 124-130.

 $\langle Books \rangle$ 

 Hino O, Abe M, Kojima M, Kajino K: Biomarkers for Mesothelioma Screening: How Can We Identify Subjects Developing Mesothelioma in Asbestos-Exposed High-Risk Group? Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma. Respiratory Disease Series: Diagnostic Tools and Disease Managements. Springer, 2021; Chapter 5: 55-63.

## Instructions to Authors

Aims and Scope Manuscript Types Journal & Ethics Policies Peer Review Process Copyright, Open Access and Fees Manuscript Submission Manuscript Preparation Accepted Manuscripts Contact

## Aims and Scope

Juntendo Medical Journal (JMJ) is the official peer-reviewed journal of the Juntendo Medical Society. JMJ aims to introduce achievements in the fields of basic and clinical medicine, sportology (a novel scientific field integrating sports and medicine), nursing, preventive medicine, and public health. JMJ is dedicated to the international exchange of knowledge to understand, treat and control diseases. The journal provides a platform for researchers to introduce, discuss and exchange novel achievements in biomedical science. JMJ invites original articles, review articles, case reports and other articles containing new insights into any aspect of biomedical sciences and health sciences that are not published or being considered for publication elsewhere. The journal, which is freely available online at J-STAGE (https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/browse/jmj), publishes articles continuously online and collates them into issues six times per year.

## Manuscript Types

The journal welcomes six manuscript types, all of which are subject to peer review.

Authors should ensure that their manuscripts, including figures and tables, do not exceed the maximum number of printed pages:

- Original articles should not exceed 10 printed pages
- · Reviews should not exceed 12 printed pages
- · Case reports should not exceed 4 printed pages
- Study protocols should not exceed 10 printed pages
- Perspectives should not exceed 4 printed pages
- · Abstracts should not exceed 4 printed pages

The total number of pages can be estimated as: text, 600 words per page; References, 20 per page; Figures, four  $7 \times 5$  cm figures per page.

## **Original Articles**

Articles describing original research presented in the standard format of Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion and References.

#### Reviews

Reviews cover recent discoveries or topics of current interest.

Reviews are occasionally commissioned by the Editor-in-Chief, and the journal welcomes proposals from interested authors. Case Reports

Articles reporting on the following topics: previously unreported or unusual side effects or adverse interactions involving medications, unexpected or unusual presentations of a disease, new associations or variations in disease processes, presentations, diagnoses and/or management of new and emerging diseases, an unexpected association between diseases or symptoms, or an unexpected event in the course of observing or treating a patient.

#### Study Protocols

Articles describing study objectives, design, methods, assessment types, collection schedules, or statistical considerations for analyzing data that help to improve the standard of medical research.

#### Perspectives

Perspective articles are opinion pieces. They must present objective facts and include references, but are not entirely bound to the scientific rigor demanded of original articles and review articles. Examples would include advocacy for medical- or sports-related policies, reflections on the practice of medicine, and comparisons of medical systems or medical education regimes between Japan and other countries.

#### Abstracts

Articles describing short reports that present significant discoveries, methods, and resources and have the potential for significant and immediate impact on the scientific community. These manuscripts communicate findings that editors believe will be interesting to many researchers, and that will likely stimulate further research in the field.

## Journal & Ethics Policies

JMJ upholds the highest standards in scholarly publishing. The journal supports and adheres to the industry guidelines and best practices promoted by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) (https://www.icmje. org/) and follow the procedures outlined by Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (https://publicationethics.org/) when dealing with allegations of misconduct.

Before submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors must ensure that they have read and complied with the journal's policies. The journal reserves the right to reject without review, or retract, any manuscript that the Editor believes may not comply with these policies.

The responsibilities of the journal's authors, editors, reviewers and publisher regarding research and publication ethics are described in full below.

Corresponding authors must ensure attest that the submitted

experimental results are unpublished and not under consideration for publication elsewhere.

Corresponding authors must inform the editors if any related manuscripts are under consideration, in press or published elsewhere. The availability of a manuscript on a publicly accessible preprint server does not constitute prior publication (see 'Preprints').

If authors choose to submit their manuscript elsewhere before a final decision has been made on its suitability for publication in JMJ, the corresponding author should first withdraw it from the journal.

#### Submission

JMJ welcomes manuscript submissions from authors based anywhere in the world.

Submission of a manuscript to the journal implies that all authors: have approved it, warrant it is factual, have agreed to its submission, and have the right to publish it.

### Originality

Submission to the journal implies that the manuscript is original work. The journal may use Crossref's Similarity Check (https://www.crossref.org/services/similarity-check/) plagiarism software to screen manuscripts for unoriginal content. By submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors agree to this screening. Any manuscript with an unacceptable level of unoriginal material may be rejected or retracted at the Editors' discretion.

#### Preprints

To support the wide dissemination of research, the journal encourages authors to post their research manuscripts on community-recognized preprint servers, either before or alongside submission to the journal. This policy applies only to the original version of a manuscript that describes primary research. Any version of a manuscript that has been revised in response to reviewers' comments, accepted for publication or published in the journal should not be posted on a preprint server. Instead, forward links to the published manuscript may be posted on the preprint server. Authors should retain copyright in their work when posting to a preprint server.

#### Scooping

When assessing the novelty of a manuscript submitted to the journal, the editors will not be influenced by other manuscripts that are posted on community-recognized preprint servers after the date of submission to JMJ (or after the date of posting on a preprint server, if the manuscript is submitted to the journal within 4 months).

#### Authorship

Submission to the journal implies that all authors have seen and approved the author list. Changes to the author list after manuscript submission – such as the insertion or removal of author names, or a rearrangement of author order – must be approved by all authors and the editor.

Authors are encouraged to consider the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) Recommendations on 'Defining the Role of Authors and Contributors (https://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/rolesand-responsibilities/defining-the-role-of-authors-and-contributors.html)'. The ICMJE recommends that authorship is based on four criteria: making a substantial contribution to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data for the work; drafting the manuscript or reviewing it critically for important intellectual content; approving the final version of the manuscript for publication; and agreeing to be held accountable for all aspects of the work. Any contributor who has met all four criteria should be an author on the manuscript. Contributors who do not meet all four criteria should not be authors of the manuscript but may be included in the Acknowledgements section instead.

## Use of Artificial Intelligence (AI)-Assisted Tools/ Technologies

In consonance with the COPE's position statement (https:// publicationethics.org/cope-position-statements/ai-author), WAME's recommendations (https://wame.org/page3.php?id= 106), and ICMJE's Recommendation (https://www.icmje. org/recommendations/), JMJ does not allow artificial intelligence (AI)-assisted tools/technologies such as Large Language Models (LLMs), chatbots, or image creators to be listed as author or co-author. As described in the ICMJE, those tools cannot be responsible for the accuracy, integrity, and originality of the work, thus they do not meet the ICMJE' criteria for authorship (https://www.icmje.org/ recommendations/browse/roles-and-responsibilities/defining-the-role-of-authors-and-contributors.html) listed above. The authors (humans) are fully responsible for any materials of the submitted work, including the use of AI-assisted tools or technologies. Authors should carefully review and edit the result because AI can generate authoritativesounding output that can be incorrect, incomplete, or biased. Authors should not list AI and AI-assisted technologies as an author or co-author, nor cite AI as an author. Authors (humans) are also responsible for plagiarism including in text and AI-produced images.

Authors must disclose, upon submission and in the Methods (or similar section), any use of AI-assisted tools or technologies in the writing of a manuscript, production of images or graphical elements of the paper, or in the collection and analysis of data.

#### Image integrity

Authors may digitally manipulate or process images, but only if the adjustments are kept to a minimum, are applied to the entire image, meet community standards, and are clearly described in the manuscript. All images in a manuscript must accurately reflect the original data on which they are based. Authors must not move, remove, add or enhance individual parts of an image. The editors reserve the right to request original, unprocessed images from the authors. Failure to provide requested images may result in a manuscript being rejected or retracted.

#### Reproducing copyrighted material

If a manuscript includes material that is not under the authors' own copyright, the authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder (s) to reproduce it.

If a manuscript includes previously published material, the authors must obtain permission from the copyright owners and the publisher of the original work to reproduce it. The authors must cite the original work in their manuscript.

Copies of all reproduction permissions must be included with the manuscript when it is first submitted.

#### Availability of data and materials

Authors must disclose the source of publicly available data and materials, such as public repositories or commercial manufacturers, by including accession numbers or company details in their manuscript, as appropriate.

Authors may make their own data and materials available by linking from their manuscript to relevant community-recognized public databases or digital repositories. All data sets must be made available in full to the editors and reviewers during the peer review process, and must be made publicly available by the date of publication. Authors commit to preserving their data sets for at least three years from the date of publication in the journal.

The journal encourages authors to grant reasonable requests from colleagues to share any data, materials and experimental protocols described in their manuscript.

Also JMJ encourages authors to disclose any data which is the source of their manuscript, in J-STAGE Data (https:// jstagedata.jst.go.jp/), a data repository developed and managed by the Japan Science and Technology Agency (JST). When publishing available data and materials from J-STAGE Data, authors must submit them to the Editorial Committee for peer review, and all research data should be distributed as open under the Creative Commons licensing.

#### Animal/human experimentation

Authors of manuscripts describing experiments involving humans or materials derived from humans must demonstrate that the work was carried out in accordance with the principles embodied in the World Medical Association's (WMA) Declaration of Helsinki (https://www.wma.net/ policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/), its revisions, and any guidelines approved by the authors' institutions. For Japanese research institutions, the applicable statute is the Ministry of the Environment's notification 'Criteria for the Care and Keeping of Laboratory Animals and Alleviation of their Suffering'. Where relevant, the authors must include a statement in their manuscript that describes the procedures for obtaining informed consent from participants regarding participation in the research and publication of the research.

Authors should respect the privacy of patients and their families. Identifying details should be omitted if they are not essential, but patient data should never be altered or falsified in an attempt to attain anonymity. Complete anonymity is difficult to achieve, and informed consent should be obtained if there is any doubt.

Authors of manuscripts describing experiments involving animals or materials derived from animals must demonstrate that the work was carried out in accordance with the guidelines approved by the authors' institution(s), and this must be stated within the manuscript.

#### Clinical trial registration

A clinical trial is defined as any research project that prospectively assigns human participants to intervention or comparison groups to study the cause-and-effect relationship between an intervention and a health outcome. The journal adheres to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) policy on Clinical Trials Registration (https://www.icmje.org/about-icmje/faqs/clinical-trialsregistration/), which recommends that all clinical trials are registered in a public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment as a condition of consideration for publication. Manuscripts describing clinical trials must include the registration number of the trial and the name of the trial registry.

The following items are to be stated in the Methods section: how informed consent was obtained from the study participants (i.e., oral or written), the approval number from the institutional review board or ethics committee, a registration ID for the trial, and the trial's start and end dates.

Various reporting guidelines have been developed for different study designs. Authors are encouraged to follow published standard reporting guidelines for the study discipline.

- CONSORT (http://www.consort-statement.org/) for randomized clinical trials
- CARE (https://www.care-statement.org/) for case reports
- STROBE (https://www.strobe-statement.org/) for observational studies
- PRISMA (http://prisma-statement.org/) for systematic reviews and meta-analyses
- STARD (https://www.equator-network.org/reportingguidelines/stard/) for studies of diagnostic accuracy

• SAGER (https://www.equator-network.org/reportingguidelines/sager-guidelines/) for reporting of sex and gender information

Please access https://www.equator-network.org/ to find the guideline that is appropriate for your study.

It is extremely important that when you complete any Reporting Guideline checklist that you consider amending your manuscript to ensure your article addresses all relevant reporting criteria issues delineated in the appropriate reporting checklist. The purpose of a reporting guideline is to guide you in improving the reporting standard of your manuscript. The objective is not to solely complete the reporting checklist, but to use the checklist itself in the writing of your manuscript.

Taking the time to ensure your manuscript meets these basic reporting needs will greatly improve your manuscript, while also potentially enhancing its chances for eventual publication.

#### Reporting guidelines

The journal requires authors to follow the EQUATOR Network's Reporting Guidelines (https://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/) for health research. Study types include, but are not limited to, randomized trials, observational studies, systematic reviews, case reports, qualitative research, diagnostic and prognostic studies, economic evaluations, animal pre-clinical studies and study protocols.

#### Author competing interests and conflicts of interest

In the interests of transparency, the journal requires all authors to declare any competing or conflicts of interest in relation to their submitted manuscript. A conflict of interest exists when there are actual, perceived or potential circumstances that could influence an author's ability to conduct or report research impartially. Potential conflicts include (but are not limited to) competing commer- cial or financial interests, commercial affiliations, consulting roles, or ownership of stock or equity. A Conflicts of Interest statement must be includes in the manuscript (see the 'Manuscript Preparation' section below for more details).

Authors should list all funding sources for their work in the Funding section of their manuscript.

## Confidentiality

The journal maintains the confidentiality of all unpublished manuscripts. By submitting their manuscript to the journal, the authors warrant that they will keep all correspondence about their manuscript (from the Editorial Office, editors and reviewers) strictly confidential.

#### Self-archiving (Green Open Access) policy

Self-archiving, also known as Green Open Access, enables

authors to deposit a copy of their manuscript in an online repository. JMJ encourages authors of original research manuscripts to upload their article to an institutional or public repository immediately after publication in the journal.

#### Long-term digital archiving

J-STAGE preserves its full digital library, including JMJ, with Portico in a dark archive (see https://www.portico. org/publishers/jstage/). In the event that the material becomes unavailable at J-STAGE, it will be released and made available by Portico.

## Peer Review Process

#### Editorial and peer review process

JMJ undertakes single-anonymized peer review. When a manuscript is submitted to the journal, it is assigned to the Editor-in-Chief, who performs initial screening. Manuscripts that do not fit the journal's scope or are not deemed suitable for publication are rejected without review. For peer reviewing, the manuscripts that pass through the initial screening are assigned to two external reviewers by the Editor-in- Chief. Reviewers are selected based on their expertise, reputation and previous experience as peer reviewers. The deadline for submission of the reviewers' reports is basically 3 weeks.

Upon receipt of the two reviewers' reports, the Editor-in-Chief makes the first decision on the manuscript. If the decision is to request revision of the manuscript, authors are requested to re-submit their revised manuscript within one to six months, depending on the comments of the reviewers. Revised manuscripts submitted after this deadline may be treated as new submissions. The Editor-in- Chief may send the revised manuscripts to peer reviewers for their feedback or may use his or her own judgment to assess how closely the authors have followed the Editor-in-Chief's and the reviewers' comments on the original manuscript. The Editor-in-Chief is responsible for making the final decision on each manuscript.

If a manuscript satisfies the journal's requirements and represents a significant contribution to the published literature, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend acceptance for publication in JMJ. If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance, but it has a high probability of acceptance after minor or major revision, the Editor-in-Chief may ask the authors to revise it accordingly. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within one to six months, depending on the comments of the reviewers; otherwise they will be treated as new submissions. If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance or revision, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend rejection.

#### Reviewer selection, timing and suggestions

Reviewers are selected without regard to geography and need not belong to the journal's Editorial Board. Reviewers are selected based on their expertise in the field, reputation, recommendation by others, and/or previous experience as peer reviewers for the journal.

Reviewers are invited within 2 weeks of an article being submitted. Reviewers are asked to review the manuscript based on the Acceptance criteria, described below, and submit their first review reports within 3 weeks of accepting the invitation to review. Reviewers who anticipate any delays should inform the Editorial Office as soon as possible. When submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors may suggest reviewers that they would like included in the peer review process. The Editor may consider these suggestions but is under no obligation to follow them. The selection, invitation and assignment of peer reviewers is at the Editor's sole discretion.

### **Reviewer reports**

It is the journal's policy to transmit reviewers' comments to the authors in their original form. However, the journal reserves the right to edit reviewers' comments, without consulting the reviewers, if they contain offensive language, confidential information or recommendations for publication.

#### Acceptance criteria

If a manuscript satisfies the journal's requirements and represents a valuable contribution to the published literature, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend the acceptance for publication in JMJ. The questions addressed when considering a manuscript for publication in JMJ are as follows: Relevance:

• Is the work within the journal's Aims and Scope? Reproducibility:

• Do authors show sufficient information to reproduce their experiments or data?

Written quality:

• Is the manuscript clearly presented?

Title:

• Does the Title accurately reflect the contents of the manuscript?

Abstract:

• Does the Abstract adequately describe the background or context of the work, the objectives of the research project and the methods used?

Introduction:

• Does the Introduction provide adequate background and context for the work?

Materials and Methods:

- Have the authors described the methods in enough detail to allow others to replicate them?
- Have the authors adhered to established codes of practice and ethics if human/animal experimentation has

been undertaken?

• Did the authors use appropriate methods?

Results:

• Have the authors explained their results clearly and adequately?

Discussion:

- Is the Discussion supported by the results?
- Have the authors considered any alternative explanations for their results?
- Have the authors made unsupported claims or inappropriate speculations?

General:

- Are all cited references relevant and necessary?
- Has any relevant literature been omitted?
- Have the authors cited the data described in the manuscript adequately?
- Is each table and figure necessary?
- Are any potentially useful figures or tables missing?
- Are the tables and figures complete and interpretable?
- Is the manuscript clearly written in English?
- Have the authors adhered to established codes of publication ethics?
- Are there any errors in fact, methodology, or analyses?
- Has the manuscript been published previously, in part or in whole, in any language?

If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance or revision, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend rejection.

### Editorial independence

As the journal owner, the Juntendo Medical Society (JMS) has granted the journal's Editorial Board complete and sole responsibility for all editorial decisions. The JMS will not become involved in editorial decisions, except in cases of a fundamental breakdown of process.

Editorial decisions are based only on a manuscript's scientific merit and are kept completely separate from the journal's other interests. The authors' ability to pay any publication charges has no bearing on whether a manuscript is accepted for publication in the journal.

### Appeals

Authors who believe that an editorial decision has been made in error may lodge an appeal with the Editorial Office. Appeals are only considered if the authors provide detailed evidence of a misunderstanding or mistake by a reviewer or editor. Appeals are considered carefully by the Editor-in-Chief, whose decision is final. The guidelines of the Committee on Publication Ethics (https://publicationethics.org/appeals) (COPE) are followed where and when relevant.

## Confidentiality in peer review

The journal maintains the confidentiality of all unpublished manuscripts. Editors will not:

- 1. disclose a reviewer's identity unless the reviewer makes a reasonable request for such disclosure
- discuss the manuscript or its contents with anyone not directly involved with the manuscript or its peer review
- 3. use any data or information from the manuscript in their own work or publications
- 4. use information obtained from the peer review process to provide an advantage to themselves or anyone else, or to disadvantage any individual or organization.

#### Conflicts of interest in peer review

A conflict of interest exists when there are actual, perceived or potential circumstances that could influence an editor's ability to act impartially when assessing a manuscript. Such circumstances might include having a personal or professional relationship with an author, working on the same topic or in direct competition with an author, having a financial stake in the work or its publication, or having seen previous versions of the manuscript.

Members of the journal's Editorial Board undertake to declare any conflicts of interest when handling manuscripts. An editor who declares a conflict of interest is unassigned from the manuscript in question and is replaced by a new editor.

Editors try to avoid conflicts of interest when inviting reviewers, but it is not always possible to identify potential bias. Reviewers are asked to declare any conflicts of interest to the Editor, who will determine the best course of action.

#### Errata and retractions

The journal recognizes the importance of maintaining the integrity of published literature.

A published article that contains an error may be corrected through the publication of an Erratum. Errata describe errors that significantly affect the scientific integrity of a publication, the reputation of the authors, or the journal itself. Authors who wish to correct a published article should contact the editor who handled their manuscript or the Editorial Office with full details of the error(s) and their requested changes. In cases where co-authors disagree over a correction, the Editor-in-Chief may consult the Editorial Board or external peer reviewers for advice. If a Correction is published, any dissenting authors will be noted in the text. A published article that contains invalid or unreliable results or conclusions, has been published elsewhere, or has infringed codes of conduct (covering research or publication ethics) may be retracted. Individuals who believe that a published article should be retracted are encouraged to contact the journal's Editorial Office with full details of their concerns. The Editor-in-Chief will investigate further and contact the authors of the published article for their response. In cases where co-authors disagree over a retraction, the Editor- in-Chief may consult the Editorial Board or external peer reviewers for advice. If a Retraction is published, any

dissenting authors will be noted in the text.

The decision to publish Errata or Retractions is made at the sole discretion of the Editor-in-Chief.

#### Editors as authors in the journal

Any member of the journal's Editorial Board, including the Editor-in-Chief, who is an author on a submitted manuscript is excluded from the peer review process and from viewing details about their manuscript.

A manuscript authored by an editor of JMJ is subject to the same high standards of peer review and editorial decision making as any manuscript considered by the journal.

#### Responding to potential ethical breaches

The journal will respond to allegations of ethical breaches by following its own policies and, where possible, the guidelines of COPE.

## **Reviewer Confidentiality**

As part of their responsibilities, reviewers agree to maintain the confidentiality of unpublished manuscripts at all times. By accepting the invitation to review a manuscript, reviewers agree not to:

- 1. disclose their role in reviewing the manuscript
- 2. reveal their identity to any of the authors of the manuscript
- 3. discuss the manuscript or its contents with anyone not directly involved in the review process
- 4. involve anyone else in the review (for example, a postdoc or PhD student) without first requesting permission from the Editor
- 5. use any data or information from the manuscript in their own work or publications
- 6. use information obtained from the peer review process to provide an advantage to themselves or anyone else, or to disadvantage any individual or organization.

## Use of Artificial Intelligence (AI)-Assisted Tools/ Technologies

Reviewers are prohibited from uploading the manuscript to software or AI-assisted tools/technologies where the confidentiality is not assured. It is required to disclose to the journal if any AI-assisted tools or technologies are used to facilitate the review. Reviewers should be aware that AI can generate authoritative-sounding output that can be incorrect, incomplete, or biased.

## Copyright, Open Access and Fees

#### Copyright and licensing

JMJ is fully Open Access and uses the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 (Attribution 4.0 International) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). This license allows users to share and adapt an article, even commercially, as long as appropriate credit is given. Authors are required to assign all copyrights in the work to the Society, who then publish the work under the CC BY 4.0 International license.

Some funding bodies require articles funded by them to be published under a specific Creative Commons license. Before submitting your work to the journal, check with the relevant funding bodies to ensure that you comply with any mandates.

#### Article Processing Charge

There are many costs associated with publishing scholarly journals, such as those of managing peer review, copy editing, typesetting and online hosting. To cover these costs in the absence of journal subscriptions, authors (or their representatives) are asked to pay article processing charges (APCs). There is no submission fee.

All articles, with the exception of those requested by the Editorial Board, attract publication expenses which must be borne by the authors. Authors will be notified of the exact sum.

The APC depends on the article type and the total number of typeset pages. The table below indicates how many pages are free of charge for each article type. Each page over this limit attracts a fee of 24,000 JPY/printed page.

	JMS Members	All others
Original articles	The first 5 pages	The first 3 pages
Reviews	The first 5 pages	The first 3 pages
Case reports	The first 2 pages	The first 1 page
Study protocols	The first 5 pages	The first 3 pages
Perspectives	The first 2 pages	The first 1 page
Abstracts	The first 2 pages	The first 1 page

Color printing charges: 30,000 JPY per page

Reprint charges: All reprints will be charged according to the actual printing costs.

#### Waiver policy

Waivers for APCs are provided automatically when the corresponding author is from a "Group A" Research4Life country (https://www.research4life.org/access/eligibility/). In cases of demonstrated financial hardship, the journal will consider a presubmission application for a waiver from any corresponding author to [provide email address of person to contact]. Applications cannot be made after the peer review process has begun.

The ability of an author to pay the APC does not influence editorial decisions. To avoid any possibility of undue influence, editors involved with the decision-making process on submitted manuscripts are not involved in any deliberations on waivers.

### Manuscript Submission

Manuscripts should be submitted online via the Juntendo Medical Journal online submission and peer review page on ScholarOne Manuscripts (https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/ jmj).

Simply log on to ScholarOne Manuscripts and follow the onscreen instructions for all submissions. You will need to register before your first submission to Juntendo Medical Journal. If you have any technical problems or questions related to the electronic submission process, please contact our Editorial Office:

Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office c/o International Medical Information Center 2F Shinanomachi Rengakan, 35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-0016, JAPAN Phone: +81-3-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

#### **Manuscript Preparation**

#### Style

Manuscripts should be prepared in Microsoft Word or other appropriate software using double line spacing throughout, page numbers on the lower right, and with margins of at least 2.5 cm.

### English standards

Manuscripts should be written in clear, grammatically correct English. Authors whose native language is not English are strongly encouraged to have their manuscript checked by a native English speaker or by an editing service prior to submission; a certificate of English editing that accompanies submissions can be useful in many circumstances. If a manuscript is not clear due to poor English, it may be rejected without undergoing peer review.

#### Format

The first page of each manuscript should contain: Title, Authors' full names, Affiliations, Key words, Running Title, and the name and full address (including telephone number, facsimile number, and e-mail address) of the corresponding author. Manuscripts should be divided into the following sections and presented in this order: Introduction; Materials and Methods; Results; Discussion; Acknowledgements; Funding; Authors' contributions; Conflicting interest statement; and References.

Manuscripts should be arranged in the following order: 1. Title page; 2. Abstract and keywords; 3. main text; 4. Acknowledgements, Funding, Author Contributions, Conflict of interest statements; 5. tables together with any accompanying legends; 6. figure legends; 7. other as required. Each of the numbered items should begin on a separate page.

## Title page

The first page should include:

- 1. The title of the manuscript in sentence case. No abbreviations other than gene names or in common use
- 2. Full names of all authors and ORCID ID (https://orcid. org/) if desired
- 3. Affiliations of the authors; use numbers not symbols
- 4. If authors make an equal contribution, indicated with an asterisk (up to 2 authors, including the first author) and a note indicating this under the author names
- 5. Name, full postal address, including street number and name, and e-mail address of the corresponding author (s)
- Key words (no more than five key words). Refer to Medical Subject Headings in MeSH or Index Medicus
- 7. Running title preceded by the first author's name (maximum 120 characters with spaces, including the author's name).

## Title

The title should describe the content of the article briefly but clearly and is important for search purposes by thirdparty services. Do not use the same main title with numbered minor titles, even for a series of papers by the same authors. Do not use abbreviations in the title, except those used generally in related fields.

### Footnotes

Footnotes, if any, should be typed in a separate sheet (the second page of the manuscript). Abbreviations should also be listed on this page.

### Abbreviations

Each abbreviation should be defined in parentheses together with its non-abbreviated term when it first appears in the text (except in the Title and Abstract).

### Units

SI or SI-derived units should be used. More information on SI units is available at the Bureau International des Poids et Mesures (BIPM) website (https://www.bipm.org/en/home).

### Abstract

The second (and, if necessary, the third) page of the manuscript should contain only the abstract (maximum 250 words). The abstract must be fully comprehensible without reference to the text. Abstracts should be divided into sections as follows:

- 1. Objectives
- 2. Materials (or "Design")
- 3. Methods (or "Interventions")
- 4. Results
- 5. Conclusions

## Introduction

The Introduction should provide sufficient background information to allow the reader to understand the purpose of the investigation and its relationship with other research in related fields, although it should not include an extensive review of the literature.

## Materials and Methods

The description of the methods should be brief, but it must include sufficient details to allow the experiments to be repeated. The sources of unusual chemicals, animals, microbial strains or equipment should be described, and the location (city, country) of the company should be provided in parentheses. If hazardous materials or dangerous procedures are used in the experiments and the precautions related to their handling are not widely recognized, it is recommended that the authors provide the necessary details.

## Results

This section includes the results of the experiments. The Results and Discussion sections may be combined if this helps readers to understand and evaluate the study. Tables and figures, including photographs, can be used to present the experimental results (see below). Excessive explanations of the data presented in tables and figures should be avoided.

## Discussion

The Conclusion or Discussion should be concise and should deal with the interpretation of the results. Novel models or hypotheses may be proposed in this section only if they are suggested by the results obtained in the experiments. Do not repeat the description of the experimental results in this section.

### Acknowledgments

Contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in the Acknowledgements section. Examples of those who might be acknowledged include a person who provided purely technical help, or a department chair who provided only general support. If you do not have anyone to acknowledge, please write "Not applicable" in this section.

### Funding

All articles should have a funding acknowledgement statement included in the manuscript in the form of a sentence under a separate heading entitled "Funding" directly after Acknowledgements section, if applicable. The funding agency should be written out in full, followed by the grant number in brackets. Multiple grant numbers should be separated by commas and spaces. Where the research was supported by more than one agency, the different agencies should be separated by semicolon, with "and" before the final funder. If the research is not funded by a specific project grant, please state in the manuscript as follows: "The author(s) received no financial support for the research" or "No funding was received".

#### Author contributions

The individual contributions of authors to the manuscript should be specified in this section after Funding section. Please use initials to refer to each author's contribution in this section, for example: "AU analyzed and interpreted the patient data regarding the hematological disease. KT performed the histological examination of the liver, and was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript."

#### Conflicts of interest statement

All manuscripts must include a "Conflicts of Interest statement" in line with the 'Author competing interests and conflicts of interest' section above. If no conflicts exist, please state that "The Author(s) declare(s) that there are no conflicts of interest". If the Editorial Board member(s) of JMJ is (are) included as author(s) of the manuscript, please state that "AUTHOR (the name of the member), one of the Editorial Board members of JMJ was not involved in the peer review or decision-making process for this paper.

#### References

References, including those given in tables and figure legends, should be numbered sequentially in the order they appear in the text and listed in numerical order at the end of the manuscript under the heading "References". Including AI-generated material as the primary source in the reference is not allowed. In the text, citations should be indicated as superscript numbers with an end parenthesis character following each citation number. Three or more consecutive citations should be indicated as a range using a hyphen, e.g. "3–5)". Journal titles should be abbreviated as shown in Index Medicus and List of Journals Indexed. When there are six or fewer authors, all should be listed; when there are seven or more, include only the first three and add "et al." Please note the following examples.

Example citation list entries:

Journal article

 You WC, Blot WJ, Li JY, et al: Precancerous gastric lesions in a population at high risk of stomach cancer. Cancer Res, 1993; 53: 1317-1321.

Book

 Matsumoto A, Arai Y: Hypothalamus. In: Matsumoto A, Ishii S, eds. Atlas of Endocrine Organs. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1992: 25–38.

#### Tables

Tables with suitable titles and numbered with Arabic

numerals should be placed at the end of the text on separate sheets (one table per page). They should be understandable without referring to the text. Column headings should be kept as brief as possible, with units for numerical information included in parentheses. Footnotes should be labeled a), b), c), etc. and typed on the same page as the table they refer to.

#### Figures

Figures should also be submitted online as separate files. They should be numbered in order of appearance with Arabic numerals (e. g. Fig. 1, Fig. 2). Author(s) must pay printing costs for color photographs. Electron micrographs should contain a scale. Individual figures may not exceed the size of a Journal page. Graphs or drawings containing typewritten characters are unacceptable. Numbers, letters and symbols must be large enough to be legible after reduction. In principle, figures should be suitable for publication, and jpg digital files preferred. Each figure must have an accompanying legend, which should be understandable without reference to the text. All figure legends are to be double spaced, and should be collected together as text page(s), rather than being attached to their respective figures.

## Cover letter

Summarize briefly the important points of the submitted work including a brief description of the study to be submitted, that it is an original study presenting novel work, that it has not been previously submitted to or accepted by any other journal, that is has been approved by all authors, and explain whether any author has a conflict of interest.

## Accepted Manuscripts

Manuscripts that are accepted for publication are copyedited and typeset by the journal's production team before publication. The journal is published 6 times per year / continuously online. All communication regarding accepted manuscripts is with the corresponding author.

#### Proofs

Page proofs are sent to the corresponding author, who should check and return them within 48 hours. Only essential corrections to typesetting errors or omissions are accepted; excessive changes are not permitted at the proofing stage.

#### Reprints

Order forms for reprints are sent with the proofs to the corresponding author and should be returned with the proofs. The corresponding author will be sent a PDF of the paper on publication.

## Contact

To contact the Editorial Office or the Editor-in- Chief, please write to:

Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office

c/o International Medical Information Center

2F Shinanomachi Rengakan,

35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-0016, JAPAN Phone: +81-3-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

Copyright © The Juntendo Medical Society

## Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Board (Revised February 1, 2024)

Editor-in-Chief:

Isao Nagaoka, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan

Deputy Editor-in-Chief: Toshiaki Iba, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

## **Editorial Board:**

Masanori Aikawa, Harvard Medical School, Boston, U.S. Palanee Ammaranond, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand Michael Andreeff, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, U.S. Robert S. Bresalier, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, U.S. Yuko Fujio, Juntendo University, Shizuoka, Japan Masami Goto, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Julie Helms, Strasbourg University Hospital, Medical Intensive Care Unit - NHC; INSERM, Strasbourg, France Kazuyoshi Kawahara, College of Science and Engineering, Kanto Gakuin University, Kanagawa, Japan Yang Ke, Peking University, Beijing, P.R.China Yasuhiko Kiyama, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Seiki Konishi, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Jerrold H. Levy, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, U.S. Marcel Levi, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands Shuichi Machida, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan Cheryl L. Maier, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, U.S. Akira Matsumoto, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan Takashi Miida, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Toshihiro Mita, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Sachiko Miyake, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Joel Moss, National Institutes of Health, Betheseda, U.S. Yoshihiro Nomura, Tokyo University of Agriculture and Tedhnology, Tokyo, Japan Takumi Ochiai, Misato Care Center, Saitama, Japan Yasue Ohta, School of Nursing, Kitasato University, Kanagawa, Japan Kenneth R. Olivier, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine and Science, Rochester, U.S. Naoko Ono, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Pyong Woo Park, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, U.S. Johannes Reich, Microcoat Biotechnologie GmbH, Germany Shinobu Sakurai, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan Ecaterina Scarlatescu, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucuresti, Romania Liliana Schaefer, Goethe University, Frankfurt am Main, Germany Tsuyoshi Sugiyama, Gifu University of Medical Science, Gifu, Japan Kazuhisa Takahashi, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Hiroshi Tamura, LPS (Laboratory Program Support) Consulting Office, Tokyo, Japan Yoshifumi Tamura, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Takeshi Tanigawa, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Jecko Thachil, Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, U.K. Hidefumi Waki, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan Robert F Whittier, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Tomofumi Yamaguchi, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

## Advisory Board:

Eri Hirasawa, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Kazuo Kaneko, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Hiroyuki Kobayashi, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Ryohei Kuwatsuru, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Akira Murakami, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

### Statistical Specialists:

Shuko Nojiri, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan Naotake Yanagisawa, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

Illustration: Akiko Miyamichi, Japan

編集後記

人生において大切なこと

「人生は敗者復活戦 負けたときこそ人間の価値が出る」 これは、昨年の第 105 回全国高等学校野球選手権記 念大会における慶応高校との決勝戦のあとに仙台育英高校野球部、須江監督が言われた言葉です。須江監督は現 役時代補欠でしたが、その経験をもとに、監督就任後は個々の選手の良い点を見抜き、選手としてだけでなく、 人間としても育て上げました。長い人生において順風満帆の人はほとんどいません。「失敗が人間を成長させる」 これは世界の「ホンダ」の創始者、本田宗一郎の言葉です。この言葉がなぜ心に響くのでしょうか。それは実体 験に基づいた心からの声だからかもしれません。試練が多ければ多いほど人間を成長させてくれます。壁にぶち 当たったことがない人間は、他人の悩みや気持ちが理解できない。天才と言われる超一流選手が必ずしも監督と して成功しないことがあるのはそれが理由ともいわれます。

こつ目は、ミッション、ビジョンを仲間、組織と共有することです。孤独、孤立はミッションの達成を遅らせ ますが、共有、共感、相談は達成を早め、人を成長させます。本田宗一郎は言っています。「自分の力のなさを自 覚し、知恵や力を貸してくれる他人の存在を知るのは良い経験である」。順天堂大学の附属病院では 7.500 人を超 える新型コロナウイルス感染症の入院患者を受け入れてきました。この数は日本の大学病院の中で最多であり、 順天堂の学是、理念に基づくミッションを共有、発信し、使命を果たした成果といえましょう。順天堂人として 誇りに思います。

さらに重要なことは、医学会、医療界において、井の中の蛙にならないことです。順天堂大学や、日本で通用 した常識は世界では通じないことが多々あります。これからの時代に一番求められることは世界水準を理解し、 多様性への理解を推進することと考えます。Juntendo Medical Journal を始めとする医学雑誌は、自分の研究成 果を世界に発信するだけでなく、各自の研究の立ち位置を考察することができ、研究の質を高めることができます。 医学雑誌はこのような重要な使命を担っているといえましょう。これら三つを実践することで各自の人生が豊か になると信じます。 高橋 和久

呼吸器内科主任教授、順天堂医院院長

BOORDEROD

#### イラスト作者より

教室で教えている生徒さんが、モチーフにと持ってきて下さったとうもろこし二つとも、型も色もすごくお もしろいので、墨と色鉛筆でそれぞれ描き分けたらどうなるかなと思い、試してみました。思いのほかユニー クな出来上がりになりました。(宮道明子) 800 e O a

順天堂醫事雑誌の記事については既に明治8年の創刊号から電子化されており、J-STAGE(科学技術情報発信・流通 総合システム)の電子ジャーナル公開システムにおいて閲覧することができます. 順天堂医学会の Web サイトからも ご覧いただけますので、ご活用頂ければ幸いです(https://www.juntendo.ac.jp/journal/).

編集委員長	長	岡		功
副編集委員長	射	場	敏	明

Edi	itoria	l Boa	rd	Joe	l Mos	s	
相	Л	眞	範	野	村	義	宏
Pala	nee A	mmara	nond	落	合		匠
Mic	chael	Andr	eeff	大	田	康	江
Rob	ert S	. Bresa	alier	Ker	neth	R. Oli	vier
藤	尾	祐	子	大	野	直	子
後	藤	政	実	Pyc	ong W	loo P	ark
Juli	e He	elms		Joh	annes	s Rei	ch
Л	原		芳	櫻	井し	、の	ぶ
柯			楊	Ecat	erina S	Scarlate	escu
城	山	泰	彦	Lili	ana S	chae	fer
小	西	清	貴	杉	山	剛	志
Jer	rold	H. Le	vy	髙	橋	和	久
Ma	rcel	Levi		田	村	弘	志
町	田	修		田	村	好	史
Che	eryl	L. Ma	ier	谷	Л		武
松	本		顕	Jec	ko Tl	nachi	1
Ξ	井	田	孝	和	氣	秀	文
美	田	敏	宏	Rob	oert F	Whit	tier
$\exists$	字	幸	子	III	П	知	中

Ξ

宏 匠 江 ivier 子 Park	Adv 平金小桑村	/isory 澤子林鶴上	<b>Boa</b> 恵和弘良	nd 理夫幸平晶
ich	Stati	istical	Specia	alists
) ぶ	野	尻	宗	子
tescu	柳	澤	尚	武
志久志史武	Illus	stratio	on	子
il 文	宮	道	明	

史

<b>順天堂醫事維誌</b> JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL 第70卷 第1号 (通刊948) <sup>令和6年 (2024年) 2月29日発行</sup> 明治8年 (1875年) 創刊
発行人順天堂医学会       発行責任者長岡功       〒113-8421東京都文京区本郷2-1-1順天堂大学内順天堂医学会事務局:電話03-5802-1586       E-mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp
編集・印刷 株式会社 広稜社 〒113-0034 東京都文京区湯島2-31-25-4F 電話 03-3868-3352 E-mail: jmj@koryo-co.com
順天室醫事雜誌編集室 (一財)国際医学情報センター内 電話 03-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp © The Juntendo Medical Society 2024 Tokyo Japan

抄 録

CC

順天堂醫事雑誌 2024.70(1),98

# 身体的フレイルや入院関連能力低下を予防するための 自宅でできるリハビリテーションプログラム

高橋哲也<sup>1,2)</sup>,森沢知之<sup>1,2)</sup>,齊藤正和<sup>1,2)</sup>,岩津弘太郎<sup>1)</sup>,藤原俊之<sup>1-3)</sup>,代田浩之<sup>4)</sup>

1)順天堂大学保健医療学部理学療法学科
2)順天堂大学大学院保健医療学研究科理学療法学専攻
3)順天堂大学院医学系研究科リハビリテーション医学
4)順天堂大学大学院保健医療学研究科

本稿は2023年6月17日に開催された第51回都民公開講座の内容をまとめたものである。身体 的フレイルを予防し、入院関連能力低下(Hospitalization-Associated Disability)を克服するために、 自宅で実施可能な運動ベースのリハビリテーションプログラムについてまとめている。

健康を維持し,介護の必要性を回避するためには,日々の健康管理と運動が重要である.しかし, 定期的な運動を続けることは容易ではない.そのため,運動は効率的に行う必要がある.

近年注目されているフレイルは ADL に影響を及ぼすだけでなく,動脈硬化性疾患の発症や再入 院など予後にも強く影響する.また,高齢患者はわずかな安静でも身体機能が著しく低下し,退院 後の日常生活に支障をきたすことが少なくない.近年,入院前の運動機能に戻れないことを入院関 連能力低下(Hospitalization-Associated Disability)と定義された.より短い入院期間で効率よく回 復するためには,最適な運動プログラムを検討する必要がある.

この展望論文では、身体的フレイルを予防することの重要性と、フレイル高齢患者の入院関連能 力低下を最小限に抑えるために実施できる具体的なアプローチ、特にレジスタンストレーニングと 有酸素運動の運動ベースのリハビリテーションプログラムについて、また遠隔リハビリテーション の現状について述べた.

**キーワード**: 身体的フレイル, 自宅でできる運動, 入院関連能力低下, 遠隔リハビリテーション, 都民公開講座

この抄録は、順天堂醫事雑誌 70 巻1号, p2-8, 2024 掲載の『Home Based Exercise Rehabilitation Programs to Prevent Physical Frailty and Hospitalization-Associated Disability』の和文抄録です.

2024.70(1),99

**(i)** (cc)

## 認知症予防のために知っておきたい栄養・運動・認知リハビリテーション

## 高 倉 朋 和1,2)

<sup>1)</sup>順天堂大学大学院医学研究科リハビリテーション医学 <sup>2)</sup>順天堂東京江東高齢者医療センターリハビリテーション科

認知症は、21世紀の医療と社会的ケアにおける最も重大な世界的課題のひとつである.患者本 人のみならず、その家族、介護者、社会全般に大きく影響を及ぼし、身体的、心理的、社会経済的 な影響を引き起こす.日本の65歳以上の認知症患者数は2020年の時点で約600万人とされ、さら に2025年には約700万人に増加すると予測されており、高齢者の5人に1人は認知症という時代 が目前に迫っている.認知症発症・進行を予防するためには、リスクを正しく理解し、健康的なラ イフスタイルを送ることが重要である.Livingstonは認知症発症につながる12の修正可能なリス クとして、運動不足、喫煙、過度の飲酒、大気汚染、頭部外傷、社会的孤立、乏しい教育歴、肥満、 高血圧、糖尿病、うつ病、難聴を挙げている.これらのリスクを減らすには、ライフスタイルを見 直し、個人の人生のなるべく早い段階から活動的で健康的な生活を送ることが重要である.地中海 食は、その多様性、オメガ3脂肪酸やビタミンの豊富さ等から、認知症予防のための食習慣として 注目されている.運動は生物学的、行動学的、社会心理学的レベルで認知症を予防することが推測 されている.非侵襲的脳刺激法(NIBS)である反復経頭蓋磁気刺激(rTMS)は、認知症進行予防 のための認知機能リハビリテーションの手段として期待され、臨床応用に向けた研究が国内外で行 われている.本稿では、認知症予防に関する栄養、運動、認知リハビリテーションについて概説す る.

キーワード: 認知症, 栄養, 運動, 認知リハビリテーション, 反復経頭蓋磁気刺激

この抄録は、順天堂醫事雑誌 70巻1号, p9-22, 2024 掲載の『Nutrition, Exercise, and Cognitive Rehabilitation for Dementia Prevention』の和文抄録です.

抄 録

順天堂醫事雑誌 2024.70(1),100



# 敗血症におけるグリコカリクス保護に注目した治療戦略

JERROLD H. LEVY<sup>1)</sup>, 射場敏明<sup>2)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Department of Anesthesiology, Critical Care, and Surgery, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, USA <sup>2)</sup>順天堂大学救急・災害医学

グリコカリクスは血管内皮細胞の表面を覆っている層であり、プロテオグリカン、グリコサミノ グリカン、及びそれらに含まれる血漿蛋白質などによって構成されている.この複雑な構造物は血 管内腔の抗血栓性、血管透過性、血管トーヌス、白血球や血小板の接着などの調節において重要な 役割を担っていることが知られている.しかしながら極めて脆弱な構造物であるため、敗血症にお いては容易に障害され、敗血症や敗血症性ショックに対する治療によって、さらに破壊が進行して いく.したがって敗血症においてはグリコカリクス障害を意識した治療を実施することが重要であ る.

キーワード: グリコカリクス, 血管内皮細胞, 敗血症, ショック, 抗凝固療法, シンデカン

この抄録は、順天堂醫事雑誌 70 巻1 号、p23-25、2024 掲載の『Endothelial Glycocalyx Protection in Sepsis』の和文抄録です.

抄 録

順天堂醫事雑誌 2024.70(1),101



## 敗血症性播種性血管内凝固における臓器障害の発生機序

MARCEL LEVI<sup>1, 2)</sup>, 射場敏明<sup>3)</sup>

<sup>1)</sup>Department of Vascular Medicine, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands <sup>2)</sup>Department of Medicine, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and Cardio-Metabolic Programme-NIHR UCLH/UCL BRC London, London, UK <sup>3)</sup>順天堂大学救急・災害医学

敗血症においてはしばしば播種性血管内凝固 (DIC) や多臓器障害の合併がみられる.この際, DIC は単なる敗血症の合併症ではなく、多臓器障害の原因にもなっていることを知っておく必要 がある.DIC において生じる微小血管内の血栓は組織循環を障害し、多臓器不全を招くことになる. 活性化好中球と血小板とのインターアクション、血管内皮細胞障害、凝固線溶のアンバランスが敗 血症性 DIC の際の thromboinflammation の本態である.前述の現象は敗血症性急性腎障害におい て顕著にみられ、急性腎障害の合併は敗血症の転帰に強く関連していることが知られている.敗血 症の管理においては、このような臓器障害の発生機序を理解しておくことが重要である.

キーワード: 敗血症, 播種性血管内凝固, 急性腎障害, 血栓症

この抄録は、順天堂醫事雑誌 70 巻1 号, p26-28, 2024 掲載の『Organ Dysfunction in Sepsis-associated Intravascular Coagulation』の和 文抄録です. 順天堂医学会 会員の皆様

順天堂医学会 会長 服部 信孝

## 順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金給付制度

順天堂医学会では短期海外留学時助成金給付制度を開始いたしました。

1. 要件

下記すべての要件を満たす者

- (1) 順天堂大学(大学院を含む)の学生で1か月以上12か月未満の海外留学をする者
- (2) 留学先の研究機関または財団などからの援助がない者
- (3) 医学会の正会員として1年以上の経歴を有し、医学会費を完納している者
- 2. 申請書類
  - (1) 順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金申込書
  - (2) 所属長の推薦書
  - (3) 申請者の主な研究テーマ・研究業績
  - (4) 留学受け入れ機関の指導者からの推薦状
- 3. 助成金の給付金額

留学期間	助成金額
1か月以上4か月未満	10万円
4か月以上7か月未満	20万円
7 か月以上 12 か月未満	30万円

4. 申請スケジュール (年2回)

申請期限	助成決定時期
6月末	8月
12月末	2 月

- 5. 選考機関:順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金選考委員会
- 6. 助成後の義務
  - (1) 帰国後直近の順天堂医学会学術集会において研究成果の発表および、その内容を「順天 堂醫事雑誌」に報告する。
  - (2) 帰国後は、順天堂大学またはその関連機関に原則として3年以上勤務する。
- 7. 本件の照会先

HP:https://www.juntendo.ac.jp/journal/membership/benefit\_plan.html 順天堂医学会事務局(順天堂大学総務部総務課内)

TEL: 03-5802-1586 E-Mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp



# The Juntendo Medical Society

2-1-1 Hongo Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, 113-8421 JAPAN Tel:+81-3-5802-1586 E-mail:j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp